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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL RESULTS 

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is a review of the operational and financial 

results and outlook for Tamarack Valley Energy Ltd. (“Tamarack” or the “Company”) for the three months and 

years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. This MD&A is dated and based on information available as at 

March 3, 2022 and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements (“financial 

statements”) and the notes thereto for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. Additional information 

relating to Tamarack, including Tamarack’s Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2021, 

is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and Tamarack’s website at www.tamarackvalley.ca.   

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The Company uses certain Non-

IFRS Financial Measures, Non-IFRS Financial Ratios and Capital Management Measures in this MD&A. For 

a discussion of those measures, including the method of calculation, please refer to the section titled “Non-

IFRS Financial Measures, Non-IFRS Financial Ratios and Capital Management Measures” beginning on page 

24. Unless otherwise indicated, all references to dollar amounts are in Canadian currency.  

2021 – A Year of Strategic Transformation 

2021 was a transformational year for the Company as we advanced our strategy of driving long term 

sustainable and resilient free funds flow (see “Capital Management Measures”) growth through the 

repositioning and further consolidation of the Company into the Charlie Lake and Clearwater oil plays, 

complementing our highly economic waterflood assets. 

Tamarack closed three separate transactions to acquire assets in the Clearwater oil play in 2021. These 

acquisitions enhanced our operated position in the play, which began with a series of transactions in the fourth 

quarter of 2020. In addition, Tamarack announced the acquisition of Crestwynd Exploration during the fourth 

quarter of 2021, which closed in the first quarter of 2022, further consolidating the Company’s position in the 

Southern Clearwater fairway. In total Tamarack’s Clearwater land position, pro-forma the Crestwynd 

acquisition will be greater than 445 net sections in Nipisi, West Marten Hills and Southern Clearwater. 

Tamarack also successfully gained entrance into the Charlie Lake light oil play through the acquisition of 

Anegada Oil Corp. which closed on June 1st, establishing a significant footprint and strategic infrastructure 

ownership. The Company continued to augment and consolidate its position in the play throughout 2021 and 

holds approximately 325 net sections further enhancing our portfolio of resilient free funds flow generating 

assets. 

Together these transformative acquisitions, combined with the successful execution of the Company’s capital 

expenditure program have resulted in corporate production growth of 83% on a year over year basis. This 

growth, combined with the sustainable and resilient free funds flow platform has allowed the Company to 

transition to a return of capital model through both a base dividend and enhanced return framework in 2022. 
  

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.tamarackvalley.ca/


 

Page | 2   

Q4 2021 Operational and Financial Highlights 

• Achieved quarterly production volumes of 40,384 boe/d in Q4/21, representing an 83% increase 

compared to the same period in 2020.  

• Generated adjusted funds flow of $124.1 million in Q4/21 ($0.31 per share basic and $0.30 per share 

diluted) compared to $28.9 million in the same period in 2020 ($0.13 per share basic and diluted). 

• Generated free funds flow (see “Capital Management Measures”), excluding acquisition expenditures, 

of $82.4 million and net income of $140.4 million during the quarter. 

• Invested $41.7 million in exploration and development (“E&D”) capital expenditures, excluding 

acquisition expenditures, during Q4/21.This contributed to the drilling of six (6.0 net) Viking oil wells, 

eleven (8.5 net) Clearwater oil wells, four (4.0 net) Charlie Lake oil wells and two (2.0 net) water source 

wells.  

• Exited the year with $463.3 million of net debt (see “Capital Management Measures”) and net debt to 

Q4/21 annualized adjusted funds flow (see “Capital Management Measures”) of 0.9x. 

• Successfully executed on further tuck-in acquisitions in the Charlie Lake light oil and Eyehill waterflood 

plays for approximately $17.1 million during the quarter. These acquisitions further our strategy of both 

adding to and enhancing the resiliency of our drilling inventory and free funds flow profile. 

2021 Operational and Financial Highlights 

• Achieved yearly production volumes of 34,562 boe/d in 2021, representing a 57% increase compared 

to the same period in 2020. 

• Generated adjusted funds flow of $340.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 ($0.96 per 

share basic and $0.94 per share diluted) compared to $122.7 million in the same period in 2020 ($0.55 

per share basic and diluted). 

• Generated free funds flow, excluding acquisition expenditures, of $149.1 million and net income of 

$390.5 million for the year.  

• Invested $191.2 million in exploration and development (“E&D”) capital expenditures, excluding 

acquisition expenditures, during the full year 2021. This contributed to the drilling of forty (40.0 net) 

Viking oil wells, forty-three (40.0 net) Clearwater oil wells, thirteen (13.0 net) Charlie Lake oil wells, 

two (0.8 net) Falher gas wells and eight (8.0 net) water source wells.  

2021 Acquisitions Summary 

For the year ended December 31, 2021 Tamarack completed a number of acquisitions primarily to consolidate 

and enhance the Company’s operated position in the Clearwater oil play and to gain entrance into the Charlie 

Lake oil play.  
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The following table summarizes the Company’s acquisitions for the year ended December 31, 2021: 

 

      Consideration 
CGU Area  Acquisition date Cash Shares 

Viking oil, Clearwater oil Northern Clearwater, Eyehill March 25, 2021 $102,610 $          – 

Clearwater oil Northern Clearwater March 25, 2021 34,358 10,218 

Charlie Lake oil Charlie Lake June 1, 2021 258,201 280,209 

Clearwater oil Southern Clearwater August 31, 2021 35,727              – 

Various Other minor Various 25,360              – 

December 31, 2021     $456,256 $290,427 
          

Further discussion related to the Company’s acquisitions and dispositions is included in the Acquisitions and 

Dispositions section of this MD&A on page 17. 

Climate change, Sustainability and COVID-19 Impacts on 2021 

Tamarack continues to consider the impacts of climate change and the COVID-19 pandemic and the financial 

and operational challenges these two global events have had in 2021 and will continue to impact the Company 

during the years ahead. 

Climate Change 

The Company has considered and continues to consider the impact of the evolving worldwide demand for 

carbon-based energy and global advancement of alternative energy sources. 

Emissions, carbon and other regulations impacting climate and climate related matters, are constantly 

evolving.  With respect to environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) and climate reporting, the 

International Sustainability Standards Board (“ISSB”) was created on November 3, 2021 with the aim to 

develop globally consistent, comparable and reliable sustainability disclosure standards.  As at December 31, 

2021, the ISSB has not issued any new sustainability disclosure standards or exposure drafts.   In addition, 

the Canadian Securities Administrators have issued a proposed National Instrument (“NI 51-107”) Disclosure 

of Climate-related Matters. The cost to comply with these standards, and others, that may be developed or 

evolved over time, is not quantifiable at this time. Significant estimates and judgments have been made by 

management in the preparation of the financial statements in areas of property, plant and equipment, depletion, 

impairment and impairment reversal, reserves estimates, decommissioning obligations, credit facilities and 

share capital.   

Sustainability 

Tamarack continues to be committed to advancing our ESG practices as outlined in our second annual 

Sustainability Report released on December 2, 2021. This report provides details on the Company’s approach 

to sustainability, including our commitment to greenhouse gas emissions management and to continued 

Indigenous and community partnerships in the areas where Tamarack operates. In addition, the report 

highlights specific, measurable goals and targets related to key focus areas set by the Company.  
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Based on the Company’s commitment and approach to Sustainability, the Company has amended its existing 

revolving bank facility to a Sustainability Linked Lending Facility (“SLL Facility’) that incorporates sustainability-

linked interest rate terms, see Bank Debt on page 22. Subsequent to year end, the Company issued $200.0 

million of senior unsecured sustainability-linked notes (the “Notes”) due May 10, 2027 that also incorporate 

sustainability-linked interest rate terms (see Note 24 Subsequent Events in the Company’s financial 

statements). 

COVID-19 

Tamarack continues to proactively respond to the safety and financial challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Management notes that forecasting the timing of a full and sustainable economic recovery is challenging with 

the outlook on crude oil demand significantly dependent on the status of COVID-19 virus variants, vaccine 

effectiveness, global vaccine rollouts, changes in social and travel restrictions, and the impact of all of these 

factors on global economic activity.  The recovery in oil demand as a result of the easing of COVID-19 

restrictions, combined with a prudent supply policy implemented by the OPEC+ alliance, has resulted in crude 

oil prices recovering to pre-pandemic levels.  However, the crude oil market remains subject to high levels of 

uncertainty given the emergence of the Omicron variant of the COVID-19 virus, which could result in renewed 

social and travel restrictions.  Changes in global crude oil demand, supply, and inventories could all be 

impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic in the near term and crude oil markets may continue to be subject to 

significant volatility in 2022.  Management continues to monitor commodity prices, currency exchange rates 

and overall industry activity levels and incorporates these factors into the Company’s capital expenditure plans. 

Tamarack remains committed to ensuring the health and safety of our skilled and valued employees, as well 

as the public in the communities in which we operate, going above and beyond both Provincial and Federal 

government protocols. 

Production 

Year-over-Year             

  Three months ended Year ended 

  December 31, December 31, 
      %      % 

  2021 2020    change 2021 2020    change 

Production         

   Light oil (bbls/d) 18,487 10,353 79 15,670 11,155 40 

   Heavy oil (bbls/d) 5,616 319 1,661 4,613 204 2,161 

   Natural gas liquids (bbls/d) 3,899 2,421 61 3,408 1,930 77 

   Natural gas (mcf/d) 74,291 53,738 38 65,226 52,426 24 

Total (boe/d) 40,384 22,049 83 34,562 22,027 57 

Percentage of oil and NGL 69% 59% 17 69% 60% 15 
              

Average production for Q4/21 and the year ended December 31, 2021 increased 83% and 57%, respectively, 

compared to the same periods in 2020 due to the acquisitions that closed throughout 2021 and the 2021 

development programs, partially offset by expected declines of existing base production. The Company’s oil 

and NGL weighting for Q4/21 and the year ended December 31, 2021 is 17% and 15% higher, respectively, 

as compared to the same periods in 2020.  
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Petroleum and Natural Gas Sales 

Year-over-Year             

  Three months ended Year ended 

  December 31, December 31, 
    %    % 

  2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 

Revenue ($ thousands)         

     Light oil $150,724 $45,367 232 $449,888 $169,261 166 

     Heavy oil 37,039 1,264 2,830 108,690 2,857 3,704 

     Natural gas liquids 19,760 5,434 264 51,958 14,767 252 

     Natural gas 34,765 12,173 186 88,036 34,011 159 

Total $242,288 $64,238 277 $698,572 $220,896 216 
         

Average realized price:         

     Light oil ($/bbl) 88.59 47.63 86 78.64 41.46 90 

     Heavy oil ($/bbl) 71.69 43.12 66 64.56 38.36 68 

     Natural gas liquids ($/bbl) 55.09 24.40 126 41.77 20.90 100 

     Combined average oil and NGL ($/boe) 80.55 43.22 86 70.60 38.42 84 

     Natural gas ($/mcf) 5.09 2.46 107 3.70 1.77 109 

Revenue ($/boe) 65.21 31.67 106 55.38 27.40 102 
         

Benchmark pricing:         

     West Texas Intermediate (US$/bbl) 77.17 42.67 81 67.93 39.40 72 

     Edm Par Differential (US$/bbl) 3.11 4.07 (24) 3.88 5.33 (27) 

     WCS differential (US$/bbl) 14.65 9.30 58 13.04 12.57 4 

     Edmonton Par (Cdn$/bbl) 93.26 50.25 86 80.25 45.32 77 

     Hardisty Heavy (Cdn$/bbl) 78.68 43.42 81 68.75 35.61 93 

     NYMEX monthly settlement (US$/mmbtu) 5.83 2.66 119 3.79 2.08 82 

     AECO daily index (Cdn$/mcf) 4.04 2.55 58 3.46 2.20 57 

     AECO monthly index (Cdn$/mcf) 4.22 2.45 72 3.12 2.13 46 
              

 

Revenue per boe from oil, natural gas and NGL sales for Q4/21 and the year ended December 31, 2021 

increased by 106% and 102%, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2020. These increases were 

due to improved and stabilized commodity prices realized in 2021 compared to the depressed prices realized 

in 2020 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, for the comparative periods.   

The WTI benchmark price for Q4/21 and the year ended December 31, 2021 averaged US$77.17/bbl, and 

US$67.93/bbl, increases of  81% and 72%, respectively, over the WTI benchmark for the same periods in 

2020 of US$42.67/bbl, and US$39.40/bbl.  

In Q4/21 and for the year ended December 31, 2021, WTI pricing improved on average due to increased global 

demand resulting from the easing of COVID-19 social and travel restrictions, combined with a prudent supply 

policy implemented by the OPEC+ alliance.  
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The Edmonton Par light oil differential for Q4/21 narrowed to an average of US$3.11/bbl and the WCS heavy 

oil differential widened to an average of US$14.65/bbl. The US$11.54/bbl spread between Edmonton Par light 

oil and WCS in Q4/21 is reflective of more normalized pricing versus the US$5.23/bbl spread in the same 

quarter in 2020. Fluctuating diluent costs continue to shape the heavy oil market in Alberta. Repricing from 

both Enbridge apportionment and Trans Mountain’s Force Majeure took place in Q4/21 causing a wider spread 

between benchmark pricing and realized wellhead differentials. Combined, these factors contributed to a 

realized light oil wellhead price for Q4/21 of $88.59/bbl versus $47.63/bbl in the same period in 2020 and a 

realized heavy oil wellhead price of $71.69/bbl in Q4/21 compared to $43.12/bbl in Q4/20. 

The Edmonton Par light oil differential for the year ended December 31, 2021 averaged US$3.88/bbl and the 

WCS heavy oil differential averaged US$13.04/bbl. Light oil wellhead price for the year ended December 31, 

2021 was $78.64/bbl versus $41.46/bbl in the same period of 2020 and a realized heavy oil wellhead price of 

$64.56/bbl compared to  $38.36/bbl over the same period in 2020.  

Tamarack will continue to prudently manage commodity price risk through hedging in order to effectively 

manage cash flow risk, while ensuring sufficient opportunity to capture near term commodity pricing upside.    

Realized NGL prices increased 126% to $55.09/bbl in Q4/21 from $24.40/bbl in Q4/20. Similarly, realized NGL 

prices for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased 100% to $41.77/bbl from $20.90/bbl in the same 

period of 2020. These increases are due largely to the improved WTI price over the comparative periods, 

which is the basis for condensate and butane pricing.  

Tamarack’s realized natural gas price increased 107% to $5.09/mcf in Q4/21 from $2.46/mcf in Q4/20. The 

AECO daily benchmark price increased 58% to $4.04/mcf in Q4/21 from $2.55/mcf in Q4/20 while the NYMEX 

monthly settlement price increased 119% to US$5.83/mmbtu in Q4/21 from US$2.66/mmbtu in Q4/20.  

The Company’s realized natural gas price increased 109% to $3.70/mcf in the year ended December 31, 2021 

from $1.77/mcf in the same period of 2020. The AECO daily benchmark price increased 57% to $3.46/mcf in 

the year ended December 31, 2021 from $2.20/mcf for the same period in 2020 while the NYMEX monthly 

settlement price increased 82% to US$3.79/mmbtu from US$2.08/mmbtu in the respective year then ended.   

The increases in benchmark prices for Q4/21 and the year-ended December 31, 2021, compared to the same 

periods in 2020, were primarily due to increasing worldwide demand, decreasing inventories and lower supply 

as a result of decreased drilling activity in 2020.  

The increases in Tamarack’s realized price deviates from the index increases due to the Company’s 

diversification strategy that balances pricing exposure over multiple markets. In addition, Tamarack continues 

to manage commodity price risk through financial and physical hedges.   
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The Company may use both financial derivatives and physical delivery contracts to manage fluctuations in 

commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and interest rates. All such transactions are conducted within risk 

management tolerances that are reviewed quarterly by Tamarack’s Board of Directors. At December 31, 2021, 

the Company held derivative commodity, foreign exchange and interest rate contracts as noted in the following 

tables:  

            

    Q1 2022 Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4 2022 

West Texas Intermediate Crude Oil Derivatives     

WTI two-way collar Volume (bbls/d)  1,250 4,250 9,250 3,500 

Average Bought Put (US$/bbl)  $52.60  $54.76  $58.57  $58.50  

Average Sold Call (US$/bbl)  $87.17  $90.46  $93.51  $92.13  

Average Premium (US$/bbl)  $2.00  $2.01  $2.00  $2.00  

WTI three-way reverse collar Volume (bbls/d)  1,250 2,500 1,250 750 

Average Bought Put (US$/bbl)  $55.00  $54.40  $55.00  $55.00  

Average Sold Call (US$/bbl)  $70.00  $70.00  $70.00  $70.00  

Average Bought Call (US$/bbl)  $73.29  $72.99  $73.37  $73.98  

Average Premium (US$/bbl)  $2.00  $2.00  $2.00  $2.00  

WTI Put Volume (bbls/d)  19,750 7,750 750 750 

Average Bought Put (US$/bbl)  $68.76  $52.71  $53.10  $53.10  

Average Premium (US$/bbl)  $3.97  $2.70  $3.10  $3.10  

Crude Oil Differential Derivatives   
   

Edmonton Par to WTI fixed price 
differential swap 

Volume (bbls/d)  7,000 8,500 500 500 

Average Price (US$/bbl)  ($3.86) ($3.82) ($4.00) ($4.00) 

WCS to WTI fixed price differential 
swap 

Volume (bbls/d)  3,000 4,000 500 500 

Average Price (US$/bbl)  ($12.58) ($11.79) ($12.00) ($12.00) 

            

 

        

    Winter 21-22 Summer 22 

Natural Gas Derivatives   

AECO 5A  Volume (GJ/d)  25,000 30,000 

Average Price (CAD/GJ)  $3.14  $2.44  
        

 

            

    Q1 2022 Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4 2022 

CAD/USD Foreign Exchange Derivatives     

CAD/USD average rate forward  Amount ($US/month)  $7,000,000  $6,500,000   –  – 

Average Forward Rate (CAD/USD)  1.2415 1.2440  –  – 

CAD/USD target average rate 
forward(1) 

Amount ($US/month)  $1,500,000  $1,500,000  $500,000  $500,000  

Average Forward Rate (CAD/USD)  1.2433 1.2433 1.2640 1.2640 

CAD/USD forward accumulator(2) Amount ($US/month)  $833,333  $833,333   –  – 

Average Forward Rate (CAD/USD)  1.2500 1.2500  –  – 
            

(1) Comprised of three $500,000 tranches in Q1 and Q2 2022 and one $500,000 in Q3 and Q4 2021, with a maximum benefit to 
Tamarack over the term for each tranche of 0.03 value points; once maximum value is reached, the instrument immediately 
terminates.  

(2) Accumulates for the monthly period at a rate of 1.25 based on the rate during the setting period six months prior.     
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    2022 2023 2024 

Interest Rate Derivatives      

CDOR Interest Rate Fixed Price Swap Amount ($MM CAD/year)  $80.0  $49.1  $6.4  

Fixed Interest Rate 1.533% 1.225% 1.043% 

          

At December 31, 2021, the derivative commodity, foreign exchange and interest rate contracts were fair valued 

with a net liability value of $13.1 million (December 31, 2020 - $10.2 million net liability) recorded on the 

balance sheet. The Company recorded an unrealized gain of $39.7 million and $6.7 million in earnings for the 

three months and year ended December 31, 2021, respectively, compared to an unrealized loss of $10.0 

million and $6.1 million during the same periods in 2020. The Company manages risk for these contracts by 

engaging with a variety of counterparties, all of which are credit grade banking institutions or large purchasers 

of commodities in the normal course of business. All counterparties have been assessed for credit worthiness.  

Subsequent to December 31, 2021, the Company has entered into the following financial contracts (excluding 

contracts acquired in the acquisition of Crestwynd):  

            

    Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4 2022 Q1 2023 

West Texas Intermediate Crude Oil Derivatives     

WTI two-way collar Volume (bbls/d)   – 2,500 8,500 3,500 

Average Bought Put (US$/bbl)  – $60.00  $57.06 $55.71 

Average Sold Call (US$/bbl)  – $101.24 $111.96 $116.74 

Average Premium (US$/bbl)  – $1.75 $1.93 $2.00 

WTI Put Volume (bbls/d)  1,250 4,000 3,500 1,000 

Average Bought Put (US$/bbl)  $57.98 $56.25 $57.14 $60.00 

Average Premium (US$/bbl)  $0.75 $2.98 $3.20 $3.27 

Edmonton Par to WTI fixed 
price differential swap 

Volume (bbls/d)  2,000 7,500 7,500  – 

Average Price (US$/bbl)  ($3.00) ($3.57) ($3.57) – 

WCS to WTI fixed price 
differential swap 

Volume (bbls/d)  1,000 7,000 5,000  – 

Average Price (US$/bbl)  ($11.95) ($12.00) ($12.10) – 
      

 

      

    Winter 22-23 

Natural Gas Derivatives  

AECO 5A  Volume (GJ/d)  10,000 

Average Price (CAD/GJ)  $3.85  

AECO 7A two-way collar Volume (GJ/d)  15,000 
 

Average Bought Put (CAD/GJ)  $3.37  
 

Average Sold Call (CAD/GJ)  $5.17  
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Subsequent to December 31, 2021, the Company entered into agreements to reprice certain agreements, 

raising the value of the bought puts and increasing the associated premiums. The values at December 31, 

2021 and the new values after repricing are summarized in the table below.:  

    
As at Dec 31, 

2021 
Subsequent to 

Year End 

    Q2 2022 Q2 2022 

West Texas Intermediate Crude Oil Derivatives   

WTI two-way collar Volume (bbls/d)  500 500 

Average Bought Put (US$/bbl)  $60.00  $65.00  

Average Sold Call (US$/bbl)  $95.50  $95.50  

Average Premium (US$/bbl)  $2.00  $2.98  

WTI Put Volume (bbls/d)  6,500 6,500 

Average Bought Put (US$/bbl)  $52.49  $65.00  

Average Premium (US$/bbl)  $3.03  $4.20  
        

All physical commodity contracts are considered executory contracts and are not recorded at fair value on the 

balance sheet. On settlement, the realized benefit or loss is recognized in oil and natural gas revenue.  

At December 31, 2021, the Company held the following physical commodity contracts: 

      

    Winter 21-22 

Natural Gas Physical  

AECO 5A  Volume (GJ/d)  15,000 

Average Price (CAD/GJ)  $3.00  
   

 Subsequent to December 31, 2021, the Company has not entered into any physical commodity contracts. 

Royalties 

Year-over-Year             

  
Three months ended Year ended 

December 31, December 31, 
    %    % 

  2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 

Royalty expenses ($ thousands) $35,283 $6,713 426 $102,132 $24,540 316 

$/boe 9.50 3.31 187 8.10 3.04 166 

Percent of sales (%) 15 10 50 15 11 36 
              

Royalties as a percentage of revenue for both the three months and the year ended December 31, 2021 were 

higher than the same periods in 2020, due to the sliding scale nature of some oil royalties which increases the 

percentage during periods of high oil prices and the addition of the GORR in conjunction with the acquisitions 

that closed in 2021. The Company expects royalty rates as a percentage of revenue to increase to the 18% to 

20% range for 2022 based on current forecast commodity pricing levels and increased production from lands 

subjected to GORRs.  

On an absolute basis, royalty expense was higher in Q4/21 and the year ended December 31, 2021, compared 

to same periods in 2020 due to an increase in commodity prices, production and GORRs. 
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Net Production Expenses 

Year-over-Year             

  
Three months ended Year ended 

December 31, December 31, 
    %    % 

($ thousands, except per boe) 2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 

Production expenses $34,920 $22,598 55 $117,957 $78,893 50 

Less: processing income 896 635 41 2,479 1,177 111 

Total net production expenses (1) $34,024 $21,963 55 $115,478 $77,716 49 

Total ($/boe) (2) $9.16 $10.83 (15) $9.15 $9.64 (5) 
              

(1) Non-IFRS Financial Measure; See “Non-IFRS Financial Measures, Non-IFRS Financial Ratios and Capital Management 
Measures” Section of this MD&A. 

(2) Non-IFRS Financial Ratio; See “Non-IFRS Financial Measures, Non-IFRS Financial Ratios and Capital Management Measures” 
Section of this MD&A. 

For the three months and year ended December 31, 2021, per unit net production expenses (see “Non-IFRS 

Financial Ratios”) were lower compared to the same periods in 2020. This resulted from the acquisitions that 

closed during 2021 having lower per unit net production expenses compared to the corporate average before 

the acquisitions  

For the three months and year ended December 31, 2021 on an absolute basis gross and net production 

expenses were higher compared to the same periods in 2020 due to higher production, partially offset by lower 

per unit net production expenses. 

Transportation Expense 

Year-over-Year             

  
Three months ended Year ended 

December 31, December 31, 
    %    % 

($ thousands, except per boe) 2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 

Transportation expense - gas $2,776 $1,132 145 $8,574 $4,546 89 

Transportation expense - oil 3,451 664 420 11,883 3,076 286 

Total transportation expense $6,227 $1,796 247 $20,457 $7,622 168 

Total ($/boe) $1.68 $0.88 91 $1.62 $0.95 71 
              

For the three months and year ended December 31, 2021, per unit transportation expenses were higher 

compared to the same periods in 2020. This increase was primarily the result of the acquisitions that closed in 

2021 requiring oil to be trucked to sales points driven by the strongest operating netback (see “Non-IFRS 

Financial Measures”), which may result in higher transportation expenses.  

For the three months and year ended December 31, 2021, total net transportation expenses were higher 

compared to the same periods in 2020 due to higher production, a larger proportion of volumes that require 

clean oil trucking and higher incremental firm transportation in the Company’s Charlie Lake and Viking 

operating areas. 
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Operating Netback 

Year-over-Year             

  
Three months ended Year ended 

December 31, December 31, 
    %    % 

($/boe) 2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 

Average realized sales  $65.21 $31.67 106 $55.38 $27.40 102 

Royalty expenses (9.50) (3.31) 187 (8.10) (3.04) 166 

Net production expenses (1) (9.16) (10.83) (15) (9.15) (9.64) (5) 

Transportation expense (1.68) (0.88) 91 (1.62) (0.95) 71 

Operating field netback (1) 44.87 16.65 169 36.51 13.77 165 

Realized hedging gain (loss) (8.25) 0.52 (1,687) (6.40) 4.09 (256) 

Operating netback (1) $36.62 $17.17 113 $30.11 $17.86 69 
              

(1)  Non-IFRS Financial Ratio; See “Non-IFRS Financial Measures, Non-IFRS Financial Ratios and Capital Management 
Measures” Section of this MD&A. 

For the three months and year ended December 31, 2021, operating netbacks per boe (see “Non-IFRS 

Ratios”) were higher than the same periods in 2020 primarily due to the higher commodity prices realized in 

2021, partially offset by higher transportation expense, higher royalties and the realized hedging losses in 

2021. 

General and Administrative (“G&A”) Expenses 

Year-over-Year             

  
Three months ended Year ended 

December 31, December 31, 
    %    % 

($ thousands, except per boe) 2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 

Gross costs $6,922 $4,183 65 $23,910 $15,032 59 

Capitalized costs and recoveries (1,903) (1,067) 78 (5,871) (3,950) 49 

General and administrative costs $5,019 $3,116 61 $18,039 $11,082 63 

Total ($/boe) $1.35 $1.54 (12) $1.43 $1.37 4 
              

Net G&A costs on a per boe basis for the three months ended December 31, 2021 were lower compared to 

the same period in 2020, due to higher overall production levels, partially offset by increased staffing levels 

related to the acquisitions that closed in 2021. 

Net G&A costs on a per boe basis for the year ended December 31, 2021 were higher compared to the same 

period in 2020, due to increased staffing levels related to the acquisitions that closed in 2021 and the Company 

receiving the Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy (“CEWS”) during the year ended December 31, 2020 as 

compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 when the Company did not receive the CEWS. The higher 

costs were partially offset by higher overall production levels. 

For the three months and year ended December 31, 2021 gross and net G&A costs (all excluding transaction 

costs) were higher compared to the same periods in 2020, due to increased staffing levels related to the 

acquisitions that closed in 2021.The Company incurred acquisition-related transaction costs in the amount of 

$8.1 million compared to no transaction costs in the same periods in 2020. 
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense 

Year-over-Year             

  
Three months ended Year ended 

December 31, December 31, 
    %    % 

($ thousands, except per boe) 2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 

Gross costs $2,810 $1,596 76 $9,558 $6,397 49 

Capitalized costs (631) (182) 247 (3,588) (897) 300 

Expensed stock-based compensation $2,179 $1,414 54 $5,970 $5,500 9 

Total ($/boe) $0.59 $0.70 (16) $0.47 $0.68 (31) 
              

Stock-based compensation expense related to Stock Options, RSUs and PSUs for the three months and year 

ended December 31, 2021 was higher compared to the same periods in 2020 due to grants being issued at a 

higher share price along with performance targets being exceeded resulting in additional PSUs being granted. 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company issued 0.9 million Stock Options (at a weighted 

average exercise price of $2.33 per share), 2.2 million RSUs and 2.9 million PSUs compared to 0.6 million 

Stock Options (at a weighted average exercise price of $1.13 per share), 2.0 million RSUs and 1.7 million 

PSUs during the same period in 2020.  

Finance Expense 

Year-over-Year             

  
Three months ended Year ended 

December 31, December 31, 
    %    % 

($ thousands, except per boe) 2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 

Interest on bank debt $5,521 $2,478 123 $18,334 $8,611 113 

Fees associated with credit facility renewal 1,274 141 804 2,359 673 251 

Interest on lease liabilities 195 196 (1) 791 840 (6) 

Unrealized loss (gain) on foreign exchange (160) (2,962) (95) 1,266 1,249 1 

Unrealized loss (gain) on cross-currency swap 105 2,955 (96) (1,305) (1,311) (0) 

Accretion of decommissioning obligations 1,421 694 105 4,895 2,573 90 

Total finance expense $8,356 $3,502 139 $26,340 $12,635 108 

Total ($/boe) $2.25 $1.73 30 $2.09 $1.57 33 

Average drawings on bank debt $481,570 $200,499 140 $393,404 $203,925 93 
  

            

Total finance expense for the three months and year ended December 31, 2021 was higher than the same 

periods in 2020 due to higher average drawings on bank debt resulting in increased interest on bank debt and 

fees associated with the redetermination of the credit facility with respect to the acquisitions that closed 

throughout 2021.  

  



 

Page | 13   

Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization (“DD&A”)  

Year-over-Year             

  
Three months ended Year ended 

December 31, December 31, 
    %    % 

($ thousands, except per boe) 2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 

Depletion and depreciation $61,852 $26,833 131 $211,622 $120,061 76 

Amortization of undeveloped leases 197 157 25 715 597 20 

Total $62,049 $26,990 130 $212,337 $120,658 76 

         
Depletion and depreciation ($/boe) $16.65 $13.23 26 $16.78 $14.89 13 

Amortization ($/boe) 0.05 0.08 (38) 0.06 0.07 (14) 

Total ($/boe) $16.70 $13.31 25 $16.84 $14.96 13 
              

For the three months and year ended December 31, 2021, DD&A expense per boe was higher relative to the 

same periods in 2020. The increase was due to acquisitions that closed in 2021 that have a higher DD&A 

expense per boe than the corporate average and the impairment reversal that was taken in Q2/21. For the 

three months and year ended December 2020, DD& A expense per boe was reduced by impairment charges 

taken in both Q1/20 and Q4/20 which reduced the net book value of assets to be depleted.  

On an absolute basis, DD&A expense was higher for the three months and year ended December 31, 2021 

due to higher production and higher DD&A expense per boe. 

Impairment (Impairment Reversal) of Property, Plant and Equipment 

The Company has considered the impact of the evolving worldwide demand for energy and global 

advancement of alternative sources of energy not sourced from fossil fuels in its assessment of impairment 

and impairment reversal on its oil and gas properties, both as indicators of impairment and impairment reversal, 

and in the estimates and judgments involved in testing for impairment and impairment reversal.   The estimated 

recoverable amount of the Company’s oil and gas properties was based on proved and probable reserves, the 

life of which is generally less than 20 years.   

2021 Assessment  

At December 31, 2021 there were indicators of reversal of impairment identified in the Company’s Cardium oil 

cash-generating unit (“CGU”), Viking oil CGU and Penny oil CGU as a result of improved forward commodity 

prices for natural gas, condensate and oil associated with the proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves 

at December 31, 2021, and a resultant increase in proved and probable reserves as estimated in the 

Company’s December 31, 2021 external independent qualified reserves evaluators report. The impairment 

reversal of $90.0 million was recorded as follows: the Cardium oil CGU reversed $14.3 million of historical 

impairment charges, the Viking oil CGU reversed $52.3 million of historical impairment charges and the Penny 

oil CGU reversed $23.4 million of historical impairment charges. The estimated recoverable amount of these 

CGUs  as at December 31, 2021, net of decommissioning obligations, was $248.6 million for the Cardium oil 

CGU, $692.5 million for the Viking oil CGU and $83.4 million for the Penny oil CGU.  The Viking oil CGU and 

Penny oil CGU have fully reversed all previous historical impairment charges, net of notional depletion.  The 

estimated recoverable amount of the CGUs was based on the net present value of before tax cash flows from 

proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves estimated by the Company’s external independent qualified 

reserves evaluator at December 31, 2021 at discount rates specific to the underlying composition of reserve 

categories of 12% to 25% (level 3 inputs).  The estimated recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined 

using the fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”) methodology based on what Tamarack estimates it could 
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receive for the assets in these CGUs if it disposed of them in the current environment taking into account 

higher forecasted oil and natural gas prices. The impairment reversal of $90.0 million was allocated to property, 

plant and equipment in the amount of $89.5 million and $0.5 million was allocated to the right-of-use assets. 

At June 30, 2021, there were indicators of reversal of impairment identified in the Company’s Cardium oil CGU 

and Viking oil CGU as a result of improved forward commodity prices for natural gas, condensate and oil 

associated with the proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves at June 30, 2021. The impairment 

reversal of $300.0 million was recorded as follows: the Cardium oil CGU reversed $140.0 million of historical 

impairment charges and the Viking oil CGU reversed $160.0 million of historical impairment charges. The 

estimated recoverable amount of these CGUs as at June 30, 2021, net of decommissioning obligations, was 

$257.2 million for the Cardium oil CGU and $643.8 million for the Viking oil CGU based on the net present 

value of before tax cash flows from proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves estimated by the 

Company’s external independent qualified reserves evaluator at December 31, 2020 and updated by the 

Company’s internal reserves evaluator to June 30, 2021 for production; production costs; royalty costs; future 

development costs and forecasted oil and natural gas commodity prices as at that date at discount rates 

specific to the underlying composition of reserve categories of 10% to 25% (level 3 inputs). The estimated 

recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined using the FVLCD methodology based on what Tamarack 

estimates it could receive for the assets in these CGUs if it disposed of them in the current environment taking 

into account higher commodity prices. The impairment reversal of $300.0 million was allocated to property, 

plant and equipment in the amount of $298.3 million and $1.7 million was allocated to the right-of-use assets. 

The Company has recorded an aggregate impairment reversal of $390.0 million for the year ended December 

31, 2021 of which $154.3 million related to the Cardium oil CGU, $212.3 million related to the Viking oil CGU 

and $23.4 million related to the Penny oil CGU.  The aggregate impairment reversal was allocated to property, 

plant and equipment in the amount of $387.8 million and $2.2 million was allocated to right-of-use assets. 

2020 Assessment  

An impairment charge of $18.0 million was recorded during the quarter ended December 31, 2020 as a result 

of a decrease in the current quantities of recoverable proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves in the 

Company’s Penny oil CGU. The estimated recoverable amount of this CGU as at December 31, 2020 was 

based on the net present value of before tax cash flows from proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves 

estimated by the Company’s external independent qualified reserves evaluator as at December 31, 2020 at 

discount rates specific to the underlying composition of reserve categories of 12% to 25% (level 3 inputs). The 

estimated recoverable amount of the Penny oil CGU was determined using the FVLCD methodology. This 

methodology is based on what Tamarack estimates it could receive should the assets in this CGU be disposed 

of in the current environment taking into account lower forecasted oil and natural gas prices.  

An impairment charge of $381.0 million was recorded as at March 31, 2020 as a result of a decrease in current 

and forecasted oil and natural gas prices. The impairment was recorded as follows: the Viking oil CGU was 

impaired $235.0 million, the Cardium oil CGU was impaired $137.0 million, the Penny oil CGU was impaired 

$7.0 million and the minor gas CGU was impaired $2.0 million, The estimated recoverable amount of these 

CGUs as at March 31, 2020 was based on the net present value of before tax cash flows from proved and 

probable oil and natural gas reserves estimated by the Company’s external independent qualified reserves 

evaluator at December 31, 2019 and updated by the Company’s internal reserves evaluator to March 31, 2020 

for production; production costs; royalty costs; future development costs and forecasted oil and natural gas 

commodity prices as at that date at discount rates specific to the underlying composition of reserve categories 

of 10% to 20% (level 3 inputs). The estimated recoverable amount of the CGUs was determined using the 

FVLCD methodology. This methodology is based on what Tamarack estimates it could receive should the 

assets in these CGUs be disposed of in the current environment taking into account lower forecasted oil and 

natural gas prices. 
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The impairment charge of $381.0 million was allocated to property, plant and equipment in the amount $377.6 

million and $3.4 million was allocated to the right-of-use assets. 

The Company recorded an aggregate impairment charge of $399.0 million for the year ended December 31, 

2020 of which  $235.0 million related to the Viking oil CGU, $137.0 million related to the Cardium oil CGU, 

$25.0 million related to the Penny oil CGU, and $2.0 million related to the minor gas CGU. The aggregate 

impairment was allocated to property, plant and equipment in the amount of $395.6 million and $3.4 million 

was allocated to right-of-use. 

Income Taxes 

The Company did not incur any cash tax expense for the three months and year ended December 31, 2021 

and does not expect to pay any cash tax until late 2022 or later based on current commodity prices, forecast 

taxable income, existing tax pools and planned capital expenditures.  

For the three months and year ended December 31, 2021, a deferred income tax expense of approximately 

$51.0 million and $129.3 million, respectively, was recognized compared to a deferred income tax expense of 

$2.1 million and a deferred income tax recovery of $87.5 million for the same periods in 2020.  

The following table outlines the Company’s estimated tax pools as at December 31, 2021: 

Tax Pool Category Deduction Rate ($ millions) 

Canadian exploration expense (CEE) 100% 32 

Canadian development expense (CDE) 30% 375 

Canadian oil and gas property expense (COGPE) 10% 351 

Non-capital losses (NCL) 100% 123 

Undepreciated capital cost (UCC) 25% 117 

Share issue costs and other various 6 

Total  1,004 

 

Adjusted Funds Flow and Net Income (Loss) 

Year-over-Year             

  
Three months ended Year ended 

December 31, December 31, 
    %    % 

($ thousands, except per share) 2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 

Cash flow from operating activities $118,647 $23,859 397 $297,894 $125,290 138 
         

Abandonment expenditures 1,574 1,271 24 4,466 3,825 17 

Transaction costs  –  –  – 8,110  –  – 

Changes in non-cash working capital 3,859 3,764 3 29,789 (6,367) (568) 

Adjusted funds flow (1) $124,080 $28,894 329 $340,259 $122,748 177 

Per share - basic (1) $0.31 $0.13 138 $0.96 $0.55 75 

Per share - diluted (1) $0.30 $0.13 131 $0.94 $0.55 71 
         

Net income (loss) $140,448 $(18,220) (871) $390,508 $(311,384) (225) 

Per share - basic $ 0.35 $(0.08) (538) $ 1.10 $(1.40) (179) 

Per share - diluted $ 0.34 $(0.08) (525) $ 1.08 $(1.40) (177) 
              

(1) Capital Management Measure; See “Non-IFRS Financial Measures, Non-IFRS Financial Ratios and Capital Management 
Measures” Section of this MD&A. 
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Adjusted funds flow (see “Non-IFRS Financial Measures”) and cash flow from operating activities for the three 

months and year ended December 31, 2021 were higher compared to the same periods in 2020. This was 

primarily due to an increase in revenue resulting from additional production due to acquisitions completed 

throughout 2021, higher commodity prices, partially offset by a realized hedging loss in 2021, higher production 

and transportation costs and higher royalty expense. 

The Company recorded net income of $140.4 million ($0.35 per share basic and $0.34 per share diluted) and 

net income of $390.5 million ($1.10 per share basic and $1.08 per share diluted) during the three months and 

year ended December 31, 2021 compared to a net loss of $18.2 million ($0.08 per share basic and diluted) 

and a net loss of $311.4 million ($1.40 per share basic and diluted), respectively in the same periods in 2020.  

The increase in net income for the three months ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the same period 

in 2020 is primarily due to an increase in revenue, an impairment reversal in Q4/21 versus impairment charge 

in Q4/20, and an increase in unrealized hedging gain, partially offset by an increase in realized hedging loss, 

higher royalty costs, higher production and transportation costs, higher general and administrative costs, 

higher interest on bank debt, higher depletion, depreciation and amortization costs and deferred income tax 

expense. The increases in revenue and royalty expense are largely attributable to the increase in the 

Company’s production resulting from the acquisitions and higher commodity prices.  The increase in all  other 

expenses is  largely attributable to the increase in the Company’s production resulting from the acquisitions.  

Changes in the Company’s realized and unrealized hedging is reflective of the impact of changes in commodity 

prices on the Company’s risk management contracts in place as at that date.  

The increase in net income for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the same period in 2020 

is primarily due to an increase in revenue, impairment reversals in 2021 versus impairment charges in 2020, 

and an increase in unrealized hedging gain, partially offset by higher royalty costs, higher realized hedging 

loss, higher production and transportation costs, higher general and administrative costs, higher acquisition 

related transaction costs, higher interest on bank debt, higher depletion, depreciation and amortization costs 

and deferred income tax expense. The increase in revenue and royalty expense are largely attributable to the 

increase in the Company’s production resulting from the acquisitions and higher commodity prices.  The 

increase in all other expenses is largely attributable to the increase in the Company’s production resulting from 

the acquisitions. Changes in the Company’s realized and unrealized hedging is reflective of the impact of 

changes in commodity prices on the Company’s risk management contracts in place as at that date.    

Capital Expenditures (Including Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures) 

The following table summarizes capital spending, excluding non–cash items:  

Year-over-Year             

  
Three months ended Year ended 

December 31, December 31, 
    %    % 

($ thousands) 2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 

Land $2,480 $40 6,100 $9,065 $3,385 168 

Geological and geophysical 140 71 97 543 85 539 

Drilling and completion 30,212 9,319 224 136,692 72,936 87 

Equipment and facilities 7,058 2,697 162 38,805 23,553 65 

Capitalized G&A 1,667 900 85 5,037 3,300 53 

Office equipment 115 61 89 1,017 284 258 

Total capital expenditures $41,672 $13,088 218 $191,159 $103,543 85 
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During the fourth quarter of 2021, the Company drilled, completed and equipped, eleven (8.5 net) Clearwater 

oil wells, four (4.0 net) Charlie Lake oil wells, six (6.0 net) Viking oil wells and two (2.0 net) water source wells.  

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company drilled, completed and equipped forty (40.0 net) Viking 

oil wells, forty-three (40.0 net) Clearwater oil wells, thirteen (13.0 net) Charlie Lake oil wells, eight (8.0 net) 

water source and injector wells and two (0.8 net) Falher gas wells.  

Included in equipment and facilities expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2021 are expenditures of 

approximately $7.9 million related to the Company’s Nipisi gas conservation project to eliminate the venting 

and incineration of solution gas into the atmosphere in furtherance of the Company’s sustainability initiatives 

and reducing greenhouse gas emissions.  Total estimated project capital spending is estimated to be 

approximately $11.9 million.  In connection with this project the Company has recorded $5.2 million of 

combined Federal Government of Canada Emissions Reduction Fund (“ERF”) and Province of Alberta  

Methane Technology Implementation Program (“MTIP”) funding, of which $1.1 million is repayable under the 

terms of the ERF agreement. Total MTIP non-repayable government grant funding is estimated to be 

approximately $1.75 million.  Total ERF government grant funding is estimated to be approximately $8.9 

million, of which 65% is repayable under the terms of the ERF agreement., The ERF agreement includes 

scheduled repayments for the repayable funding of approximately $0.6 million on March 31, 2025, $1.9 million 

on March 31, 2026 and a final payment of $3.3 million on March 31, 2027.  The repayable government loan 

funding will be interest-free based on the Company’s compliance with the terms and conditions of the ERF 

funding agreement and all repayments made in accordance with the above noted repayment schedule.  

 

For the Year ended December 31,2021 

Drilling Summary 

 Gross  Net 

Viking 40.0 40.0 

Clearwater 43.0 40.0 

Charlie Lake 13.0 13.0 

Water source and injectors 8.0 8.0 

Falher 2.0 0.8 

 106.0 101.8 
      

 Acquisitions and Dispositions 

2021 Acquisitions 

On March 25, 2021 the Company completed the Northern Clearwater, Eyehill oil acquisition that included 

assets in both the Nipisi and Provost fields for total cash consideration of $102.6 million. There were $0.7 

million of transaction costs incurred by the Company expensed through earnings. The acquisition has been 

accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting, whereby the assets 

acquired and the liabilities assumed are recorded at the estimated fair value on the acquisition date of March 

25, 2021.  Assets acquired in this transaction will be included in the Clearwater oil CGU (Nipisi) and the Viking 

oil CGU (Provost).  Assets held for sale relate to the sale of a gross overriding royalty (“GORR”) on the Northern 

Clearwater Nipisi assets. 
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The determination of the purchase price, based on management’s estimate of fair values, is as follows: 

 ($ thousands)   Amount 

Net assets acquired:   
  Oil and natural gas interests   $       103,859  

  Assets held for sale        3,571 

  Decommissioning obligations        (4,820) 

Net assets acquired     $       102,610  

Purchase consideration:   
Cash   $       102,610  

Total purchase consideration    $       102,610  

The fair value of oil and natural gas interests has been estimated with reference to an internally prepared 

reserves evaluation for the acquired properties. The estimated proved and probable oil and natural gas reserve 

and related cash flows were discounted at a rate based on what a market participant would have paid as well 

as market metrics in the prevailing areas at the time. The fair value of decommissioning obligations was initially 

estimated using a credit adjusted risk-free rate of 8%. 

On March 25, 2021 the Company completed the Northern Clearwater oil acquisition of assets in the Nipisi field 

for total cash consideration of $34.4 million including $0.9 million of capitalized transaction costs and the 

issuance of 4.9 million Common Shares of the Company.  Based upon Tamarack’s share price on the date of 

closing of $2.09 per common share the total consideration was approximately $44.6 million. The Company 

applied the optional concentration test permitted under IFRS 3 to the acquisition which resulted in the acquired 

assets being accounted for as an asset acquisition. As such the purchase price was allocated to the identifiable 

assets and liabilities based on their relative fair values at the date of acquisition. Assets acquired in this 

transaction will be included in the Clearwater oil CGU.  Assets held for sale relate to the sale of a GORR on 

the Northern Clearwater Nipisi assets. 

The amounts recognized on the date of acquisition of the identifiable net assets were as follows: 

 

 ($ thousands)   Amount 

Net assets acquired:   
  Oil and natural gas interests   $      42,232  

  Assets held for sale        2,409 

  Decommissioning obligations        (65) 

Net assets acquired     $      44,576  

Purchase consideration:   
Cash consideration     $      34,358  

Share consideration (4,888,889 common shares)           10,218  

Total purchase consideration    $      44,576  

The Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Anegada Oil Corp. (“Anegada”) 

on June 1, 2021 for total consideration of $538.4 million.  The assets acquired from Anegada included certain 

oil and natural gas properties located in the Grande Prairie field in the Charlie Lake area. The acquisition was 

completed for total cash consideration of $258.2 million and the issuance of 105.3 million common shares of 

the Company at the date of closing share price of $2.66 per common share. The acquisition has been 

accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting, whereby the assets 

acquired and the liabilities assumed are recorded at the estimated fair value on the acquisition date of June 1, 

2021. There were $7.4 million of transaction costs incurred by the Company and expensed through earnings.  

Assets acquired in this transaction will be included in the Charlie Lake oil CGU.  Assets held for sale primarily 

relate to the sale of a GORR on the Charlie Lake (Grande Prairie) assets.  
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The determination of the purchase price, based on management’s estimate of fair values, is as follows: 

 ($ thousands)   Amount 

Net assets acquired:   
  Oil and natural gas interests   $     677,740 

  Right-of-use assets  1,624 

  Current assets        21,097 

  Current liabilities        (10,451) 

  Lease liabilities  (1,624) 

  Risk management contracts        (9,610) 

  Bank debt        (37,734) 

  Assets held for sale        33,078 

  Decommissioning obligations        (6,072) 

  Deferred tax liability        (129,638) 

Net assets acquired     $        538,410  

Purchase consideration:   
Cash   $        258,201  

Share consideration (105,341,880 common shares)           280,209  

Total purchase consideration    $        538,410  

For purposes of estimating the acquisition-date fair value of the oil and natural gas interests, the Company’s 

internal reserves evaluator provided an estimate of proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves and the 

related cash flows.  The estimated proved and probable oil and natural gas reserve and related cash flows 

were discounted at a rate based on what a market participant would have paid as well as market metrics in 

the prevailing areas at the time. The fair value of decommissioning obligations was initially estimated using a 

credit adjusted risk-free rate of 8%. 

On August 31, 2021 the Company completed the Southern Clearwater oil acquisition of assets in the Jarvie 

field for total cash consideration of $35.7 million. The Company applied the optional concentration test 

permitted under IFRS 3 to the acquisition which resulted in the acquired assets being accounted for as an 

asset acquisition. As such the purchase price was allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities based on 

their relative fair values at the date of acquisition.  Assets acquired in this transaction will be included in the 

Clearwater oil CGU. 

The amounts recognized on the date of acquisition of the identifiable net assets were as follows: 

 ($ thousands)   Amount 

Net assets acquired:   
  Oil and natural gas interests   $     37,039  

  Decommissioning obligations        (1,312) 

Net assets acquired     $     35,727  

Purchase consideration:   
Cash consideration     $     35,727 

Total purchase consideration    $     35,727  

Other minor acquisitions 

For the year ended December 31, 2021 the Company executed other minor acquisitions in various CGUs and 

various fields for cash consideration of approximately $25.4 million. 
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2021 Dispositions 

On September 9, 2021, Tamarack completed a non-cash asset swap transaction whereby the Company 

disposed of certain oil properties located in the Lochend and Harmattan areas of Alberta (Cardium oil CGU), 

and acquired certain oil properties in the Monarch area of Alberta (Penny oil CGU).The carrying value of the 

Lochend and Harmattan assets disposed, net of decommissioning obligations, was $6.9 million and the fair 

value of the Monarch net assets acquired was $7.8 million, resulting in a gain on the exchange of $0.9 million. 

For the year ended December 31, 2021 the Company disposed of a 4% GORR on a select portion of the 

Northern Clearwater area (Nipisi field) properties for net proceeds of $13.5 million and recorded a gain on 

disposition of $7.5 million. The Company also disposed of a 2% GORR on a select portion of the Charlie Lake 

area (Grande Prairie field) properties for net proceeds of $31.6 million. The Company also disposed of non-

core properties for proceeds of $1.2 million and recorded a gain on disposition of $0.3 million. 

Share Capital 

 

    2021   2020 

($ thousands) Number Amount Number Amount 

Balance, January 1 262,776,395 $876,124 222,793,117 $832,799 

Issue of common shares - cash 33,333,300 75,000 40,925,000 47,064 

Issue of common shares - acquisitions 110,230,769 290,427  –  – 

Issue of common shares - cash on stock options 481,667 1,623  –  – 

Issue of common shares - RSU and PSU exercise 4,047,343  – 3,363,378  – 

Issue on settlement of preferred shares 307,025 1,104  –  – 

Purchase of common shares - cancellation  –  – (664,100) (2,551) 

Purchase of common shares - RSU and PSU exercise (4,238,400)  – (3,641,000)  – 

Transfer on stock option exercise  – 1,023  –  – 

Share issue costs, net of tax (2021 - $864; 2020 - $368)  – (2,909)  – (1,188) 

Balance, December 31 406,938,099 $1,242,392 262,776,395 $876,124 
          

 

(thousands) March 3, 2022 
December 31, 

2021 
December 31, 

2020 

Common shares outstanding 431,323 406,938 262,776 

Common shares held in treasury 2,370 938 747 

Options outstanding 1,932 2,142 1,904 

RSUs outstanding 4,428 4,703 5,365 

PSUs outstanding 4,909 4,874 3,564 
        

At December 31, 2021, there are no (December 31, 2020 – 740,307) preferred shares of Tamarack Acquisition 

Corp. (the “TAC Preferred Shares”) issued and outstanding. The Company settled the TAC Preferred Shares 

by issuing 307,025 Common Shares and a payment of $0.1 million during the fourth quarter of 2021 in 

connection with the amalgamation of Tamarack Acquisition Corp. into Tamarack Valley Energy Ltd. on January 

1, 2022. 

On February 15, 2022, the Company issued 26,298,396 Common shares as partial consideration in connection 

with the acquisition of Crestwynd Exploration Ltd. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 

($ thousands) 
December 31, 

2021 
December 31, 

2020 

Working capital deficiency (surplus) (1) $(15,253) $8,454 

Other liability 1,100  – 

Bank debt 477,437 210,857 

Net debt (1) 463,284 219,311 

    
Quarterly adjusted funds flow (1) $124,080 $28,894 

Annualized factor 4 4 

Annualized adjusted funds flow (1) 496,320 115,576 

Net debt to annualized adjusted funds flow (1) 0.9x 1.9x 
      

 
(1) Capital Management Measure; See “Non-IFRS Financial Measures, Non-IFRS Financial Ratios and Capital Management 

Measures” Section of this MD&A. 

Despite the improvement in commodity prices during 2021, Tamarack’s strategy remains focused on 

preserving balance sheet strength. The Company strives to achieve this by managing capital spending levels 

as appropriate to respond to changes in realized commodity prices and through the systematic hedging 

program using both financial derivatives and physical delivery contracts to mitigate risk.  The Company 

generally relies on adjusted funds flow and its credit facility to fund its capital requirements, dividend payments 

and provide liquidity. 

Tamarack’s net debt, including working capital deficiency (surplus) (see “Capital Management Measures”), 

totaled $463.3 million as at December 31, 2021. This compares to the Company’s net debt of $519.7 million 

as at September 30, 2021 and $219.3 million as at December 31, 2020. Tamarack’s Q4/21 net debt to 

annualized adjusted funds flow ratio (see “Capital Management Measures”) was 0.9 times.  

The Company’s $58.7 million investment in capital additions and acquisitions during Q4/21 was fully funded 

by Tamarack’s adjusted funds flow (see “Capital Management Measures”) of $124.1 million. The Company 

also reduced net debt by $56.4 million as compared to Q3/21.  

The Company believes that available credit facilities combined with anticipated adjusted funds flow will be 

sufficient to satisfy Tamarack’s 2022 development capital program and dividend payments for the 2022 fiscal 

year. 

The Company announced on November 1, 2021 that the Toronto Stock Exchange had accepted the 

Company’s intention to recommence the NCIB that was previously suspended on April 7, 2020. Pursuant to 

the NCIB, the Company is permitted to purchase up to 20.4 million Common Shares over a period of twelve 

months commencing on November 3, 2021.  During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company did not 

purchase and cancel any Common shares. 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company purchased and cancelled 0.7 million Common 

Shares at an average price of $1.94 per Common Share, for a total repurchase cost of $1.3 million.  

On February 15, 2022 the Company paid its inaugural monthly cash dividend on its common shares of $0.0083 

per share to shareholders of record at the close of business on January 31, 2022. 
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Bank Debt 

Tamarack currently has available a Sustainability Linked Lending revolving credit facility in the amount of $550 

million and an operating facility of $50 million (collectively, the “SLL Facility”) with a syndicate of lenders.  

The Company’s existing credit facility was amended to include sustainability-linked incentive pricing terms in 

the recently completed SLL Facility Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (“ARCA”).  Additionally, the 

ARCA eliminated the term credit facility and the Consolidated Net Debt to Cash Flow Ratio financial covenant, 

and added a Consolidated Senior Debt-to-Consolidated EBITDA ratio interest rate determination.  

The total interest rate on the SLL Facility is determined through a pricing grid that categorizes based on both 

a total amount drawn and a Consolidated Senior Debt-to-Consolidated EBITDA Ratio as defined in the SLL 

Facility ARCA. The interest rate will vary depending on: the lending vehicle employed; the total loan value 

drawn; and the Company’s Consolidated Senior Debt-to-Consolidated EBITDA ratio.  The ARCA defines: (i) 

Consolidated Senior Debt to Consolidated EBITDA Ratio as the ratio of Consolidated Senior Debt at the end 

of the Fiscal Quarter to Consolidated EBITDA for the Consolidated EBITDA period;  (ii) Consolidated Senior 

Debt as Consolidated Debt; and (iii) Consolidated EBITDA as determined in accordance with IFRS as Net 

Income plus interest expense, plus the provision for income taxes, plus or minus all non-cash items, plus one-

time transaction costs and fees relating to acquisitions, dispositions, equity offerings and other similar 

transactions, plus or minus losses and or gains from asset sales, plus or minus losses or earnings attributable 

to extraordinary and non-recurring items and less any cash payments related to prior periods included or 

deducted in determining Net Income. The Consolidated EBITDA period as at December 31, 2021 is the most 

recent quarter annualized. 

Interest on bankers’ acceptances (“BA”) and LIBOR (or LIBOR Benchmark Replacement) based loans 

(“LIBOR”) will vary based on a BA/LIBOR pricing grid from a low of the banks’ posted rates plus 2.75% to a 

high of the banks’ posted rates plus 4.75%. Interest on prime lending varies based on a prime rate pricing 

grid from a low of the banks’ prime rates plus 1.75% to a high of the banks’ prime rates plus 3.75%. The 

standby fee for the SLL Facility will vary as per a pricing grid from a low of 0.69% to a high of 1.19% on the 

undrawn portion of the SLL Facility. The lending vehicles that Tamarack employs will vary from time to time 

based on capital needs and current market rates.  

The LIBOR benchmark transition begins on December 31, 2021 with certain tenors of the U.S. dollar LIBOR 

benchmark no longer published as of that date.  Certain other tenors will continue to be published through 

mid-2023.  As per the ARCA the LIBOR benchmark will be replaced by the secured overnight financing rate 

(“SOFR”) as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.  We do not expect this change to have a 

material impact to Tamarack under the SLL Facility as U.S. dollar borrowings under the SLL facility can also 

bear interest at the banks’ U.S. prime rates. 

The SLL Facility incorporates sustainability-linked incentive pricing terms.  The SLL Facility incorporates 

three of Tamarack’s long-term goals as key performance indicators (“KPIs”) and has structured them into 

sustainability performance targets (“SPTs”), that will decrease Tamarack’s cost of borrowing by up to five 

basis points if the SPTs are achieved or increase Tamarack’s cost of borrowing by up to five basis points in 

the event SPTs are missed. The SPTs include:  

• Greenhouse Gas Emissions Intensity: 40% reduction in Scope 1 and 2 emissions by 2025 over the 

2020 baseline, with a significant decrease in 2021 and more ratable 5% decreases through 2022 to 

2025. This SPT exceeds the previous set target due to 2021 acquisitions and positive progress in 

emissions reductions to date. 

• Decommissioning Management: committed annual capital investment in abandonment, remediation 

and reclamation activities at 150% of the Alberta Energy Regulator inventory reduction voluntary 

closure program targets. This target is equivalent to ~4.33% of inactive liabilities in 2021 with a 5% 

annual escalation.  
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• Indigenous Workforce Participation: target workforce representation of 6% or greater by 2025 with 

annual milestones and minimum of two additions each year. 

As at December 31, 2021, the SLL Facility was secured by a $1.2 billion supplemental debenture with a floating 

charge over all assets. As the available lending limits of the SLL Facility are based on the lenders’ interpretation 

of the Company’s reserves and future commodity prices, there can be no assurance as to the amount of 

available facilities that will be determined at each scheduled review.  

A total of $477.4 million was drawn as of December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 – $210.9 million). The 

interest rate applicable to the drawn amounts as of this date was 3.37%. The SLL Facility will be subject to its 

next extension by May 31, 2022, and if not extended by that date, will cease to revolve and all outstanding 

balances will become repayable one year from that date.  

The Company manages its SLL Facility using a combination of prime rate loans, BA notes and US dollar 

denominated LIBOR (or LIBOR Benchmark Replacement)  loans. During the quarter ended December 31, 

2021, concurrent with the drawdown of US dollar LIBOR loans, the Company entered into cross-currency 

swaps (“CCS”) to fix the foreign exchange on US dollar LIBOR loan amounts for purposes of interest and 

principal repayments. At December 31, 2021, the Company had drawn US$235.0 million, fixed at notional 

amounts of $297.5 million through CCS maturing across the month of January 2022 (December 31, 2020 – 

the Company had drawn US$111.0 million, fixed at notional amounts of $142.8 million through various CCS). 

On February 10, 2022 the Company issued $200 million aggregate principal amount of 7.25% senior 

unsecured sustainability-linked notes due May 10, 2027 (the “Notes”).  The notes were offered through a 

private placement underwriting agreement entered into on February 2, 2022.  The Notes are issued at par 

under a trust indenture and are general unsecured obligations of Tamarack ranking pari passu with all of the 

Company’s existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness.  The Notes are being issued in accordance 

with the Company’s Sustainability-Linked Bond Framework. 

Commitments 

The following table summarizes the Company’s commitments as at December 31, 2021: 

($ thousands) 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026+ 

Bank debt(1)  – 477,437 – – – 

Lease(2) 328 347 347 261 – 

Government loan(3)  –  –  – 471 629 

Take or pay commitments(4) 4,023 3,894 – – – 

Processing commitments(5) 4,578 4,689 4,769 4,088 21,464 

Gas transportation(6) 4,876 3,590 313 11  – 

Capital commitments(7) 42,971 57,843 – – – 

Total 56,776 547,800 5,429 4,831 22,093 

(1) If not extended by May 31, 2022, the SLL Facility will cease to revolve and all outstanding balances will become repayable May 
31, 2023. 

(2) Relates to the variable operating costs, which are a non-lease component of the Company’s head office sublease and sublease 
expansion. The Tamarack head office sublease and sublease expansion expire on September 30, 2025. 

(3) Relates to the scheduled payments on the repayable government loan funding receivable from the government of Canada under 
the terms of the ERF agreement signed by the Company related to the Nipisi gas conservation program. 

(4) Pipeline commitments to deliver a minimum of 636 m3/d of crude oil/condensate and 455 m3/d of crude oil subject to a take-or-
pay provision of $9.00/m3 and $9.70/m3, respectively, escalating approximately 2% per annum. The terms started on January 1, 
2019 and last for 60 months. 

(5) Processing commitments to guarantee firm capacity in various facilities.  
(6) Gas transportation costs on long term firm contracts which are in various locations at variable rates.  
(7) Initial commitment of $200.0 million of capital to further develop the GORR Nipisi/Clearwater and Grande Prairie lands prior to 

December 31, 2023 of which $100.8 is remaining to be incurred. 
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Contingency  

During 2019, the Company was served with a Statement of Claim from two joint interest owners that hold 

minority interests in a Unit, which is majority owned and operated by the Company. The plaintiffs are seeking 

judgment in the amount of $56.0 million for unlawful conversion of their minority Unit interests (such amount 

based upon the alleged value of their minority Unit interests) or alternatively, judgment in the amount of $1.65 

million, representing the amounts allegedly owed by the Company plus punitive damages, interest and other 

costs. The minority Unit owners have also alleged Tamarack has breached the Company’s fiduciary duties 

owing to the minority Unit owners and that without the approval of the minority Unit owners, the Company has 

conducted operations within the Unit area and outside of the Unit area without the approval of the minority Unit 

owners.  

The Company has filed a Statement of Defence denying all material allegations of the minority Unit 

owners. The Company believes the claims are without merit and the amounts are unsubstantiated. Therefore, 

no provision for any amount has been recorded in the consolidated financial statements.   

Unit Cost Calculation 

For the purpose of calculating unit costs, natural gas volumes have been converted to a boe using six thousand 

cubic feet equal to one barrel, unless otherwise stated. A boe conversion ratio of 6:1 is based on an energy 

equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value 

equivalency at the wellhead. This conversion complies with the Canadian Securities Administrators’ National 

Instrument 51–101 Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (“NI 51-101”). Boe may be misleading, 

particularly if used in isolation. 

Abbreviations  

AECO Natural gas storage facility located at Suffield, AB 

bbl barrel 

bbl/d barrels per day  

boe barrels of oil equivalent  

boe/d barrels of oil equivalent per day  

CGU 

DTH 

cash-generating unit 

dekatherm 

GJ gigajoule 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 

mcf thousand cubic feet  

mcf/d thousand cubic feet per day  

mmbtu one million British thermal units  

NGL 

WCS 

natural gas liquids 

Western Canadian Select 

WTI West Texas Intermediate  

Non–IFRS Financial Measures, Non-IFRS Financial Ratios, and Capital Management 

Measures 

This document contains the terms “net production expenses”, “operating netback” and “operating field 

netback”, which are non-IFRS financial measures, or ratios. The Company uses these measures to help 

evaluate Tamarack’s performance. These non-IFRS financial measures and ratios do not have any 

standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures 

presented by other issuers. This document also contains the capital management measures of “quarterly 
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adjusted funds flow”, “net debt”, “working capital deficiency (surplus)”, “net debt to annualized adjusted funds 

flow”, and “year-end net debt to trailing annual adjusted funds flow”. 

(a) Quarterly Adjusted Funds Flow (Capital Management Measure) - Quarterly adjusted funds flow is 

calculated by taking cash-flow from operating activities on a quarterly basis and adding back changes 

in non-cash working capital, expenditures on decommissioning obligations and transaction costs since 

Tamarack believes the timing of collection, payment or incurrence of these items is variable. 

Expenditures on decommissioning obligations may vary from period to period depending on capital 

programs and the maturity of the Company’s operating areas. Expenditures on decommissioning 

obligations are managed through the capital budgeting process which considers available adjusted 

funds flow. Tamarack uses adjusted funds flow as a key measure to demonstrate the Company’s ability 

to generate funds to repay debt, pay dividends and fund future capital investment. Adjusted funds flow 

per share is calculated using the same weighted average basic and diluted shares that are used in 

calculating income (loss) per share. The calculation of the Company’s adjusted funds flows is 

summarized starting on page 15 in the section titled “Adjusted Funds Flow and Net Income (Loss)”. 

(b) Net Production Expenses, Operating Netback and Operating Field Netback (Non-IFRS Financial 

Measures, and Non-IFRS Financial Ratios if calculated on a per boe basis) - Management uses 

certain industry benchmarks, such as net production expenses, operating netback and operating field 

netback, to analyze financial and operating performance. Net production expenses are determined by 

deducting processing income primarily generated by processing third party volumes at processing 

facilities where the Company has an ownership interest.  Under IFRS this source of funds is required to 

be reported as revenue.  Where the Company has excess capacity at one of its facilities, it will process 

third party volumes as a means to reduce the cost of operating/owning the facility, and as such third 

party processing revenue is netted against production expenses in the MD&A. Operating netback equals 

total petroleum and natural gas sales, including realized gains and losses on commodity and foreign 

exchange derivative contracts, less royalties, net production expenses and transportation expense and 

can also be calculated on a per boe basis, which results in them being considered a non-IFRS financial 

ratio. Operating field netback equals total petroleum and natural gas sales, less royalties, net production 

expenses and transportation expense. These metrics can also be calculated on a per boe basis. 

Management considers operating netback and operating field netback important measures to evaluate 

Tamarack’s operational performance, as it demonstrates field level profitability relative to current 

commodity prices. The calculation of the Company’s netbacks can be seen starting on page 11 in the 

section titled “Operating Netback”. 

(c) Net Debt and Working Capital Deficiency (Surplus) (Capital Management Measure) - Tamarack 

closely monitors our capital structure with a goal of maintaining a strong balance sheet to fund the future 

growth of the Company. The Company monitors net debt as part of our capital structure. The Company 

uses net debt (bank debt plus working capital surplus or deficiency, including the fair value of cross-

currency swaps, plus other liability and excluding the current portion of the fair value of financial 

instruments,  decommissioning obligations and lease liabilities) as an alternative measure of outstanding 

debt. Management considers net debt an important measure to assist in assessing the liquidity of the 

Company.  
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The following outlines the Company’s calculation of net debt: 

($ thousands) 
December 31, 

2021 
December 

31, 2020 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $72,188 $38,903 

Cross currency swap liability 292 1,597 

Accounts receivable (79,904) (30,781) 

Prepaid expenses and deposits (7,829) (1,265) 

Working capital deficiency (surplus) (15,253) 8,454 

Other liability 1,100  – 

Bank debt 477,437 210,857 

Net debt $463,284 $219,311 
      

 

(d) Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted Funds Flow (Capital Management Measures) - Management uses 

certain industry benchmarks, such as net debt to annualized adjusted funds flow, to analyze financial 

and operating performance. This benchmark is calculated as net debt divided by the annualized 

adjusted funds flow for the most recently completed quarter. Management considers net debt to 

annualized adjusted funds flow as a key measure as it provides a snapshot of the overall financial health 

of the Company and our ability to fund  capital requirements, dividend payments, pay off debt and take 

on new debt, if necessary, using the most recent quarter’s results. The calculation of the Company’s net 

debt to annualized adjusted funds flow can be seen starting on page 21 in the section titled “Liquidity 

and Capital Resources”. 

(e) Year-end Net Debt to Trailing Annual Adjusted Funds Flow (Capital Management Measure) - 

Management uses certain industry benchmarks, such as net debt to trailing annual adjusted funds flow, 

to analyze financial and operating performance. This benchmark is calculated as estimated year-end 

net debt divided by the estimated adjusted funds flow for the four preceding quarters at year-end. 

(f) Free Funds Flow (Capital Management Measure) - Management uses certain industry benchmarks, 

such as free funds flow, to analyze financial and operating performance. This benchmark is calculated 

by taking adjusted funds flow and subtracting capital expenditures, excluding acquisitions and 

dispositions, Management believes that free funds flow provides a useful measure to determine 

Tamarack’s ability to improve returns and to manage the long-term value of the business.  

Year-over-Year             

($thousands) 
Three months ended Year ended 

December 31, December 31, 
    %    % 

  2021 2020 change 2021 2020 change 

Adjusted funds flow $124,080 $28,894 329 $340,259 $122,748 177 

Less: capital 
expenditures 

41,672 13,088 218 191,159 103,543 85 

Free funds flow $82,408 $15,806 421 $149,100 $19,205 676 
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Selected Quarterly Information 

                  
Three months ended Dec. 31, Sep. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sep. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31, 

  2021 2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020 2020 

Sales volumes          

Natural gas (mcf/d) 74,291 72,935 60,887 52,466 53,738 53,420 49,610 52,912 

Oil and NGL (bbls/d) 28,002 29,100 22,268 15,194 13,093 12,630 12,729 14,712 

Average boe/d (6:1) 40,384 41,256 32,416 23,938 22,049 21,533 20,997 23,531 

Product prices          

Natural gas ($/mcf) 5.09 3.44 2.77 3.15 2.46 1.61 1.37 1.61 

Oil and NGL ($/bbl) 80.55 70.40 67.47 56.91 43.22 42.69 23.40 43.41 

Oil equivalent ($/boe) 65.21 55.73 51.55 43.03 31.67 29.02 17.42 30.76 

(000s, except per share amounts)          

Financial results          

Gross revenues 242,288 211,527 152,061 92,696 64,238 57,491 33,295 65,872 

Cash provided by operating 
activities 

118,647 100,558 40,253 38,436 23,859 26,965 28,107 46,359 

Adjusted funds flow (2) 124,080 102,486 71,741 41,236 28,894 30,837 20,972 42,045 

Per share – basic 0.31 0.25 0.21 0.16 0.13 0.14 0.09 0.19 

Per share – diluted 0.30 0.25 0.21 0.16 0.13 0.14 0.09 0.19 

Net income (loss) 140,448 20,032 230,194 (166) (18,220) (5,776) (36,067) (251,321) 

Per share – basic 0.35 0.05 0.69 (0.00) (0.08) (0.03) (0.16) (1.13) 

Per share – diluted 0.34 0.05 0.67 (0.00) (0.08) (0.03) (0.16) (1.13) 
          

Capital expenditures 41,672 69,978 30,805 48,704 13,088 10,364 6,218 73,873 

Acquisitions(1) 22,593 52,004 539,506 147,187 94,684 4,127  –  – 

Dispositions(1) (74) (8,140) (32,283) (13,884) (15,525)  –  –  – 

Total assets 2,328,153 2,230,382 2,180,303 1,199,743 1,027,600 963,220 935,892 984,045 

Net debt(2) 463,284 519,708 505,992 286,175 219,311 199,561 213,066 227,151 

Bank debt 477,437 520,961 520,012 270,810 210,857 198,994 206,467 209,423 

Decommissioning obligations 284,472 265,929 264,791 242,692 245,437 241,047 198,485 186,816 
                  

 

(1) Includes cash and non-cash consideration. 
(2) Capital Management Measure; See “Non-IFRS Financial Measures, Non-IFRS Financial Ratios and Capital Management Measures” 

Section of this MD&A. 
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Selected Annual Information         

              

    2021   2020   2019 

Sales volumes        

Natural gas (mcf/d)  65,226  52,426  53,444 

Oil and NGL (bbls/d)  23,691  13,289  15,165 

Average boe/d (6:1)   34,562   22,027   24,072 

Product prices  
      

Natural gas ($/mcf)  3.70  1.77  2.06 

Oil and NGL ($/bbl)  70.60  38.42  61.58 

Oil equivalent ($/boe)   55.38   27.40   43.37 

(000s, except per share amounts) 
 

   
 

 
 

Financial Results     
 

 
 

Gross revenues  698,572  220,896  381,066 

Net income (loss)  390,508  (311,384)  (39,011) 

Per share – basic  1.10  (1.40)  (0.17) 

Per share – diluted  1.08  (1.40)  (0.17) 
     

 
 

 

Capital expenditures  191,159  103,543  178,966 

Acquisitions(1)  761,290  98,811  9,942 

Dispositions(1)  (54,381)  (15,525)   – 

Total assets  2,328,153  1,027,600  1,247,119 

Net debt(2)  463,284  219,311  189,481 

Bank debt  477,437  210,857  192,907 
              

(1) Includes cash and non-cash consideration. 
(2) Capital Management Measure; See “Non-IFRS Financial Measures, Non-IFRS Financial Ratios and Capital Management 

Measures” Section of this MD&A. 

Significant factors and trends that have impacted the Company’s results during both the above Quarterly and 
Annual periods include: 

• The volatility in commodity prices and oil price differentials and the resulting effect on revenue, cash 

provided by operating activities, adjusted funds flows and earnings. 

• The volatility in decommissioning obligations due to fluctuations in discount rates and acquisitions. 

• The Company uses derivative contracts to reduce the financial impact of volatile commodity prices, 

foreign exchange and interest rates which can cause significant fluctuations in earnings due to 

unrealized gains and losses recognized on a quarterly basis. 

• On June 1, 2021, Tamarack closed the acquisition of Charlie Lake area properties in the Grande Prairie 

field of Alberta. The assets include approximately 11,800 boe/d of oil weighted assets, along with adding 

349.7 net sections in the Charlie Lake oil play of Alberta for a total purchase price of approximately 

$538.4 million. 

• On March 25, 2021, Tamarack closed two separate agreements to acquire assets in the Northern 

Clearwater and Eyehill areas  in the Provost and Nipisi fields of Alberta. The assets include 

approximately 2,800 boe/d of low decline (~16%) oil weighted assets under waterflood, along with 

adding approximately 38,400 net acres in the Northern Clearwater oil play of Alberta for a total purchase 

price of approximately $147.2 million. 
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• On December 21, 2020, the Company completed two acquisitions of certain oil properties located in the 

Northern and Southern Clearwater areas in the Nipisi  and Jarvie fields of Alberta.  The assets include 

approximately 2,000 bbls/d of crude oil production in the Northern and Southern Clearwater oil plays 

supported by a high-quality oil drilling inventory and approximately 107,000 net acres of land, acquired 

for total cash consideration of $94.9 million.   

• The Company recorded an impairment reversal in Q4/21 in the amount of $90.0 million on the Viking oil 

CGU, Cardium oil CGU and Penny oil CGU due to increased current and forecasted oil and natural gas 

prices. The impairment reversal was recorded in the following CGUs: the Viking oil CGU reversed $52.3 

million, the Cardium oil CGU reversed $14.3 million and the Penny oil CGU reversed $23.4 million. 

• The Company recorded an impairment reversal in Q2/21 in the amount of $300.0 million on the Viking 

oil CGU and Cardium oil CGU due to increased current and forecasted oil and natural gas prices. The 

impairment reversal was recorded in the following CGUs: the Viking oil CGU reversed $160.0 million 

and the Cardium oil CGU reversed $140.0 million.  

• The Company recorded an impairment charge in Q4/20 in the amount of $18.0 million on our Penny oil 

CGU due to a reduction in the current quantities of recoverable proved and probable oil and natural gas 

reserves.  

• The Company recorded an impairment charge in Q1/20 in the amount of $381.0 million on our CGUs 

due to decreased current and forecasted oil and natural gas prices. The impairment charge was 

recorded in the following CGUs: the Viking oil CGU was impaired $235.0 million, the Cardium oil CGU 

was impaired $137.0 million, the Penny oil CGU was impaired $7.0 million and the minor gas CGU was 

impaired $2.0 million.  

Significant factors and trends that have impacted the Company’s results for the above Annual period include: 

• In Q4/19, the Company recorded an impairment charge on its Cardium oil CGU that has associated 

natural gas being produced with the oil and includes Mannville gas wells and a Pekisko gas unit, due to 

decreased current and forecasted natural gas prices in the amount of $68.0 million.  

Critical Accounting Estimates  

Management is required to make judgments, assumptions, and estimates in applying its accounting policies 

which have significant impact on the financial results of the Company. The following outlines the accounting 

policies involving the use of estimates that are critical to understanding the financial condition and results of 

operations of the Company: 

(a) Oil and natural gas reserves – Proved reserves, as defined by the Canadian Securities Administrators 

in NI 51-101 with reference to the Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook, are those reserves that 

can be estimated with a high degree of certainty to be recoverable. It is likely that the actual remaining 

quantities recovered will exceed the estimated proved reserves. Probable reserves are those additional 

reserves that are less certain to be recovered than proved reserves. It is likely that the actual remaining 

quantities recovered will be greater or less than the sum of the estimated proved and probable reserves.  

(b) Carrying value of property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) – PP&E is measured at cost less 

accumulated depletion, depreciation, amortization, impairment losses and impairment reversals. The 

net carrying value of PP&E and estimated future development costs is depleted using the unit-of-

production method based on estimated proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves. Changes in 

estimated proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves or future development costs have a direct 

impact on the calculation of depletion expense.  

The Company is required to use judgment when designating the nature of oil and gas activities as 

exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) assets or development and production assets within PP&E. E&E 
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assets and development and production assets are aggregated into CGUs based on their ability to 

generate largely independent cash inflows. The allocation of the Company’s assets into CGUs requires 

significant judgment with respect to the use of shared infrastructure, geographic proximity, existence of 

active markets for the Company’s products, the way in which management monitors operations and 

materiality. 

Significant management judgments are required to analyze the relevant external and internal indicators 

of impairment or impairment reversal for a CGU with the estimate of proved and probable oil and natural 

gas reserves and the related cash flows being significant to the assessment. 

The Company assesses PP&E for impairment or impairment reversal whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset or group of assets may not be recoverable. If 

any such indication of impairment or impairment reversal exists, the Company performs an impairment 

test related to the specific CGU. The determination of the estimated recoverable amount of a CGU is 

based on estimates of proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows. By 

their nature, these estimates of proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves and the related cash 

flows are subject to uncertainty including significant assumptions related to forecasted oil and natural 

gas commodity prices, forecasted production, forecasted production costs, forecasted royalty costs and 

forecasted future development costs and the impact on the financial statements of future periods could 

be material.  

The Company has considered the impact of the evolving worldwide demand for carbon-based energy 

and global advancement of alternative energy sources in its assessment of impairment and impairment 

reversal on its oil and gas properties, both as indicators of impairment and impairment reversal, and in 

the estimates and judgments involved in testing for impairment and impairment reversal. The estimated 

recoverable amount of the Company’s oil and gas properties was based on proved and probable 

reserves, the life of which is generally less than 20 years. However, the ultimate period in which global 

energy markets can transition from carbon-based sources to alternative energy is highly uncertain. The 

Company will continue to monitor its estimates as the global demand for alternative energy sources 

continues to evolve. 

(c) Decommissioning obligations – The decommissioning obligations are estimated based on existing 

laws, contracts or other policies. The fair value of the obligation is based on estimated future costs for 

abandonments and reclamations discounted at a risk-free rate. The costs are included in PP&E and 

amortized over the useful life of the asset. The liability is adjusted each reporting period to reflect the 

passage of time, with the accretion expense charged to net earnings, and for revisions to the estimated 

future cash flows. By their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty and the 

impact on the consolidated financial statements could be material.  

(d) Income taxes – The determination of income and other tax liabilities requires interpretation of complex 

laws and regulations often involving multiple jurisdictions. All tax filings are subject to audit and potential 

reassessment after the lapse of considerable time. Accordingly, the actual income tax liability may differ 

significantly from that estimated and recorded. 

(e) Business combinations – The application of the Company’s accounting policy for business 

combinations requires management to make certain judgments on a case-by-case basis as to the 

determination of the accounting method of an acquisition to determine if the assets acquired meet the 

definition of a business combination or an asset acquisition.  In a business combination, management 

makes estimates of the acquisition-date fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed which 

includes assessing the estimated fair value of oil and natural gas interests (included in property, plant 

and equipment).  The determination of the acquisition-date fair value of oil and natural gas interests 

involves significant estimates, including the estimate of proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves 

and the related cash flows and the discount rates.  The estimate of proved and probable oil and natural 
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gas reserves and the related cash flows includes significant assumptions related to forecasted oil and 

natural gas commodity prices, forecasted production, forecasted production costs, forecasted royalty 

costs and forecasted future development costs. The estimates of proved and probable oil and natural 

gas reserves and the related cash flows are prepared by the Company’s external independent qualified 

reserves evaluator or internal reserves evaluator.     

Disclosure Controls and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting  

The Company has designed disclosure controls and procedures (“DCP”) to provide reasonable assurance 

that: (i) material information relating to the Company is made known to the Company’s CEO and CFO by 

others, particularly during the period in which the annual and interim filings are being prepared; and (ii) 

information required to be disclosed by the Company in our annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed 

or submitted under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time 

period specified in securities legislation.  

The Company has designed internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”) to provide reasonable assurance 

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 

in accordance with IFRS. The Company is required to disclose herein any change in the Company’s ICFR that 

occurred during the recent fiscal period that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, 

the Company’s ICFR.  

The Company established procedures for remote working and opened the corporate head office on a limited 

and intermittent basis during the period. Working from home required certain processes and controls that were 

previously done or documented manually to be completed and retained in electronic form. The changes 

required by the current environment resulted in no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls 

during the period ended December 31, 2021 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially 

affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. As a result, the Company’s DCP and ICFR were 

effective as at December 31, 2021. It should be noted that a control system, including the Company’s 

disclosure and internal controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived, can provide only reasonable, 

but not absolute assurance that the objectives of the control system will be met, and it should not be expected 

that the disclosure and internal controls and procedures will prevent all errors or fraud. 

Business Risks 

Tamarack faces business risks, both known and unknown, with respect to its oil and gas exploration, 

development, and production activities that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from those 

forecasts. Most of these risks (financial, operational or regulatory) are not within the Company’s control. While 

the following sections discuss some of these risks, they should not be construed as exhaustive. For additional 

information on the risks relating to Tamarack’s business, see “Risk Factors” in Tamarack’s Annual Information 

Form for the year ended December 31, 2021. 

(a) Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic 

Tamarack’s business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely 

affected by the outbreak of epidemics, pandemics and other public health crises in geographic areas in 

which it has operations, suppliers, customers or employees, including the global outbreak of COVID-19. 

The COVID-19 pandemic, given its severity, scale, duration and rapid evolution, and actions that may 

be taken by governmental authorities in response thereto, has resulted, and may continue to result in, 

among other things: increased volatility in financial markets and foreign currency exchange rates; 

disruptions to global supply chains; labour shortages; reductions in trade volumes; temporary 

operational restrictions and restrictions on gatherings greater than a certain number of individuals, 
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shelter in place declarations and quarantine orders, business closures and travel bans; an overall 

slowdown in the global economy; political and economic instability; and civil unrest. In particular, the 

COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in, and may continue to result in, a reduction in the demand for, and 

prices of, commodities that are closely linked to Tamarack’s financial performance, including oil, natural 

gas and NGL, and also increases the risk that storage for oil could reach capacity in certain geographic 

locations in which Tamarack operates. A prolonged period of decreased demand for, and prices of, 

these commodities, and any applicable storage constraints, has resulted in, and may continue to result 

in, the Company shutting-in production, which could adversely impact the Company’s business, financial 

condition and results of operations. 

The Company is also subject to risks relating to the health and safety of its personnel, as well as the 

potential for a slowdown or temporary suspension of its operations in locations impacted by an outbreak, 

increased labour and fuel costs and regulatory changes. Tamarack has implemented health and safety 

measures at Tamarack’s facilities and offices to limit the risk of transmission of COVID-19. Additionally, 

Tamarack follows posted health guidelines, as and when posted, to protect the health of its employees 

and decrease the potential impact of serious illness, including COVID-19, on its operations. However, 

should an employee of, or visitor to, any of Tamarack’s facilities or offices become infected with COVID-

19, it could place Tamarack’s entire workforce at risk, which could result in the suspension of operations 

at one or more of Tamarack’s facilities. Such a suspension in operations could also be mandated by 

governmental authorities in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, and outbreaks of variant strains of 

the virus. This would negatively impact Tamarack’s production for a sustained period of time, which 

could adversely impact its business, financial condition and results of operations.  

In addition, the disruption and volatility in global capital markets that has resulted, and may continue to 

result, from the COVID-19 pandemic could increase the Company’s cost of capital and adversely affect 

the Company’s ability to access the capital markets on a timely basis, or at all. 

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to rapidly evolve and the full impact on the Company’s business, 

financial condition and results of operations, as well as the Company’s future capital expenditures and 

other discretionary items, will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot 

be predicted with any degree of confidence, including: the geographic spread of the virus; the duration 

and extent of the pandemic, the spread of new variant strains of the virus, further actions that may be 

taken by governmental authorities, including in respect of social and travel restrictions and business 

disruptions; the severity of the disease; the effectiveness of actions taken to contain the virus and treat 

the disease, including access to effective vaccines, domestic and global vaccination rates; and the ability 

of business to resume regular operations. To the extent that the COVID-19 pandemic continues to 

adversely affect Tamarack’s business, financial condition and results of operations, it may also have the 

effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this MD&A and Tamarack’s Annual Information 

Form for the year ended December 31, 2021.  

(b) Continued Volatility in Commodity and Petroleum Products Prices  

Tamarack’s financial performance is significantly dependent on the prevailing prices of crude oil, refined 

products and natural gas. Crude oil prices are impacted by a number of factors, including, but not limited 

to: global and regional supply and demand; global economic conditions including factors impacting 

global trade and disruption of trade routes; the actions of OPEC and other non-OPEC oil exporting 

nations, including, but not limited to, compliance or non-compliance with production quotas agreed upon 

by OPEC members or decisions by OPEC not to impose production quotas on its members; 

development, adoption, pricing and availability of alternate sources of energy; actions of domestic and 

foreign governments, regulatory bodies and quasi-regulatory bodies that may impact commodity prices; 

enforcement of environmental or emissions regulations; public sentiment towards the use of fossil fuels, 

including crude oil; political stability and social conditions in oil-producing countries; outbreak of war; 
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market access constraints and transportation interruptions (pipeline, marine or rail); outbreak or 

continuation of a pandemic; terrorist threats; technological developments; the occurrence of natural 

disasters; and weather conditions. 

In the first half of 2020, the price of oil and other petroleum products deteriorated significantly as a result 

of the rapid spread of the COVID-19 pandemic. Commodity prices remained under pressure throughout 

2020, and into the first half of 2021, with additional crude oil supply coming on-stream as a result of 

actions taken by OPEC and non-OPEC oil and gas exporting countries to set and maintain increased 

production levels, causing increased volatility in commodity prices. Since the second half of 2021, the 

crude oil market has responded positively as the OPEC+ alliance unwinds cuts as part of the output 

recovery scheme in conjunction with a gradual global economic recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic; 

however, the potential for volatility in crude oil demand and supply remains. The overall result of these 

events and conditions could lead to a prolonged period of volatile prices for oil and other petroleum 

products. Similar to the risks and uncertainties outlined above under “Impact of the COVID-19 

Pandemic”, price volatility could result in reduced utilization and/or the suspension of operations at 

certain of the Company’s facilities, buyers of the Company’s products declaring force majeure and 

disruptions of pipeline and other transportation systems for the Company’s products, which would further 

negatively impact Tamarack’s production, and could adversely impact Tamarack’s business, financial 

condition and results of operations.  

The events and conditions in the first half of 2020 also caused significant decreases in the valuation of 

oil and natural gas companies and a decrease in confidence in the oil and natural gas industry. While 

the recovery in oil demand as a result of the easing of COVID-19 restrictions, combined with a prudent 

supply policy implemented by the OPEC+ alliance, has resulted in crude oil prices recovering to pre-

pandemic levels, the extent and duration of this recovery remains uncertain. These difficulties have been 

exacerbated in Canada by political and other actions resulting in uncertainty surrounding regulatory, tax, 

royalty changes and environmental regulation. In addition, the difficulties encountered by midstream 

proponents to obtain the necessary approvals on a timely basis to build pipelines, liquefied natural gas 

plants and other facilities to provide better access to markets for the oil and natural gas industry in 

western Canada has led to additional downward price pressure on oil and natural gas produced in 

western Canada. The overall impact of these market conditions and the potential for decreased 

confidence in the Canadian crude oil and natural gas industry could materially and adversely affect 

Tamarack’s business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

(c) Environmental and Climate Change Risk 

As a result of growing international concern in respect of climate change, Tamarack has seen a 

significant increase in focus on the transition to alternative, lower-carbon energy sources. Governments, 

financial institutions, insurance companies, environmental and governance organizations, institutional 

investors, social and environmental activists, and individuals, are increasingly seeking to develop and 

implement, among other things, regulatory and policy changes, changes in investment strategies and 

habits, and a restructuring of energy consumption profiles, which, individually and collectively are 

intended to or have the effect of accelerating the transition to less carbon-intensive energy sources and 

the reduction in global consumption of fossil fuels. Overall, Tamarack is not able to estimate at this time 

the degree to which climate change related consumer behaviour, regulatory, climatic conditions, and 

climate-related transition risks could impact the Company’s business, financial condition and results of 

operations.  

Climate change may have actual or perceived adverse impacts on the Company’s operations, business, 

and financial results, including an increase in the frequency of extreme climatic conditions. Weather and 

climate affect demand for crude oil and gas, and therefore, the predictability of weather and climate 

affects the Company’s ability to accurately forecast supply and demand. In addition, the Company’s 
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operations, including exploration, production and construction operations, and the operations of major 

customers, suppliers and service providers, can be affected by acute and chronic physical climate risks, 

such as floods, forest fires, earthquakes, hurricanes, landslides, mudslides, and other extreme weather 

events, natural disasters or long-term shifts in weather patterns. This may result in cessation or 

diminishment of production, delay of exploration and development activities or delay in executing the 

Company’s capital expenditure plans, which may require the Company to adopt increased or additional 

mitigation requirements 

Growing concerns over climate change have also led to an increase in climate and environment-centric 

disputes and litigation in various jurisdictions, including at a Federal and Provincial level, alleging various 

claims and registering complaints, including that energy producers contribute to climate change, that 

such entities are not reasonably managing business risks associated with climate change, and that such 

entities have not adequately disclosed business risks of climate change. While many such climate 

change related actions are in preliminary stages of litigation, and in some cases raise novel or untested 

issues and causes of action, the risk that legal, societal, scientific and political developments will 

increase the likelihood of successful climate change related litigation against energy producers remains 

uncertain. The outcome and ramifications of any such litigation is uncertain and may materially impact 

the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations. The Company may also be subject 

to negative or damaging publicity associated with such matters, which may adversely affect the public 

sentiment and the Company’s reputation, regardless of whether the Company is ultimately found 

responsible for claims alleged. We may be required to incur significant expenses or devote significant 

resources in defense against any such litigation. 

Financial Risks 

Financial risks include commodity pricing, exchange and interest rates and volatile markets.  

Commodity price fluctuations result from market forces completely out of the Company’s control and can 

significantly affect the Company’s financial results. In addition, fluctuations between the Canadian dollar and 

the US dollar can also have a significant impact. Expenses are all incurred in Canadian dollars while oil, and 

to some extent natural gas, prices are based on reference prices denominated in US dollars. Due to both of 

these factors, Tamarack may enter into derivative instruments to partially mitigate the effects of downward 

price and foreign exchange volatility. To evaluate the need for hedging, management, with direction from the 

Board of Directors, monitors future pricing trends together with the cash flow necessary to fulfill capital 

expenditure requirements. Tamarack will only enter into a hedge to reduce downside uncertainty of pricing, 

not as a speculative venture. 

Operational Risks 

Oil and natural gas operations involve many risks that even a combination of experience, knowledge and 

careful evaluation may not be able to overcome. The long-term commercial success of Tamarack depends on 

its ability to find, acquire, develop and commercially produce oil and natural gas reserves. Without the continual 

addition of new reserves, existing reserves and their subsequent production will decline over time as they are 

exploited. A future increase in Tamarack’s reserves will depend not only on its ability to explore and develop 

any properties it may have, but also on its ability to select and acquire suitable producing properties or 

prospects. No assurance can be given that further commercial quantities of oil and natural gas will be 

discovered or acquired by Tamarack. 

Tamarack endeavors to mitigate these risks by, among other things, ensuring that its employees are highly 

qualified and motivated. Prior to initiating capital projects, the Tamarack technical team completes an 

economic analysis, which attempts to reflect the risks involved in successfully completing the project. In an 
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effort to mitigate the risk of not finding new reserves, or of finding reserves that are not economically viable, 

Tamarack utilizes various technical tools, such as 2D and 3D seismic data, rock sample analysis and the latest 

drilling and completions technology.  

Insurance is in place to protect against major asset destruction or business interruptions, and includes, but is 

not limited to, events such as well blow-outs or pollution. In addition, Tamarack cultivates relationships with its 

suppliers in an effort to ensure good service regardless of the prevailing cycle of oil and gas activity. 

Operational risk is mitigated by having Tamarack employees address the continued development of a new or 

established reservoir on a go-forward basis, using the same procedure that is used to address exploration risk. 

The decision to produce reserves is made based on the amount of capital required, production practices and 

reservoir quality. Tamarack evaluates reservoir development based on the timing, amount of additional capital 

required and the expected change in production values. Finding and development costs are controlled when 

capital is employed in a cost-effective manner. 

Regulatory Risks 

Regulatory risks include the possibility of changes to royalty, tax, environmental, safety, and public disclosure 

and reporting legislation. Tamarack endeavours to anticipate the costs related to compliance and budget 

sensibly for them. Changes to environmental and safety legislation may also cause delays to Tamarack’s 

drilling plans, its production efficiencies and may adversely affect its future earnings. The Company’s 

exploration and production activities emit greenhouse gasses“ ("GHG") which may require Tamarack to comply 

with federal and/or provincial GHG emissions legislation. Climate change policy is evolving at regional, national 

and international levels, and political and economic events may significantly affect the scope and timing of 

climate change measures that are ultimately put in place to prevent climate change or mitigate its effects. The 

direct or indirect costs of compliance with GHG-related regulations may have a material adverse effect on 

Tamarack’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Restrictive new legislation is a 

risk the Company cannot control. 

The ISSB is expected to develop globally consistent, comparable and reliable standards for disclosing and 

reporting ESG and climate-related metrics. As at December 31, 2021, the ISSB has not issued any new 

sustainability disclosure standards or exposure drafts. In addition, the Canadian Securities Administrators have 

issued a proposed NI 51-107 Disclosure of Climate-related Matters. The cost to implement and comply with 

these standards, and others, that may be developed or evolved over time, has not yet been quantified. 

Forward-Looking Statements 

Certain statements contained within this MD&A constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of 

applicable Canadian securities legislation. All statements other than statements of historical fact may be 

forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of 

words such as “anticipate”, “budget”, “plan”, “endeavour”, “continue”, “estimate”, “evaluate”, “expect”, 

“forecast”, “monitor”, “may”, “will”, “can”, “able”, “potential”, “target”, “intend”, “consider”, “focus”, “identify”, 

“use”, “utilize”, “manage”, “maintain”, “remain”, “result”, “cultivate”, “could”, “should”, “believe”, “strive” and 

similar expressions or the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology. The Company believes 

that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, but no assurance can be 

given that such expectations will prove to be correct and such forward-looking statements should not be unduly 

relied upon. 
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Without limitation, this MD&A contains forward-looking statements pertaining to: 

• the intentions of management and the Company; 

• the Company’s commitment to maintaining financial flexibility and liquidity; 

• the Company’s business strategy, objectives, strength and focus, including with respect to acquisitions; 

• the effects of the Company’s acquisitions on the Company’s strategy, land holdings and profitability, 

including, but not limited to, the Anegada acquisition, the Crestwynd acquisition, and the various 

acquisitions of Northern and Southern Clearwater assets; 

• the implementation of the Nipisi gas conservation project and the objectives thereof; 

• the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company’s and governmental authorities’ current and planned responses 

thereto and the impact thereof on, without limitation, the Company in particular, including the Company’s 

capital expenditure plans, and the oil and gas industry in general; 

• uncertainty regarding the full impact of COVID-19 on global economies, oil demand and commodity 

prices, and the timing of full economic recovery related to the COVID-19 pandemic; 

• applications and grants under the Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy (“CEWS”), Alberta Site 

Rehabilitation Program (“SRP”), Saskatchewan Accelerated Site Closure Program (“ASCP”) programs, 

the Federal Emissions Reduction Fund (“ERF”), the Alberta Methane Technology Information Program 

(“MTIP”), including estimates of expected funding, and repayment timing thereof, as applicable; 

• the Company’s commitment to advancing ESG practices, managing greenhouse gas emissions and to 

continued Indigenous and community partnerships in the areas where it operates; 

• the potential impact of ESG disclosure and reporting policies and standards imposed by the ISSB and 

proposed NI 51-107;  

• expectations regarding the estimated recoverable amount of the Company’s oil and gas properties, 

royalty rates as a percentage of revenue, and committed capital spending to develop the GORR lands 

and timing thereof; 

• expectations relating to future realized commodity prices, volatile commodity prices, royalty rates and 

oil price differentials and the effects thereof, including with respect to revenue, earnings and stability to 

oil pricing; 

• the Company’s diversification strategy, including the Company’s third-party gas sales contracts, and the 

effects thereof on risk mitigation, price exposure and realized price improvements; 

• the Company’s financial and physical hedging program, including the use of financial derivatives and 

physical delivery contracts to manage fluctuations in commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, and 

interest rates, and the effects thereof on cash flow risk and commodity pricing upside; 

• any purchases under the NCIB program; 

• the Company’s plans in respect of returns of capital, including base dividend and enhanced return 

programs; 

• expectations regarding the Company’s ability to satisfy its 2022 development capital program and 

dividend payments for the 2022 fiscal year through available credit facilities combined with anticipated 

adjusted funds flow; 

• the availability, size, terms, use and renewal of the Company’s SLL Facility, including the various lending 

vehicles used by the Company from time to time, and the terms thereof; 

• the projected impact of the LIBOR benchmark transition on the Company under the SLL Facility; 

• management’s expectations regarding the Company’s ability to conform to its financial covenants; 

• expectations relating to cash tax, tax pools, and deferred tax assets, including in respect of deferred 

income tax; 
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• future RSU and PSU settlements; 

• the Company’s head office sublease, as amended or extended, and the terms thereof; 

• contractual obligations and commitments;  

• estimates used to calculate decommissioning obligations and depletion of PP&E; and 

• expectations regarding the merits and the outcome of ongoing litigation. 

With respect to the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A, Tamarack has made assumptions 

regarding, among other things: 

• future commodity prices, price differentials and the actual prices received for the Company’s products; 

• expected net production expenses and transportation expenses; 

• estimated proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves; 

• the effects of heavy volume apportionment and fluctuating diluent costs on the heavy oil market in 

Alberta; 

• the ability to obtain equipment and services in the field in a timely and efficient manner; 

• the ability to add production and reserves through acquisition and/or drilling at competitive prices; 

• the timing of anticipated future production additions from the Company’s properties and acquisitions; 

• the realization of anticipated benefits of acquisitions, including the acquisitions and the related drilling 

programs; 

• the ability to explore and realize benefits from exposure to diversified gas markets; 

• drilling results, including field production rates and decline rates; 

• the performance of the waterflood projects; 

• the continued application of horizontal drilling and fracturing techniques and pad drilling; 

• the continued availability of capital and skilled personnel; 

• the ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms; 

• the accuracy of Tamarack’s geological interpretation of its drilling and land opportunities, including the 

ability of seismic activity to enhance such interpretation; 

• the impact of increasing competition; 

• the ability of the Company to secure adequate product transportation; 

• the ability to enter into future commodity derivative contracts on acceptable terms; 

• the continuation of the current tax, royalty and regulatory regime; 

• the volatility in commodity prices and oil price differentials and the resulting effect on Tamarack’s 

revenue, cash provided by operating activities, adjusted funds flows and earnings; 

• the actions of OPEC and non-OPEC oil and gas exporting countries to set production levels and the 

influence thereof on oil prices and global demand; 

• the ability to adjust capital spending relative to commodity prices and use financial derivatives and 

physical delivery contracts to manage fluctuations in commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and 

interest rates; 

• the ability to maintain financial flexibility;  

• Tamarack’s ability to execute its plans in response to the COVID-19 pandemic; and 

• The impact of inflation on costs.   

Since forward-looking statements and information address future events and conditions, by their very nature 

they involve inherent risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from those currently 

anticipated or implied by such forward-looking statements due to a number of factors and risks. These include: 
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• the material uncertainties and risks described under the headings “Unit Cost Calculation”, “Non-IFRS 

Financial Measures”, “Critical Accounting Estimates”, “Disclosure Controls and Internal Controls over 

Financial Reporting”, “Business Risks”, “Financial Risks”, “Operational Risks” and “Regulatory Risks”;  

• the material assumptions and observations described under the headings “Operational and Financial 

Highlights”, “COVID-19 Response”, “Sustainability”, “Production”, “Petroleum and Natural Gas Sales”, 

“Royalties”, “Net Production Expenses”, “Transportation Expense”, “Operating Netback”, “General and 

Administrative (“G&A”) Expenses”, “Stock-Based Compensation Expense”, “Finance Expense”, 

“Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization (“DD&A”)”, “Impairment (Impairment Reversal) of Property, 

Plant and Equipment”, “Income Taxes”, “Adjusted Funds Flow and Net Income (Loss)”, “Capital 

Expenditures (Including Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures)”, “Acquisitions and Dispositions”, 

“Share Capital”, “Liquidity and Capital Resources”, “Bank Debt”, “Commitments”, “Contingency” and 

“Selected Quarterly Information”; 

• the COVID-19 pandemic and the impact on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of 

operations; 

• the risks associated with the oil and gas industry in general, such as operational risks in development, 

exploration and production and including continued weakness and volatility in commodity prices and 

petroleum product prices; 

• the actions of OPEC and non-OPEC oil and gas exporting countries to set production levels and the 

influence thereof on oil prices and global demand; 

• delays or changes in plans with respect to exploration or development projects or capital expenditures; 

• volatility in market prices for oil and natural gas; 

• uncertainties associated with estimating proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves and the ability 

of the Company to realize value from its properties; 

• geological, technical, drilling and processing problems;  

• facility and pipeline capacity constraints and access to processing facilities and to markets for 

production;  

• fluctuations in foreign exchange or interest rates and stock market volatility; 

• credit worthiness of counterparties to commodity, foreign exchange and interest rate contracts; 

• increased borrowing costs due to increased lending rates from prime rate increase, negative changes 

to financial metrics evaluated under Sustainable Credit Facility sustainability performance targets and/or 

decreased ESG performance as determined by a third-party rating agency; 

• marketing and transportation;  

• prevailing weather and break-up conditions; 

• environmental risks; 

• competition for, among other things, capital, acquisition of reserves, undeveloped lands and skilled 

personnel;  

• net production costs,  transportation costs and future development costs; 

• the ability to access sufficient capital from internal and external sources; 

• changes in tax, royalty and environmental legislation and any government policy;  

• any legal proceedings, the results thereof and the impact on the Company’s business, financial condition 

and results of operations; 

• changes in the political landscape, both domestically and abroad; and 

• increased operating and capital costs due to inflationary pressures (actual and anticipated).   
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Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of risk factors is not exhaustive. The risk factors above should be 

considered in the context of current economic conditions, increased supply resulting from evolving exploitation 

methods, the attitude of lenders and investors towards corporations in the energy industry, potential changes 

to royalty and taxation regimes and to environmental and other government regulations, the condition of 

financial markets generally, as well as the stability of joint venture and other business partners, all of which 

are outside the control of the Company. Also, to be considered are increased levels of political uncertainty and 

possible changes to existing international trading agreements and relationships. Legal challenges to asset 

ownership, limitations to rights of access and adequacy of pipelines or alternative methods of getting 

production to market may also have a significant effect on the Company’s business. Additional information on 

these and other factors that could affect the business, operations or financial results of Tamarack are included 

in reports on file with applicable securities regulatory authorities, including but not limited to Tamarack’s Annual 

Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2021 , which may be accessed on Tamarack’s SEDAR 

profile www.sedar.com or on the Company’s website at www.tamarackvalley.ca.  

This MD&A contains future-oriented financial information and financial outlook information (collectively, “FOFI”) 

about Tamarack’s prospective results of operations, production, free funds flow, net debt, net debt to 

annualized adjusted funds flow, corporate decline rates, royalty rates and components thereof, all of which are 

subject to the same assumptions, risk factors, limitations and qualifications as set forth in the above paragraphs 

and the assumptions outlined under “Non–IFRS Financial Measures, Non-IFRS Financial Ratios, and Capital 

Management Measures”, and should not be used for purposes other than those for which it is disclosed herein. 

Tamarack and its management believe that the prospective financial information has been prepared on a 

reasonable basis, reflecting management's best estimates and judgments, and represent, to the best of 

management's knowledge and opinion, Tamarack's expected course of action. However, because this 

information is highly subjective, it should not be relied on as necessarily indicative of future activities or results. 

The forward-looking statements and FOFI contained in this MD&A, as defined by Canadian securities 

legislation,  are approved by management as of the date hereof and Tamarack undertakes no obligation to 

update publicly or revise any forward-looking statements, forward-looking information or FOFI whether as a 

result of new information, future events or otherwise, unless so required by applicable securities laws. The 

forward-looking statements and FOFI contained herein are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement.

http://www.tamarackvalley.ca/
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Tamarack Valley Energy Ltd. 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tamarack Valley Energy Ltd. (the 

“Company”), which comprise: 

• the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 

• the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) for 

the years then ended 

• the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then 

ended 

• the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended 

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 

the consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2021 and December 

31, 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 

years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021.  
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These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 

whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 

these matters. 

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be 

communicated in our auditors’ report. 

Assessment of the recoverable amount of the Viking oil, Cardium oil and 

Penny oil cash-generating units 

Description of the matter 

We draw attention to note 2, note 3 and note 9 to the financial statements. The Company 

assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that each of the Company’s 

cash-generating units (“CGUs”) may be impaired or that historical impairment may be 

reversed. Significant management judgments are required to analyze the relevant external 

and internal indicators of impairment or impairment reversal, and whether impairment testing 

is required. If any such indicators exist, then the recoverable amount is estimated. The 

Company identified an indicator of impairment reversal at December 31, 2021 in each of the 

Viking oil, Cardium oil and Penny oil CGUs and performed an impairment test to estimate 

the recoverable amount of each of these CGUs. The Company has recorded an aggregate 

impairment reversal of $390.0 million related these CGUs for the year ended December 31, 

2021. 

The estimated recoverable amount of each CGU involves significant estimates, including: 

• The estimate of proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves and the related 

cash flows 

• The discount rates. 

The estimate of proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows 

includes significant assumptions related to: 

• Forecasted oil and natural gas commodity prices 

• Forecasted production 

• Forecasted production costs 

• Forecasted royalty costs 

• Forecasted future development costs. 

The estimated proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows 

are evaluated by external independent qualified reserves evaluators at least annually. 

Why the matter is a key audit matter 

We identified the assessment of the recoverable amount of the Viking oil, Cardium oil and 

Penny oil CGUs as a key audit matter. Significant auditor judgment was required to evaluate 

the results of our audit procedures regarding the estimate of proved and probable oil and 

natural gas reserves and the related cash flows and the discount rates. 
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How the matter was addressed in the audit 

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter: 

With respect to the estimate of proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves and the 

related cash flows: 

• We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external 

independent qualified reserves evaluator engaged by the Company 

• We compared the forecasted oil and natural gas commodity prices to those 

published by other external independent qualified reserves evaluators 

• We compared the 2021 actual production, production costs, royalty costs and 

development costs of the Company to those estimates used in the prior year’s 

estimate of proved oil and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows to assess 

the Company’s ability to accurately forecast 

• We evaluated the appropriateness of forecasted production and forecasted 

production costs, royalty costs and future development costs assumptions by 

comparing to 2021 historical results. We took into account changes in conditions 

and events affecting the Company to assess the adjustments or lack of adjustments 

made by the Company in arriving at the assumptions. 

We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in: 

• Evaluating the appropriateness of the Company’s discount rates by comparing the 

discount rates to market and other external data 

• Assessing the reasonableness of the Company’s estimate of the recoverable 

amount of each CGU by comparing the Company’s estimate to market metrics and 

other external data. 

Evaluation of the acquisition-date fair value of oil and natural gas interests of 

Anegada Oil Corp. 

Description of the matter  

We draw attention to note 2, note 3, note 4 and note 7 to the financial statements. The 

Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Anegada Oil Corp. 

on June 1, 2021 (the “acquisition-date”) for total consideration of $538.4 million (the 

“Acquisition”). In connection with the Acquisition, the Company recorded oil and natural gas 

interests with an estimated acquisition-date fair value of $677.7 million.  

The determination of the acquisition-date fair value of oil and natural gas interests involves 

significant estimates, including: 

• The estimate of proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves and the related 

cash flows 

• The discount rates.  

The estimate of proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows 

includes significant assumptions related to: 
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• Forecasted oil and natural gas commodity prices 

• Forecasted production 

• Forecasted production costs 

• Forecasted royalty costs 

• Forecasted future development costs. 

For purposes of estimating the acquisition-date fair value of the oil and natural gas interests, 

the Company’s internal reserves evaluator provided an estimate of proved and probable oil 

and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows.  

Why the matter is a key audit matter 

We identified the evaluation of the acquisition-date fair value of oil and natural gas interests 

of Anegada Oil Corp. as a key audit matter. Significant auditor judgment was required to 

evaluate the results of our audit procedures regarding the estimate of proved and probable 

oil and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows and the discount rates.  

How the matter was addressed in the audit 

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter: 

With respect to the estimate of proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves and the 

related cash flows as at the acquisition-date: 

• We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the internal reserves 

evaluator 

• We compared the forecasted oil and natural gas commodity prices to those 

published by other external independent qualified reserves evaluators 

• We evaluated the appropriateness of forecasted production and forecasted 

production costs, royalty costs and future development costs assumptions by 

comparing to corresponding amounts in the proved and probable oil and gas 

reserves and the related cash flows estimated by the external independent qualified 

reserves evaluators as at December 31, 2021. We took into account changes in 

conditions and events affecting the Company to assess the adjustments or lack of 

adjustments between the acquisition-date and December 31, 2021. 

With respect to the estimate of proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves and the 

related cash flows as at December 31, 2021: 

• We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external 

independent qualified reserves evaluator engaged by the Company 

• We compared the forecasted oil and natural gas commodity prices to those 

published by other external independent qualified reserves evaluators 

• We evaluated the appropriateness of forecasted production and forecasted 

production costs, royalty costs and future development costs assumptions by 

comparing to 2021 historical results. We took into account changes in conditions 

and events affecting the Company to assess the adjustments or lack of adjustments 

made by the Company in arriving at the assumptions. 
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We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in: 

• Evaluating the appropriateness of the Company’s discount rates by comparing the 

discount rates to market and other external data 

• Assessing the reasonableness of the Company’s estimate of the acquisition-date 

fair value of oil and natural gas interests by comparing the Company’s estimate to 

market metrics and other external data. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises the 

information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant 

Canadian Securities Commissions. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 

and remain alert for indications that the other information appears to be materially misstated. 

We obtained the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with 

the relevant Canadian Securities Commissions as at the date of this auditors’ report. If, 

based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is 

a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in the 

auditors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 

Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued 

by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and for such internal control as 

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 

to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 

either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 

but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial 

reporting process. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 

an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 

detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 

the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 

exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 

for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 

of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis 

of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 

related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 

to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause 

the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 

any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

• Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with 

them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 

our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

• Determine, from the matters communicated with those charged with governance, 

those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements 

of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 

matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 

about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 

matter should not be communicated in our auditors’ report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 

interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditors’ report is Brad William 

Robertson. 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Calgary, Canada 
March 3, 2022 
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TAMARACK VALLEY ENERGY LTD. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets         
(thousands)         

                  December 31,   December 31, 
    2021   2020 

 
     

Assets      
 

     
Current assets:      

Accounts receivable (note 5)  $79,904  $30,781 
Prepaid expenses and deposits  7,829  1,265 
Fair value of financial instruments (note 5)   –  981 

    87,733   33,027 
 

     
Fair value of financial instruments (note 5)  77   – 
Property, plant and equipment (note 7, 8 and 9)  2,236,535  943,430 
Exploration and evaluation assets (note 10)  3,808  1,460 
Deferred tax asset (note 15)   –  49,683 

 
     

    $2,328,153   $1,027,600 
 

     

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity     
 

     
Current liabilities:      

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $72,188  $38,903 
Lease liabilities (note 13)  3,600  2,484 
Decommissioning obligations (note 11)  5,298  6,000 
Cross-currency swap (note 16)  292  1,597 
Fair value of financial instruments (note 5)   13,146   9,942 

    94,524   58,926 

      
Bank debt (note 16)  477,437  210,857 
Lease liabilities (note 13)  6,932  7,670 
Fair value of financial instruments (note 5)  17  1,192 
Decommissioning obligations (note 11)  279,174  239,437 
Other liability (note 21 and 22)  1,100   – 
Deferred tax liability (note 15)   208,344    – 

    1,067,528   518,082 

      
Shareholders’ equity:      

Share capital (note 18)  1,242,392  876,124 
Treasury shares (note 18)  (3,336)  (703) 
Contributed surplus  48,311  51,347 
Deficit   (26,742)   (417,250) 

  1,260,625   509,518 
Subsequent events (note 5 and 24)      
Commitments (note 22)      
Contingency (note 23)      
    $2,328,153   $1,027,600 
          

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.   

 

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors: 

  (signed)      (signed) 

  John Rooney                   John Leach              
  Director                                                                                      Director   
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TAMARACK VALLEY ENERGY LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020   

(thousands, except per share amounts)        

      
   

  2021 2020    

    
   

Revenue:    
   

   Oil and natural gas (note 6) $698,572 $220,896    

   Processing income (note 6) 2,479 1,177    

   Royalties  (102,132) (24,540)    

Net revenue 598,919 197,533    

Financial instrument contracts:    
   

   Realized gain (loss) on financial instruments (note 5) (80,723) 32,936    

   Unrealized gain (loss) on financial instruments (note 5) 6,676 (6,067)    

Net revenue and gains (losses) on financial instruments 524,872 224,402    

    
   

Expenses:    
   

   Production 117,957 78,893    

   Transportation 20,457 7,622    

   General and administration 18,039 11,082    

   Transaction costs (note 7) 8,110  –    

   Stock-based compensation (note 20) 5,970 5,500    

   Finance (note 17) 26,340 12,635    

   Depletion, depreciation and amortization (note 8 and 10) 212,337 120,658    

   Gain on disposition of property, plant and equipment (note 7 and 8) (8,739) (10,665)    

   Site rehabilitation program grant (note 11 and 21) (5,365) (1,395)    

   Impairment (reversal) of property, plant and equipment (note 8 and 9) (390,000) 399,000    

  5,106 623,330    

    
   

Income (loss) before taxes 519,766 (398,928)    

    
   

Deferred income tax recovery (expense) (note 15) (129,258) 87,544    

         

Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) $390,508 $(311,384)    

    
   

Net income (loss) per share (note 19):    
   

Basic $ 1.10 $(1.40)    

Diluted $ 1.08 $(1.40)    

         

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.    
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TAMARACK VALLEY ENERGY LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity 

(thousands)             

              

 Number of      

 common shares,     Total 

  
net of treasury 

shares 
Share capital 

Treasury 
shares 

Contributed 
surplus 

                     
Deficit 

Shareholders' 
equity 

              

Balance at December 31, 2019 222,793 $832,799 $(969) $47,811 $(105,866) $773,775 

Issue of common shares 40,925 47,064  –  –  – $47,064 

Purchase of common shares for cancellation (664) (2,551)  – 1,262  – (1,289) 

Purchase of common shares for RSU exercise (3,641)  – (3,857)  –  – (3,857) 

RSU exercise 3,363  – 4,123 (4,123)  –  – 

Share issue costs, net of tax of $368  – (1,188)  –  –  – (1,188) 

Stock-based compensation  –  –  – 6,397  – 6,397 

Net loss  –  –  –  – (311,384) (311,384) 

Balance at December 31, 2020 262,776 $876,124 $(703) $51,347 $(417,250) $509,518 

              

       

Balance at December 31, 2020 262,776 $876,124 $(703) $51,347 $(417,250) $509,518 

Issue of common shares 143,564 365,427  –  –  – 365,427 

Purchase of common shares for RSU and PSU 
exercise 

(4,238)  – (12,983)  –  – (12,983) 

RSU and PSU exercise 4,047  – 10,350 (10,350)  –  – 

Transfer on option exercise  – 1,023  – (1,023)  –  – 

Option exercise 482 1,623  –  –  – 1,623 

Preferred shares settlement 307 1,104  – (381)  – 723 

Share issue costs, net of tax of $869  – (2,909)  –  –  – (2,909) 

Stock-based compensation  –  –  – 8,718  – 8,718 

Net income  –  –  –  – 390,508 390,508 

Balance at December 31, 2021 406,938 $1,242,392 $(3,336) $48,311 $(26,742) $1,260,625 
              

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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TAMARACK VALLEY ENERGY LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows        

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020   

(thousands) 
    

   

         

  2021 2020    

Cash provided by (used in):    
   

    
   

Operating:    
   

Net income (loss) $390,508 $(311,384)    

    
   

       Depletion, depreciation and amortization (note 8 and 10) 212,337 120,658    

       Stock-based compensation (note 20) 5,970 5,500    

       Gain on disposition of property, plant and equipment (note 7 and 8) (8,739) (10,665)    

       Site rehabilitation program grant (note 11 and 21) (5,365) (1,395)    

       Accretion expense on decommissioning obligations (note 11) 4,895 2,573    

       Unrealized loss (gain) on financial instruments (note 5) (6,676) 6,067    

       Unrealized loss on foreign exchange 1,266 1,249    

       Unrealized gain on cross-currency swap (note 17) (1,305) (1,311)    

       Impairment (reversal) of property, plant and equipment (note 8 and 9) (390,000) 399,000    

       Deferred income tax expense (recovery) (note 15) 129,258 (87,544)    

       Abandonment expenditures (note 11) (4,466) (3,825)    

       Changes in non-cash working capital (note 14) (29,789) 6,367    

Cash provided by operating activities 297,894 125,290    

    
   

Financing:    
   

      Change in bank debt (note 16) 265,314 16,701    

      Repayment of acquired debt (note 7) (37,734)  –    

      Net proceeds from issuance of shares (note 18) 71,227 45,508    

      Purchase of common shares for cancellation (note 18)  – (1,289)    

      Purchase of common shares for RSU and PSU exercises (note 18) (12,983) (3,857)    

      Net proceeds from option exercises (note 18) 1,623  –    

      Repayment of lease liabilities (note 13) (3,160) (2,348)    

      Payment for settlement of preferred shares (note 18) (116)  –    

      Changes in other liability (note 21) 1,100  –    

      Changes in non-cash working capital (note 14) (2,105) 1,556    

Cash provided by financing activities 283,166 56,271    

    
   

Investing:    
   

     Property, plant and equipment additions (note 8) (187,564) (102,975)    

     Exploration and evaluation additions (note 10) (3,595) (568)    

     Acquisitions (note 7) (456,256) (98,811)    

     Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 7 and 8) 46,217 15,525    

     Changes in non-cash working capital (note 14) 20,138 5,268    

Cash used in investing activities (581,060) (181,561)    

    
   

Change in cash and cash equivalents  –  –    

    
   

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  –  –    

    
   

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $            – $            –    
      

   

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Reporting entity: 

Tamarack Valley Energy Ltd. (“Tamarack” or the “Company”) is a corporation existing under the laws of 

Alberta. The Company is engaged in the exploration for, development and production of, oil and natural gas. 

The consolidated financial statements of Tamarack consist of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company 

has the following wholly owned subsidiaries, which are incorporated in Canada, as at December 31, 2021: 

Tamarack Acquisition Corp. and Tamarack Valley Ridge Holdings Ltd. The Company also has a subsidiary 

incorporated in the United States: Tamarack Ridge Resources Inc. No assets are held within Tamarack Ridge 

Resources Inc. or Tamarack Valley Ridge Holdings Ltd. On January 1, 2022 the Canadian subsidiaries were 

amalgamated into Tamarack Valley Energy Ltd.  Tamarack is a publicly traded company, incorporated and 

domiciled in Canada. The address of its registered office is Suite 4300, 888 – 3rd Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta, 

T2P 5C5. The address of its head office is currently Suite 3300, 308 – 4th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta, T2P 

0H7. 

2. Basis of preparation: 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).   

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 3, 

2022. 

(b) Basis of measurement: 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 

derivative financial instruments (including cross-currency swaps) which are measured at fair value. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency: 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s 

and its subsidiaries functional currency, other than Tamarack Ridge Resources Inc. that has a United 

States dollar functional currency. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments: 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any future years affected. 

i) Critical judgments in applying accounting policies 

The following are critical judgments that management has made in the process of applying 

accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 

consolidated financial statements.  

The Company’s assets are aggregated into cash-generating units for the purpose of calculating 

impairment. Cash-generating units“ ("CGU" or "CGUs") are based on an assessment of the unit’s 

ability to generate independent cash inflows. The determination of these CGUs was based on 
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management’s judgment pertaining to shared infrastructure, geographical proximity, petroleum 

type and similar exposure to market risk and materiality.    

The Company’s CGUs as at December 31, 2021 include the following: 

• Clearwater oil 

• Charlie Lake oil 

• Viking oil  

• Cardium oil 

• Penny oil 

• Minor gas 

Significant management judgments are required to analyze the relevant external and internal 

indicators of impairment or impairment reversal for a CGU with the estimate of proved and probable 

oil and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows being significant to the assessment.  

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets requires 

management to make certain judgments as to future events and circumstances as to whether 

economic quantities of proved and/or probable oil and natural gas reserves have been found in 

assessing if technical feasibility and commercial viability has been achieved. 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for business combinations requires 

management to make certain judgments on a case-by-case basis as to the determination of the 

accounting method of an acquisition to determine if the assets acquired meet the definition of a 

business requiring the acquisition method of accounting for a business combination or an asset 

acquisition when applying the optional asset concentration test. 

Judgments are made by management to determine the likelihood of whether deferred income tax 

assets at the end of the reporting period will be realized from future taxable earnings. 

ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The following are key sources of estimation uncertainty and key estimates and their assumptions 

made by management affecting the measurement of balances and transactions in these 

consolidated financial statements. 

Climate change and COVID-19: 

Climate change: 

The Company has considered the impact of the evolving worldwide demand for carbon-based energy and 

global advancement of alternative energy sources.  The impacts of climate change and the advancement of 

the transition to alternative energy sources is a source of uncertainty and impacts on key estimates and their 

assumption made by management affecting the measurement of balances and transaction in these 

consolidated financial statements.  The impact of uncertainties regarding climate change and the effect they 

may have on management’s estimates may impact on property, plant and equipment, depletion, impairment 

and impairment reversal, reserves estimates, decommissioning obligations, credit facilities and share capital.  

The discussion of specific climate change uncertainties, risks and or the Company’s actions can be found 

within these notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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COVID-19: 

Tamarack continues to proactively respond to the safety and financial challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Management notes that forecasting the timing of a full and sustainable economic recovery is challenging with 

the outlook on crude oil demand significantly dependent on the status of COVID-19 virus variants, vaccine 

effectiveness, global vaccine rollouts, changes in social and travel restrictions, and the impact of all of these 

factors on global economic activity. The recovery in oil demand as a result of the easing of COVID-19 

restrictions, combined with a prudent supply policy implemented by the OPEC+ alliance, has resulted in crude 

oil prices recovering to pre-pandemic levels.  However, the crude oil market remains subject to high levels of 

uncertainty given the emergence of the Omicron variant of the COVID-19 virus, which could result in renewed 

social and travel restrictions.  Changes in global crude oil demand, supply and inventories could all be impacted 

by the COVID-19 pandemic in the near term and crude oil markets may continue to be subject to significant 

volatility in 2022.  There has also been significant market volatility in energy shares and foreign exchange 

markets, and restrictions on the conduct of business in many jurisdictions.  

The evolving impact of climate change and COVID-19 may have significant impacts on the Company, 

including, but not limited to: 

• significant changes in revenue and cash flows due to increased volatility in oil and natural gas 

commodity pricing, 

• changes in future revenue could result in impairment charges and, or reversals of historical impairment 

charges to long-term assets, 

• increased risk of non-performance by the Company’s customers which could materially increase 

collection risk of accounts receivable and customer defaults on contracts, and 

• prolonged demand destruction could negatively impact the Company’s ability to maintain liquidity. 

These situations are dynamic and the ultimate duration, timing and magnitude of the impact of climate change 

and COVID-19 on the economy and the financial effects to the Company are not known at this time. Estimates 

and judgments made by management in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are subject 

and will continue to be subject to a higher degree of measurement uncertainty. As an understanding of the  

impacts of these situations on commodity, credit and equity markets develops, there is amplified potential for 

changes in these estimates and judgments. 

Measurement of financial statement balance and transactions: 

The amounts recorded for depletion of property, plant and equipment; the provision of decommissioning 

obligations; business combinations and asset acquisitions; the realization of future taxable earnings for 

deferred income tax asset recognition; the determination of technical feasibility and commercial viability of 

exploration and evaluation assets; indicators of impairment or impairment reversal and amounts used in an 

impairment calculation are based on estimates of proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves and the 

related cash flows. By their nature, these estimates of proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves and 

the related cash flows are subject to uncertainty including significant assumptions related to forecasted oil and 

natural gas commodity prices; forecasted production; forecasted production costs;  forecasted royalty costs 

and forecasted future development costs. Tamarack’s estimated proved and probable oil and natural gas 

reserves and the related cash flows have been prepared at December 31 of each year by the Company’s 

external independent qualified reserves evaluator, who work with information provided by the Company to 

establish reserve determinations in accordance with National Instrument 51-101.  
  



TAMARACK VALLEY ENERGY LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(thousands, except per share and per unit amounts or as otherwise indicated) 
 

Page | 54   

The Company estimates the decommissioning obligations for oil and natural gas wells and their associated 

production facilities and pipelines. In most instances, removal of assets and remediation occurs many years 

into the future. Amounts recorded for the decommissioning obligations and related accretion expense require 

assumptions regarding removal date, future environmental legislation, the extent of reclamation activities 

required, the engineering methodology for estimating cost, inflation estimates, future removal technologies in 

determining the removal cost, and the estimate of the liability specific discount rates to determine the present 

value of these cash flows. 

The Company’s estimate of stock-based compensation is dependent upon estimates of expected volatility and 

forfeiture rates as well as performance multipliers estimated by management on the Company’s performance 

share units.  

The Company’s estimate of the fair value of derivative financial instruments and cross-currency swaps is 

dependent on estimated variables including forward curves for commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and 

interest rates, as well as volatility curves.  

3. Significant accounting policies: 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Company and its subsidiaries to 

all years presented in these consolidated financial statements. 

(a) Basis of consolidation: 

i) Subsidiaries: 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the 

power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 

activities. In assessing control, substantive potential voting rights are taken into account. The 

financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the 

date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

ii) Business combinations: 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for acquisitions of subsidiaries and assets 

that meet the definition of a business under IFRS.    Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 

contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values 

at the acquisition date.  The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable 

assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill.  If the cost 

of the acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is recognized 

immediately in profit or loss.  Business combination associated transaction costs are expensed 

when incurred.  Within the IFRS Business Combinations guidance, there is an optional fair value 

concentration test. The concentration test is a simplified assessment that results in an asset 

acquisition if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets is concentrated in a single 

identifiable asset or a group of similar identifiable assets. If an entity chooses not to apply the 

concentration test, or the test is failed, then the assessment focuses on the existence of a 

substantive process, and the acquisition is accounted for as a business combination.  The cost of 

an acquisition that does not meet the definition of a business under IFRS and does not qualify as 

a business combination is measured as the fair value of the consideration given and liabilities 

incurred or assumed at the date of exchange.   No goodwill arises on an asset acquisition and the 

cost of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are allocated to the assets and liabilities on the 

basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase.  Asset acquisition associated transaction 

costs are capitalized as a cost of the acquisition. 
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iii) Jointly owned assets: 

Many of the Company’s oil and natural gas activities involve jointly owned assets. The consolidated 

financial statements include the Company’s share of these jointly owned assets and a proportionate 

share of the relevant revenue and related costs. The relationship with jointly owned asset partners 

has been referred to as joint venture in the remainder of the consolidated financial statements as 

is common in the Canadian oil and gas industry. 

iv) Transactions eliminated on consolidation: 

Intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from 

intercompany transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  

(b) Financial instruments: 

i) Financial instruments: 

The Company recognizes financial assets and financial liabilities, including derivatives, on the 

balance sheet when the Company becomes a party to the contract. Financial assets are 

derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or when the 

Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are 

derecognized from the consolidated financial statements when the liability is extinguished either 

through settlement of, or release from, the obligation of the underlying liability.  

Financial assets, financial liabilities and derivatives are measured at fair value on initial recognition. 

Measurement in subsequent periods depends on the financial instrument’s classification, as 

described below.  

•  Amortized cost - A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if the objective of the business 

model is to hold the financial asset for the collection of the cash flows; and all contractual cash 

flows represent only principal and interest on that principal. All financial liabilities are measured 

at amortized cost using the effective interest method except for liabilities incurred for the 

purposes of selling or repurchasing in the short-term, if they are held-for trading and those that 

meet the definition of a derivative.  

•  Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) - A financial asset shall be measured 

at FVOCI if the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by 

both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and the contractual terms of 

the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are Solely Payment of Principal 

and Interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.  

•  Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) - All financial assets that do not meet the definition 

of being measured at amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL, this includes all 

derivative financial assets. A financial liability is classified as measured at FVTPL if it is held-

for-trading, a derivative, or designated as FVTPL on initial recognition. For financial assets and 

liabilities, the Company may make an irrevocable election to designate an asset at FVTPL. If 

the election is made it is irrevocable, meaning that asset, liability, or group of financial 

instruments must be recorded at FVTPL until that asset, liability or group of financial instruments 

are derecognized.  

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported on the balance sheet when 

there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts, and there is an intention to 

settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
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Commodity contracts that are entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt or 

delivery of a commodity in accordance with the Company’s expected purchase, sale or usage fall 

within the normal purchase or sale exemption and are accounted for as executory contracts. 

Financial assets are assessed with an expected credit loss model. The expected credit loss model 

applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost, a lease receivable, a contract asset or a 

loan commitment and a financial guarantee contract.  

Accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and bank debt are measured at 

amortized cost while financial derivative contracts (including cross-currency swaps) are measured 

at FVTPL. The Company has not designated any financial instruments as FVOCI, nor does the 

Company use hedge accounting. 

ii) Share capital: 

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 

common shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. When the 

Company repurchases its own common shares, share capital is reduced by the average carrying 

value of the shares repurchased. The excess of the purchase price over the carrying value is 

recognized as a deduction from retained earnings or conversely credited to contributed surplus 

when the carrying value exceeds the purchase price. Shares are cancelled upon repurchase. 

(c) Property, plant and equipment and exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) assets: 

i) Recognition and measurement: 

E&E expenditures: 

Pre–license costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

E&E costs, including the costs of acquiring licenses, initially are capitalized as E&E assets. The 

costs are accumulated in cost centers by well, field or exploration area pending determination of 

technical feasibility and commercial viability. 

E&E assets are assessed for impairment if (i) sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility 

and commercial viability, and (ii) facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds 

the recoverable amount. For purposes of impairment testing, E&E assets are evaluated at a CGU 

level. 

A review of each exploration license or field is carried out, at least annually, to ascertain whether 

technical feasibility and commercial viability have been established.   

Upon determination that technical feasibility and commercial viability of E&E assets has been 

established, E&E assets attributable to those proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves are 

first tested for impairment and then reclassified from E&E assets to property, plant and equipment. 

Development and production costs: 

Items of property, plant and equipment, which include oil and natural gas development and 

production assets, are measured at cost less accumulated depletion and depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses. Development and production assets are grouped into CGUs for 

impairment testing. When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment, including 

oil and natural gas interests, have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 

(major components). 
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Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, including oil and natural 

gas interests, are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal or the fair value of the 

asset received or given up with the carrying amount of the related property, plant and equipment 

given up and are recognized net in profit or loss. 

ii) Subsequent costs: 

Costs incurred subsequent to the determination of technical feasibility and commercial viability and 

the costs of replacing parts of property, plant and equipment are recognized as oil and natural gas 

interests only when they increase the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to 

which they relate. All other expenditures are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Such 

capitalized oil and natural gas interests generally represent costs incurred in developing proved 

and/or probable oil and natural gas reserves and bringing in or enhancing production from such 

reserves, and are accumulated on a field or geotechnical area basis. The carrying amount of any 

replaced or sold component is derecognized. The costs of the day–to–day servicing of property, 

plant and equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

iii) Depletion, depreciation and amortization: 

The net carrying value of development or production assets is depleted using the unit of production 

method by reference to the ratio of production in the year to the related proved and probable oil 

and natural gas reserves, taking into account estimated future development costs necessary to 

bring those reserves into production. Production and reserves of natural gas are converted to 

equivalent barrels of oil based on the energy equivalent ratio of six thousand cubic feet of natural 

gas to one barrel of oil. Future development costs are estimated by taking into account the level of 

development required to produce the reserves.  

The Company has considered the impact of the evolving worldwide demand for carbon-based 

energy and global advancement of alternative energy sources in its assessment of depletion on its 

oil and gas properties.  Depletion of the Company’s oil and gas properties is based on proved and 

probable reserves, the life of which is generally less than 20 years.  At this time, the Company has 

not capped its reserve life (i.e. estimated maximum life) for purposes of the calculation of depletion 

expense, however, this estimate will be monitored as the energy evolution continues.  

These estimates are reviewed by independent qualified reserves evaluators at least annually.  

E&E assets pertaining to undeveloped land are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of 

the lease. 

For other assets, depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a percentage basis based on the 

useful life of the assets. 

The estimated depreciation rates for other assets for the current and comparative years are as 

follows: 

Computer hardware and software 30 % 

Office equipment, fixtures and fittings 20 % 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and salvage values are reviewed at each reporting date. 
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(d) Leased assets and liabilities: 

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract 

is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 

period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control 

the use of an identified asset, the Company assesses whether: 

• the contract involves the use of an identified asset; this may be specified explicitly or implicitly and 

should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct 

asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified; 

• the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset 

throughout the period of use; and 

• the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Company has this right when it has 

the decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset 

is used. In rare cases where the decision is predetermined, the Company has the right to direct the 

use of the asset if either: 

i. the Company has the right to operate the asset; or 
ii. the Company designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will 

be used. 

When the Company is a lessee, it recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease 

commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial 

amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement 

date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the 

underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease 

incentives received. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated from the commencement date to the earlier of the 

end of useful life of the right-of-use assets or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of 

right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. In 

addition, the right-of-use asset is reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain re-

measurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 

the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or if that rate cannot 

be readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its 

incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured at the index or rate as 

at the commencement date; and 

• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and the exercise price under a 

purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an option 

renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties 

for early termination of a lease unless the Company is certain not to terminate early. 
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The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is re-measured 

when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a 

change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 

guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension 

or termination option. 

When the lease liability is re-measured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 

amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amounts of the right-of-

use asset has been reduced to nil. 

The Company presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and equipment” and lease obligations in 

“lease liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheet.  

(e) Impairment: 

i) Financial assets: 

The Company recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses“ ("ECLs") on its financial 

assets measured at amortized cost. Due to the nature of its financial assets, the Company 

measures loss allowances at an amount equal to expected lifetime ECLs. Lifetime ECLs are the 

anticipated ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 

asset. ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit loss and are discounted at the effective 

interest rate of the related financial asset.  

ii) Non-financial assets: 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non–financial assets, other than E&E assets and deferred 

tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any external or 

internal indicators of impairment or impairment reversal. If any such indicator exists, then the 

recoverable amount is estimated. E&E assets, which are evaluated with the related CGU when 

they are assessed for impairment, are assessed for impairment when they are reclassified to 

property, plant and equipment, and also if facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying 

amount exceeds the recoverable amount. Right-of-use assets may be tested as part of a CGU, as 

a separate CGU or as an individual asset. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of 

assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash 

inflows of other assets or groups of assets. The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the 

greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal.  

Fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”) is determined to be the amount for which the asset 

could be sold in an arm’s length transaction. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, 

discounted cash flows and recent market transactions are taken into account. These calculations 

are corroborated by valuation multiples or other available fair value indicators. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 

using a pre–tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 

and the risks specific to the asset. Value in use is generally computed by reference to the present 

value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from production of proved and probable oil 

and natural gas reserves. 
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An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its 

estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment 

losses recognized in respect of CGUs are allocated to reduce the carrying amounts of the other 

assets in the unit or group of units on a pro rata basis. 

Any impairment losses in respect of property, plant and equipment and E&E assets, recognized in 

prior years, are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the losses have decreased 

or no longer exist. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used 

to determine the recoverable amount.  

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 

the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depletion and depreciation or 

amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 

(f) Share based payments: 

The grant date fair value of preferred shares, stock options, restricted share units and performance 

share units granted to employees is recognized as compensation expense with a corresponding 

increase in contributed surplus over the vesting period. A forfeiture rate is estimated on the grant date 

and is adjusted to reflect the actual number of awards that vest. 

(g) Provisions: 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive 

obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 

flows at a pre–tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the liability. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. 

i) Decommissioning obligations: 

The Company’s activities give rise to dismantling, decommissioning and site disturbance 

remediation activities. Provision is made for the estimated cost of site restoration and capitalized 

in the relevant asset category.  

Decommissioning obligations are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate 

of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. Subsequent 

to the initial measurement, the obligation is adjusted at the end of each period to reflect the passage 

of time and changes in the estimated future cash flows underlying the obligation. The increase in 

the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as finance costs whereas 

increases/decreases due to changes in the estimated future cash flows are capitalized. Actual costs 

incurred upon settlement of the decommissioning obligations are charged against the provision to 

the extent the provision was established. 

ii) Onerous contracts: 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the 

Company from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the 

contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of 

terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a 

provision is established, the Company recognizes any impairment loss on associated assets. 
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(h) Revenue: 

Revenues from the sale of oil, natural gas and NGL are measured based on the consideration specified 

in contracts with customers. The Company recognizes revenue when it transfers control of the product 

to the buyer and collection is reasonably assured. This is generally considered to occur when legal title 

to the product passes to customers, which is when it is physically transferred to the pipeline or other 

transportation method agreed upon. The nature of each of its performance obligations, including roles 

of third parties and partners, are evaluated to determine if the Company acts as a principal, and therefore 

recognizes revenue on a gross basis, or as an agent, and therefore recognizes revenue on a net basis. 

The Company acts as the principal when it controls the product delivered before the control passes to 

its customer. Revenues from processing activities are recognized over time as processing occurs, and 

generally billed monthly. 

(i) Finance income and expenses: 

Finance expense is comprised of interest expense on bank debt, interest expense on lease liabilities, 

unrealized foreign exchange translation gains or losses, unrealized gains or losses on cross-currency 

swaps, accretion of the discount on decommissioning obligations and impairment losses recognized on 

financial assets.  

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of qualifying assets are capitalized during the period of 

time that is required to complete and prepare the assets for their intended use or sale. All other 

borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The capitalization 

rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalized is the weighted average interest 

rate applicable to the Company’s outstanding borrowings during the period. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Canadian dollars at exchange rates at the dates of 

the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 

Canadian dollars at the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date, while non-monetary assets 

and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange rates at 

the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as either 

finance income or finance expense depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain 

or net loss position. 

Interest income is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. 

(j) Income tax: 

Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in profit 

or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is 

recognized in equity. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 

taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a 

transaction that is not a business combination. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable 

temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax 

rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset, and they relate to income taxes levied by the 
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same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current 

tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which the temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at 

each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 

will be realized. 

(k) Earnings per share: 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders 

of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The 

weighted average number of common shares is adjusted for shares purchased and held by the 

Company (treasury shares). Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss 

attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

for the effects of dilutive instruments such as preferred shares, stock options, restricted share units and 

performance share units granted to employees. 

(l) Government assistance 

The Company recognizes government assistance in the form of grants in relation to the Alberta Site 

Restoration Program (“SRP”), the Saskatchewan Accelerated Site Closure Program (“ASCP”), the 

Federal Emissions Reduction Fund (“ERF”), the Alberta Methane Technology Information Program 

(“MTIP”) and the Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy (“CEWS”). Government grants are recognized 

when there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with the conditions attached to the 

grants and the grants will be received. Grants that relate to the purchase, construction or acquisition of 

long-term assets are recognized by deducting the grants received from the carrying amount of the long-

term assets.  Grants related to long-term assets are recognized in profit or loss over the life of the asset 

through depletion, depreciation and amortization.  Government loans are accounted for in accordance 

with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. Government loans that are at below-market interest rates are 

recognized and measured in accordance with IFRS 9 and the benefit of the below-market interest rate 

measured as the difference between the initial carrying value of the loan recognized in accordance with 

IFRS 9 and the loan received is accounted for according to the nature of the grant.  Grants related to 

an obligation of the Company are recognized as a reduction in the obligation and in profit or loss when 

the conditions of recognition of the grant have been met.  Grants that compensate the Company for 

expenses incurred are recognized as a reduction to the related expense on a systematic basis in the 

periods in which the expenses are recognized.   
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4. Determination of fair values: 

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for 

both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement 

and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods outlined below. The Company’s fair value 

measurements are classified as one of the following levels of the fair value hierarchy: 

Level 1 – inputs represent unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. 

An active market is characterized by a high volume of transactions that provides pricing information on 

an ongoing basis. 

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly. These valuations are based on inputs that can be observed or corroborated 

in the marketplace, such as market interest rates or forward prices for commodities. 

Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability are not based on observable market data. 

The Company aims to maximize the use of observable inputs when preparing calculations of fair value. 

Classification of each measurement into the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is 

significant to the fair value calculation. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in 

determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 

(a) Property, plant and equipment and E&E assets: 

The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognized in an acquisition is based on market values. 

The market value of property, plant and equipment is the estimated amount for which property, plant 

and equipment could be exchanged on the acquisition date between a willing buyer and a willing seller 

in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, 

prudently and without compulsion. The determination of the acquisition-date fair value of oil and natural 

gas interests involves significant estimates, including the estimate of proved and probable oil and natural 

gas reserves and the related cash flows and the discount rates.  The estimate of proved and probable 

oil and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows includes significant assumptions related to 

forecasted oil and natural gas commodity prices, forecasted production, forecasted production costs, 

forecasted royalty costs and forecasted future development costs.  The estimates of proved and 

probable oil and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows areas prepared by the Company’s 

external independent qualified reserves evaluator or internal reserves evaluator. The market value of 

other items of property, plant and equipment and E&E assets is based on the quoted market prices for 

similar items. 

(b) Accounts receivable, bank debt and accounts payable and accrued liabilities: 

  The fair value of accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities is estimated as the 

present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. At 

December 31, 2021 and 2020, the fair value of these balances approximated their carrying value due 

to their short term to maturity.  

  Bank debt bears a floating rate of interest and the margins charged by the lenders are indicative of 

current credit spreads and therefore carrying value approximates fair value. 
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(c) Stock options, preferred shares, restricted share units and performance share units: 

The fair value of employee stock options and preferred shares is measured using a Black-Scholes option 

pricing model. Measurement inputs include share price on measurement date, exercise price of the 

instrument, expected volatility based on weighted average historic volatility, weighted average expected 

life of the instruments based on historical experience and general option holder behavior, expected 

dividend yield and the weighted average risk-free interest rate based on government bonds. Restricted 

share units and performance share units are valued at the share price on the measurement date. 

(d) Derivatives: 

The fair value of forward contracts and swaps is determined by discounting the difference between the 

contracted prices and published forward price curves as at the balance sheet date, using the remaining 

contracted amounts and a risk-free interest rate (based on published government rates). The fair value 

of options and costless collars is based on option models that use level 2 inputs, being published 

information with respect to volatility, prices and interest rates. Derivatives are recorded on the balance 

sheet at fair value with the change in fair value being recognized as an unrealized gain or loss in profit 

or loss. Cross-currency swaps are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value with the change in fair 

value being recognized as a finance expense. 

5. Financial Risk Management: 

(a) Overview: 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks that arise as a result of its exploration, 

development, production and financing activities such as: 

• credit risk; 

• liquidity risk; and 

• market risk. 

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the 

Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s 

management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated 

financial statements. 

The Board of Directors oversees managements’ establishment and execution of the Company’s risk 

management framework. Management has implemented and monitors compliance with risk 

management policies. The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze 

the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and 

adherence to market conditions and the Company’s activities. 
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(b) Credit risk: 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Company’s receivables 

from joint venture partners and oil and natural gas marketers and favorable mark-to-market positions on 

financial instruments. The maximum exposure to credit risk at year-end is as follows: 

($ thousands)       Carrying amount 

As at December 31,  2021 2020 

Accounts receivable  $79,904 $30,781 

Fair value of financial instruments  77 981 

Total   $79,981 $31,762 

Accounts receivable: 

All of the Company’s operations are conducted in Canada. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is 

influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. 

Receivables from oil and natural gas purchasers are normally collected on the 25th day of the month 

following production. The Company’s policy to mitigate credit risk associated with these balances is to 

establish marketing relationships with large purchasers. The Company historically has not experienced 

any collection issues with its oil and natural gas purchasers.  

Receivables from joint venture partners are typically collected within one to three months of the joint 

venture bill being issued. The Company attempts to mitigate the risk from joint venture receivables by 

obtaining joint venture partner pre-approval of significant capital expenditures.  

However, the receivables are from participants in the oil and natural gas sector, and collection of the 

outstanding balances is dependent on industry factors such as commodity price fluctuations, escalating 

costs and the risk of unsuccessful drilling. In addition, further risk exists with joint venture partners; as 

disagreements occasionally arise that increase the potential for non-collection. The Company does not 

typically obtain collateral from oil and natural gas marketers or joint venture partners; however, the 

Company does have the ability to withhold production from joint venture partners in the event of non-

payment. 

Derivative assets consist of commodity contracts used to manage the Company’s exposure to 

fluctuations in commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and interest rates. The Company manages the 

credit risk exposure related to derivative assets by selecting investment grade counterparties and by 

not entering into contracts for trading or speculative purposes. 

The Company does not anticipate any default as it transacts with creditworthy customers and 

management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these customers. The lifetime 

expected credit losses allowances related to the Company’s oil and natural gas marketers and joint 

venture receivables were nominal as at and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
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The maximum exposure to credit risk for accounts receivable at the reporting date by type of customer 
was: 

($ thousands) Carrying amount 
As at December 31, 2021 2020 

Oil and natural gas marketing companies $71,706               $23,922 

Joint venture partners 4,930        4,451 

Other     3,268           2,408 

Total accounts receivable                                $79,904               $30,781 

 The Company’s seven most significant customers (seven Canadian oil and natural gas marketers) 

account for $56.9 million of the account receivables at December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020: four 

Canadian oil and natural gas marketers, and two joint venture partners accounted for $19.3 million).  

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s accounts receivable is aged as follows: 

($ thousands) 2021 2020 

Current (less than 90 days)   $76,640      $28,344 

Past due (more than 90 days)          3,264 2,437 

Total accounts receivable                      $79,904          $30,781 

 

(c) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come 

due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 

have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 

without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. 

Typically, the Company ensures that it has sufficient cash or available credit facility available to meet 

expected operational expenses for a period of 30 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; 

this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such 

as natural disasters. To achieve this objective, the Company prepares annual capital expenditure 

budgets, which are regularly monitored and updated as considered necessary. Further, the Company 

utilizes authorizations for expenditures on both operated and non-operated projects to further manage 

capital expenditures. The Company also attempts to match its payment cycle with collection of oil and 

natural gas revenue on the 25th of each month.  

The timing of cash flows relating to financial liabilities as at December 31, 2021 is as follows: 

($ thousands) 
Total 

Less than 1 
Year 

1 to 3 
 years 

Beyond 
3 years 

Account payable and accrued liabilities  $72,188  72,188 $– $–  

Fair value of financial instruments 13,163 13,146 17 – 

Cross currency swap 292 292 – – 

Other liability 1,100 – – 1,100 

Bank debt 477,437 – 477,437 – 

Total financial liabilities $564,180 $85,626 $477,454 $1,100 

Refer to note 13 for a maturity analysis of the Company’s lease liabilities. 
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(d) Market risk: 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as commodity prices, foreign exchange rates 

and interest rates will affect the Company’s income or the value of the financial instruments. The 

objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 

parameters, while optimizing the return. 

The Company may use both financial derivatives and physical delivery contracts to manage market 

risks. All such transactions are conducted within risk management tolerances that are reviewed by the 

Board of Directors quarterly. 

Currency risk: 

Prices for oil are determined in global markets and generally denominated in United States dollars.  

Natural gas prices obtained by the Company are influenced by both US and Canadian demand and the 

corresponding North American supply. The exchange rate effect cannot be quantified but generally a 

decrease in the value of the $CDN as compared to the $US will increase the prices received by the 

Company for its petroleum and natural gas sales. The Company holds hedges to mitigate foreign 

exchange risk as detailed in the table below in addition to cross-currency swaps (“CCS”) to remove the 

foreign exchange risk of LIBOR based borrowings (see notes 16 and 17). At December 31, 2021, the 

Company had drawn US$235.0 million, fixed at notional amounts of $297.5 million through CCS 

maturing across the month of January 2022 (December 31, 2020 – the Company had drawn US$111.0 

million, fixed at notional amounts of $142.8 million through various CCS). 

Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest 

rates. The interest charged on the outstanding bank debt fluctuates with the interest rates posted by the 

lenders. Interest rates as posted by the lenders are subject to change based on market conditions and 

indicators. The interest rate charged by the lenders under the terms of the SLL Facility includes the 

potential for the interest rate to change based on the Company’s achieving or missing on defined 

sustainability-linked targets (see note 16). The Company is exposed to interest rate risk and has entered 

into mitigating interest rate swaps to cover a portion of this exposure. Had the borrowing rate been 100 

basis points higher (or lower) throughout the year ended December 31, 2021, net income would have 

been affected by $3,022 (December 31, 2020 – $1,557) based on the average debt balance outstanding 

during the year.  

Commodity price risk: 

Commodity price risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes 

in commodity prices. Commodity prices for oil and natural gas are impacted by not only the relationship 

between the Canadian and United States dollar but also world economic events that dictate the levels 

of supply and demand. 
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At December 31, 2021, the Company held derivative commodity, foreign exchange and interest rate 

contracts as noted in the following tables.  

            

    Q1 2022 Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4 2022 

West Texas Intermediate Crude Oil Derivatives     

WTI two-way collar Volume (bbls/d)  1,250 4,250 9,250 3,500 

Average Bought Put (US$/bbl)  $52.60  $54.76  $58.57  $58.50  

Average Sold Call (US$/bbl)  $87.17  $90.46  $93.51  $92.13  

Average Premium (US$/bbl)  $2.00  $2.01  $2.00  $2.00  

WTI three-way reverse collar Volume (bbls/d)  1,250 2,500 1,250 750 

Average Bought Put (US$/bbl)  $55.00  $54.40  $55.00  $55.00  

Average Sold Call (US$/bbl)  $70.00  $70.00  $70.00  $70.00  

Average Bought Call (US$/bbl)  $73.29  $72.99  $73.37  $73.98  

Average Premium (US$/bbl)  $2.00  $2.00  $2.00  $2.00  

WTI Put Volume (bbls/d)  19,750 7,750 750 750 

Average Bought Put (US$/bbl)  $68.76  $52.71  $53.10  $53.10  

Average Premium (US$/bbl)  $3.97  $2.70  $3.10  $3.10  

Crude Oil Differential Derivatives   
   

Edmonton Par to WTI fixed price 
differential swap 

Volume (bbls/d)  7,000 8,500 500 500 

Average Price (US$/bbl)  ($3.86) ($3.82) ($4.00) ($4.00) 

WCS to WTI fixed price differential 
swap 

Volume (bbls/d)  3,000 4,000 500 500 

Average Price (US$/bbl)  ($12.58) ($11.79) ($12.00) ($12.00) 

            

 

        

    Winter 21-22 Summer 22 

Natural Gas Derivatives   

AECO 5A  Volume (GJ/d)  25,000 30,000 

Average Price (CAD/GJ)  $3.14  $2.44  
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    Q1 2022 Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4 2022 

CAD/USD Foreign Exchange Derivatives     

CAD/USD average rate forward  Amount ($US/month)  $7,000,000  $6,500,000   –  – 

Average Forward Rate (CAD/USD)  1.2415 1.2440  –  – 

CAD/USD target average rate 
forward(1) 

Amount ($US/month)  $1,500,000  $1,500,000  $500,000  $500,000  

Average Forward Rate (CAD/USD)  1.2433 1.2433 1.2640 1.2640 

CAD/USD forward accumulator(2) Amount ($US/month)  $833,333  $833,333   –  – 

Average Forward Rate (CAD/USD)  1.2500 1.2500  –  – 
            

(1) Comprised of three $500,000 tranches in Q1 and Q2 2022 and one $500,000 in Q3 and Q4 2021, with a maximum benefit 
to Tamarack over the term for each tranche of 0.03 value points; once maximum value is reached, the instrument 
immediately terminates.  

(2) Accumulates for the monthly period at a rate of 1.25 based on the rate during the setting period six months prior.     

 

          

    2022 2023 2024 

Interest Rate Derivatives      

CDOR Interest Rate Fixed Price Swap Amount ($MM CAD/year)  $80.0  $49.1  $6.4  

Fixed Interest Rate 1.533% 1.225% 1.043% 
          

 

At December 31, 2021, Tamarack’s derivative commodity, foreign exchange and interest rate contracts 

were fair valued with a net liability of $13,086 (December 31, 2020 - $10,153 net liability) recorded on 

the balance sheet. The Company had an unrealized gain of $6,676 recorded in earnings for the year 

ended December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 - $6,067 unrealized loss). 

Subject Contract 

Effect of an increase in oil price, 
gas price, exchange rate or 

interest rate on after-tax 
earnings 

Effect of a decrease in oil price, 
gas price, exchange rate or 

interest rate on after-tax 
earnings 

Cdn $1.00/bbl change in the oil price ($1,210) $1,252 

Cdn $0.10/gj change in the gas price ($705) $705 

Cdn $0.01 change in the exchange rate ($294) $249 

0.25% change in the interest rate $827 ($831) 

All physical commodity contracts are considered executory contracts and are not recorded at fair value 

on the balance sheet. On settlement, the realized benefit or loss is recognized in oil and natural gas 

revenue.  

At December 31, 2021, the Company held the following physical commodity contracts: 

      

    Winter 21-22 

Natural Gas Physical  

AECO 5A  Volume (GJ/d)  15,000 

Average Price (CAD/GJ)  $3.00  
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Risk management contracts assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the 

balance sheet, when the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends to settle them on 

a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

The following table sets out gross amounts relating to risk management contracts assets and liabilities 

that have been presented on a net basis on the balance sheet. 

 

Gross Amounts ($ thousands) December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

Risk management contracts   

Current asset $ – $981 

Long-term asset 77 – 

Current liability (13,146) (9,942) 

Long-term liability (17) (1,192) 

Balance, end of the period $(13,086) $(10,153) 

Subsequent to December 31, 2021, the Company has entered into the following financial contracts 

(excluding contracts acquired in the acquisition of Crestwynd Exploration Ltd.):  

            

    Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4 2022 Q1 2023 

West Texas Intermediate Crude Oil Derivatives     

WTI two-way collar Volume (bbls/d)   – 2,500 8,500 3,500 

Average Bought Put (US$/bbl)  – $60.00  $57.06 $55.71 

Average Sold Call (US$/bbl)  – $101.24 $111.96 $116.74 

Average Premium (US$/bbl)  – $1.75 $1.93 $2.00 

WTI Put Volume (bbls/d)  1,250 4,000 3,500 1,000 

Average Bought Put (US$/bbl)  $57.98 $56.25 $57.14 $60.00 

Average Premium (US$/bbl)  $0.75 $2.98 $3.20 $3.27 

Edmonton Par to WTI fixed 
price differential swap 

Volume (bbls/d)  2,000 7,500 7,500  – 

Average Price (US$/bbl)  ($3.00) ($3.57) ($3.57) – 

WCS to WTI fixed price 
differential swap 

Volume (bbls/d)  1,000 7,000 5,000  – 

Average Price (US$/bbl)  ($11.95) ($12.00) ($12.10) – 
      

 

      

    Winter 22-23 

Natural Gas Derivatives  

AECO 5A  Volume (GJ/d)  10,000 

Average Price (CAD/GJ)  $3.85  

AECO 7A two-way collar Volume (GJ/d)  15,000 
 

Average Bought Put (CAD/GJ)  $3.37  
 

Average Sold Call (CAD/GJ)  $5.17  
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Subsequent to December 31, 2021, the Company entered into agreements to reprice certain 

agreements, raising the value of the bought puts and increasing the associated premiums. The values 

at December 31, 2021 and the new values after repricing are summarized in the table below.:  

    
As at Dec 31, 

2021 
Subsequent to 

Year End 

    Q2 2022 Q2 2022 

West Texas Intermediate Crude Oil Derivatives   

WTI two-way collar Volume (bbls/d)  500 500 

Average Bought Put (US$/bbl)  $60.00  $65.00  

Average Sold Call (US$/bbl)  $95.50  $95.50  

Average Premium (US$/bbl)  $2.00  $2.98  

WTI Put Volume (bbls/d)  6,500 6,500 

Average Bought Put (US$/bbl)  $52.49  $65.00  

Average Premium (US$/bbl)  $3.03  $4.20  
        

 Since December 31, 2021, the Company has not entered into any physical contracts. 

(e) Capital management:  

The Company’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market 

confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Company manages its capital 

structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 

characteristics of the underlying oil and natural gas assets. The Company considers its capital structure 

to include shareholders’ equity, bank debt and working capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 

structure, the Company may issue shares, use debt and adjust its capital spending to manage current 

and projected debt levels. 

Tamarack uses quarterly adjusted funds flow as a key measure to demonstrate the Company’s ability 

to generate funds to repay debt, pay dividends and fund future capital investment. Quarterly  adjusted 

funds flow is calculated by taking cash-flow from operating activities on a quarterly basis and adding 

back changes in non-cash working capital, expenditures on decommissioning obligations and 

transaction costs.  Adjusted funds flow per share is calculated using the same weighted average basic 

and diluted shares that are used in calculating income (loss) per share.   

Tamarack Management may also use free funds flow and year-end net debt to trailing annual adjusted 

funds flow in managing its capital structure.  Free funds flow is calculated by taking adjusted funds flow 

and subtracting capital expenditures, excluding acquisitions and dispositions. Year-end net debt to 

trailing annual adjusted funds flow is calculated as estimated year-end net debt divided by the estimated 

adjusted funds flow for the four preceding quarters at year-end. 

The Company monitors capital based on the ratio of net debt to annualized adjusted funds flow. This 

ratio is calculated as net debt, defined as outstanding bank debt plus accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities, cross-currency swap liabilities and other liability minus accounts receivable and prepaid 

expenses and deposits divided by adjusted funds flow for the most recent calendar quarter and then 

annualized. Tamarack calculates adjusted funds flow as cash provided by operating activities before 

the changes in non-cash working capital related to operating activities and abandonment expenditures. 

The Company’s return of capital framework and dividend policy sets a net debt to trailing annual adjusted 

funds flow of 1.0 times after achieving its long-term debt target. This ratio may increase or decrease at 

certain times as a result of acquisitions, timing of employing capital versus bringing wells on production 

or significant upward/downward fluctuations in commodity prices.  
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The Company prepares annual capital expenditure budgets, which are updated as necessary depending 

on varying factors including current and forecast prices, successful capital deployment and general 

industry conditions. The annual and updated budgets are approved by the Board of Directors. 

As at December 31, 2021, the Company’s ratio of net debt to annualized fourth quarter adjusted funds 

flow was 0.9 to 1 (December 31, 2020 – 1.9 to 1). The Company believes that available credit facilities 

combined with anticipated adjusted funds flow will be sufficient to satisfy Tamarack’s 2022 development 

capital program and dividend payments for the 2022 fiscal year. 

 

($ thousands) 
December 31, 

2021 
December 31, 

2020 

Working capital deficiency (surplus) $(15,253) $8,454 

Other liability 1,100  – 

Bank debt 477,437 210,857 

Net debt 463,284 219,311 

    
Quarterly adjusted funds flow $124,080 $28,894 

Annualized factor 4 4 

Annualized adjusted funds flow 496,320 115,576 

Net debt to annualized adjusted funds flow 0.9x 1.9x 
      

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

The credit facilities are subject to a semi-annual review of the borrowing base which is directly impacted 

by the value of the Company’s estimated proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves. 

6. Revenue: 

The Company sells its production pursuant to fixed-price or variable-price contracts. The transaction price for 

variable-price contracts is based on a benchmark commodity price, adjusted for quality, location or other 

factors whereby each component of the pricing formula can be either fixed or variable, depending on the 

contract terms. Under the contracts, the Company is required to deliver fixed or variable volumes of light oil, 

heavy oil, natural gas or NGL to the contract counterparty. 

Revenue is recognized when the Company gives up control of the unit of production at the delivery point 

agreed to under the terms of the contract. The amount of revenue recognized is based on the agreed 

transaction price and the volumes delivered. Any variability in the transaction price relates specifically to 

Tamarack’s efforts to transfer production and therefore the resulting revenue is allocated to the production 

volumes delivered in the period to which the variability relates. The Company does not have any factors 

considered to be constraining in the recognition of revenue with variable pricing factors. The Company’s 

contracts with customers generally have a term of one year or less, except in the case of certain natural gas 

contracts, whereby delivery takes place throughout the contract period. Revenues are normally collected on 

the business day nearest the 25th day of the month following sale. 

The Company’s revenues were primarily generated in its core areas: the Cardium oil play in the Wilson 

Creek/Alder Flats areas of central Alberta; the Viking oil play in central and southern Alberta and west central 

Saskatchewan; the Clearwater oil play in the Nipisi area of northern Alberta; the Charlie Lake oil play in the 

Grande Prairie area of northwestern Alberta and the Barons Sand oil play in the Penny area of southern 

Alberta. The Company’s customers are oil and natural gas marketers and joint operations partners in the oil 

and natural gas business and are subject to normal credit risks. Concentration of credit risk is mitigated by 

selling volumes to numerous oil and natural gas marketers under customary industry sale and payment terms.  
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The following table presents the Company’s total revenues disaggregated by revenue source: 

Years ended December 31, ($ thousands) 2021 2020 
 

     

    Light oil $449,888 $169,261  

    Heavy oil 108,690 2,857  

    Natural gas 88,036 34,011  

    Natural gas liquids 51,958 14,767  

Oil and natural gas revenue $698,572 $220,896  

    Processing income  2,479 1,177  

Total revenue $701,051 $222,073  

      
 

Refer to note 5 for a listing of physical delivery contracts as at December 31, 2021. 

Included in accounts receivable at December 31, 2021 was $71.7 million (December 31, 2020 - $24.2 million) 

of accrued production revenue. There were no significant adjustments for prior period accrued production 

revenue reflected in the current period. As at December 31, 2021, the Company did not have any contracts 

for the sale of its future production beyond one year in term. 

7.  Acquisitions:  

The following table summarizes the Company’s acquisitions for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 

2020:  

 

      Consideration 

CGU Area  Acquisition date Cash Shares 

Viking oil, Clearwater oil Northern Clearwater, Eyehill March 25, 2021 $102,610 $          – 

Clearwater oil Northern Clearwater March 25, 2021 34,358 10,218 

Charlie Lake oil Charlie Lake June 1, 2021 258,201 280,209 

Clearwater oil Southern Clearwater August 31, 2021 35,727              – 

Various Other minor Various 25,360              – 

December 31, 2021     $456,256 $290,427 

Clearwater oil Northern Clearwater December 21, 2020 $53,874 $          – 

Clearwater oil North and South Clearwater December 21 2020 41,038              – 

Various Other minor Various 3,899              – 

December 31, 2020     $98,811 $          – 
          

(a) 2021 Acquisitions 

On March 25, 2021 the Company completed the Northern Clearwater, Eyehill oil acquisition that 

included assets in both the Nipisi and Provost fields for total cash consideration of $102.6 million. There 

were $0.7 million of transaction costs incurred by the Company expensed through earnings. The 

acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of 

accounting, whereby the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recorded at the estimated fair 

value on the acquisition date of March 25, 2021. Assets acquired in this transaction will be included in 

the Clearwater oil  CGU (Nipisi) and the Viking oil CGU (Provost).  Assets held for sale relate to the sale 

of a gross overriding royalty (“GORR”) on the Northern Clearwater Nipisi assets.  
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The determination of the purchase price, based on management’s estimate of fair values, is as follows: 

 ($ thousands)   Amount 

Net assets acquired:   
  Oil and natural gas interests   $        103,859  

  Assets held for sale        3,571 

  Decommissioning obligations        (4,820) 

Net assets acquired     $        102,610  

Purchase consideration:   
Cash   $        102,610  

Total purchase consideration    $        102,610  

The fair value of oil and natural gas interests has been estimated with reference to an internally prepared 

reserves evaluation for the acquired properties. The estimated proved and probable oil and natural gas 

reserves and related cash flows were discounted at a rate based on what a market participant would 

have paid as well as market metrics in the prevailing areas at the time. The fair value of 

decommissioning obligations was initially estimated using a credit adjusted risk-free rate of 8%. 

Oil and natural gas revenue of $44.6 million and a net income of $10.2 million are included in the 

statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) for the Northern Clearwater, Eyehill 

acquisition assets since the closing date of March 25, 2021.  

If the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2021, the incremental oil and natural gas revenue and 

income recognized for the period ended December 31, 2021 and the pro forma results would have been 

as follows: 

Period ended December 31, 2021  
($ thousands) 

 
 
 

As stated 

 
Northern 

Clearwater, 
Eyehill 

(unaudited) 
Pro Forma 

Oil and natural gas revenue $698,572 $11,305  $709,877  

Net income  $390,508      2,314    $392,822 

(1) This pro-forma information is not necessarily indicative of results of operations that would have resulted had the Northern 
Clearwater, Eyehill oil acquisition been effective on the dates indicated or the results that may be obtained in the future. 

On March 25, 2021 the Company completed the Northern Clearwater oil acquisition of assets in the 

Nipisi field for total cash consideration of $34.4 million including $0.9 million of capitalized transaction 

costs and the issuance of 4.9 million Common Shares of the Company.  Based upon Tamarack’s share 

price on the date of closing of $2.09 per common share, the total consideration was approximately $44.6 

million. The Company applied the optional concentration test permitted under IFRS 3 to the acquisition 

which resulted in the acquired assets being accounted for as an asset acquisition. As such the purchase 

price was allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities based on their relative fair values at the date 

of acquisition.  Assets acquired in this transaction will be included in the Clearwater oil  CGU.  Assets 

held for sale relate to the sale of a GORR on the Northern Clearwater Nipisi assets. 
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The amounts recognized on the date of acquisition of the identifiable net assets were as follows: 

 

 ($ thousands)   Amount 

Net assets acquired:   
  Oil and natural gas interests   $        42,232  

  Assets held for sale        2,409 

  Decommissioning obligations        (65) 

Net assets acquired     $        44,576  

Purchase consideration:   
Cash consideration     $        34,358 

Share consideration (4,888,889 common shares)           10,218  

Total purchase consideration    $        44,576  

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company disposed of a 4% GORR on a select portion of 

the Nipisi properties acquired in the March 25, 2021 Northern Clearwater, Eyehill and Northern 

Clearwater oil acquisitions for net proceeds of $13.5 million and recorded a gain on disposition of $7.5 

million. 

The Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Anegada Oil Corp. ( 

“Anegada”) on June 1, 2021 for total consideration of $538.4 million. The assets acquired from Anegada 

included certain oil and natural gas properties located in the Grande Prairie field in the Charlie Lake 

area . The acquisition was completed for total cash consideration of $258.2 million and the issuance of 

105.3 million common shares of the Company at the date of closing share price of $2.66 per common 

share. The acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method 

of accounting, whereby the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recorded at the estimated 

fair value on the acquisition date of June 1, 2021. There were $7.4 million of transaction costs incurred 

by the Company and expensed through earnings. Assets acquired in this transaction will be included in 

the Charlie Lake oil  CGU.  Assets held for sale primarily relate to the sale of a GORR on the Charlie 

Lake (Grande Prairie) assets.  

The determination of the purchase price, based on management’s estimate of fair values, is as follows: 

 ($ thousands)   Amount 

Net assets acquired:   
  Oil and natural gas interests   $      677,740 

  Right-of-use assets        1,624 

  Current assets        21,097 

  Current liabilities        (10,451) 

  Lease liabilities        (1,624) 

  Risk management contracts        (9,610) 

  Bank debt        (37,734) 

  Assets held for sale        33,078 

  Decommissioning obligations        (6,072) 

  Deferred tax liability        (129,638) 

Net assets acquired     $        538,410  

Purchase consideration:   
Cash   $        258,201  

Share consideration (105,341,880 common shares)         280,209  

Total purchase consideration    $        538,410  
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For purposes of estimating the acquisition-date fair value of the oil and natural gas interests, the 

Company’s internal reserves evaluator provided an estimate of proved and probable oil and natural gas 

reserves and the related cash flows. The estimated proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves 

and related cash flows were discounted at a rate based on what a market participant would have paid 

as well as market metrics in the prevailing areas at the time. The fair value of decommissioning 

obligations was initially estimated using a credit adjusted risk-free rate of 8%. 

For the year ended December 31, 2021 the Company disposed of a 2% GORR on a select portion of 

the Charlie Lake area (Grande Prairie field) properties for net proceeds of $31.6 million. 

Oil and natural gas revenue of $175.6 million and a net income of $53.6 million are included in the 

statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) for the Charlie Lake area acquisition 

assets since the closing date of June 1, 2021. 

If the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2021, the incremental oil and natural gas revenue and net 

income recognized for the period ended December 31, 2021 and the pro forma results would have been 

as follows: 

Period ended December 31, 2021  
($ thousands) 

 
 
 

As stated 

 
Charlie Lake  

area 
acquisition 

(unaudited) 
Pro Forma 

Oil and natural gas revenue $698,572 $83,269  $781,841  

Net income $390,508      $9,875 $400,383    

(1) This pro-forma information is not necessarily indicative of results of operations that would have resulted had the Charlie 
Lake acquisition been effective on the dates indicated or the results that may be obtained in the future. 

On August 31, 2021 the Company completed the Southern Clearwater oil acquisition of assets in the 

Jarvie field for total cash consideration of $35.7 million. The Company applied the optional concentration 

test permitted under IFRS 3 to the acquisition which resulted in the acquired assets being accounted for 

as an asset acquisition. As such the purchase price was allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities 

based on the relative fair values at the date of acquisition.  Assets acquired in this transaction will be 

included in the Clearwater oil CGU. 

The amounts recognized on the date of acquisition of the identifiable net assets were as follows: 

 

 ($ thousands)   Amount 

Net assets acquired:   
  Oil and natural gas interests   $        37,039  

  Decommissioning obligations        (1,312) 

Net assets acquired     $        35,727  

Purchase consideration:   
Cash consideration     $        35,727 

Total purchase consideration    $        35,727  

For the year ended December 31, 2021 the Company executed other minor acquisitions in various 

CGUs and various fields for cash consideration of approximately $25.4 million.  The Company applied 

the optional concentration test permitted under IFRS 3 to all of the other minor acquisitions which 

resulted in all of the other minor acquired assets being accounted for as asset acquisitions. As such the 

purchase price of the other minor acquisitions were allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities 

based on their relative fair values at the dates of acquisitions. 

 



TAMARACK VALLEY ENERGY LTD. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(thousands, except per share and per unit amounts or as otherwise indicated) 
 

Page | 77   

(b) 2020 Acquisitions 

On July 9, 2020, the Company completed the acquisition of certain light oil and liquids rich natural gas 

properties located in West Central Alberta. The assets were acquired for total cash consideration of $4.0 

million including $0.1 million of capitalized transaction costs. The Company applied the optional 

concentration test permitted under IFRS 3 to the acquisition which resulted in the acquired assets being 

accounted for as an asset acquisition. As such the purchase price was allocated to the identifiable assets 

and liabilities based on their relative fair values at the date of acquisition. 

On December 21, 2020 the Company completed an acquisition of certain oil and gas properties located 

in the Northern Clearwater area  of Alberta (Nipisi field) for total cash consideration of $53.9 million, 

including $1.1 million of capitalized transaction costs. The Company applied the optional concentration 

test permitted under IFRS 3 to the acquisition which resulted in the acquired assets being accounted for 

as an asset acquisition. As such the purchase price was allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities 

based on their relative fair values at the date of acquisition. Assets acquired in this transaction were 

included in the newly formed Clearwater oil CGU. 

On December 21, 2020 the Company completed an acquisition of certain oil and gas properties located 

in the Northern Clearwater area  of Alberta (Nipisi field) and the Southern Clearwater area of Alberta 

(Jarvie field) for total cash consideration of $41.0 million including $1.3 million of capitalized transaction 

costs. The Company applied the optional concentration test permitted under IFRS 3 to the acquisition 

which resulted in the acquired assets being accounted for as an asset acquisition. As such the purchase 

price was allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities based on their relative fair values at the date 

of acquisition. Assets acquired in this transaction were included in the newly formed Clearwater oil CGU.  

For the year ended December 31, 2020 the Company disposed of a 2% GORR on a select portion of 

the Nipisi field and Jarvie field properties acquired in the December 21, 2020 Northern Clearwater  and 

Southern Clearwater area oil acquisitions for proceeds of $15.5 million and recorded a gain on 

disposition of $10.7 million. 
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8. Property, plant and equipment:   

 

  Oil and natural Other   

($ thousands) gas interests assets Total 
 

   
Cost:    
Balance at December 31, 2019 $2,076,327 $1,995 $2,078,322 

Right-of-use assets (note 13)  – 332 332 

Property acquisitions (note 7) 111,339 – 111,339 

Cash additions 102,691 284 102,975 

Decommissioning costs 45,850 – 45,850 

Stock-based compensation 897 – 897 

Transfer from exploration and     

evaluation assets (note 10) 148 – 148 

Balance at December 31, 2020 2,337,252 2,611 2,339,863 

Right-of-use assets (note 13)  – 1,914 1,914 

Acquisitions (note 7) 905,780 73 905,853 

Cash additions 186,547 1,017 187,564 

Decommissioning costs 23,573 – 23,573 

Stock-based compensation 3,588 – 3,588 

Transfer from exploration and     
evaluation assets (note 10) 532 – 532 

Disposals (65,733) – (65,733) 

Balance at December 31, 2021 $3,391,539 $5,615 $3,397,154 
 

   
Accumulated depletion, depreciation and impairment losses:                  
    

Balance at December 31, 2019 $876,189 $1,183 $877,372 

Depletion and depreciation 119,667 394 120,061 

Impairment (note 9) 399,000 – 399,000 

Balance at December 31, 2020 1,394,856 1,577 1,396,433 

Depletion and depreciation 211,093 529 211,622 

Disposals (57,436) – (57,436) 

Impairment reversal (note 9) (390,000) – (390,000) 

Balance at December 31, 2021 $1,158,513 $2,106 $1,160,619 
        

 

 
  

  Oil and natural Other   

  gas interests assets Total 
 

   
Carrying amounts:    
    At December 31, 2020 $942,396 $1,034 $943,430 

    At December 31, 2021 $2,233,026 $3,509 $2,236,535 
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(a) Security: 

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, all of the Company’s properties were pledged as security for the bank 

debt (note 16). 

(b) Contingencies: 

Although the Company believes that it has title to its oil and natural gas properties, it cannot control or 

completely protect itself against the risk of title disputes or challenges. 

(c) Dispositions: 

On September 9, 2021, Tamarack completed a non-cash asset swap transaction whereby the Company 

disposed of certain oil properties located in the Lochend and Harmattan areas of Alberta (Cardium oil 

CGU) and acquired certain oil properties in the Monarch area of Alberta (Penny oil CGU). The carrying 

value of the Lochend and Harmattan assets disposed, net of decommissioning obligations, was $6.9 

million and the fair value of the Monarch net assets acquired was $7.8 million, resulting in a gain on the 

exchange of $0.9 million.  

For the year ended December 31, 2021 the Company also disposed of non-core properties for proceeds 

of $1.2 million and recorded a gain on disposition of $0.3 million.  

(d) Other: 

The calculation of depletion at December 31, 2021 includes estimated future development costs of 

$965,626 (December 31, 2020 – $637,332) associated with the development of the Company’s proved 

and probable oil and natural gas reserves and excludes salvage value of $89,442 (December 31, 2020 

– $79,357). 

Certain facilities, surface and office leases are included in property, plant and equipment as right-of-
use assets:  

($ thousands) 
Processing  

facilities 
Surface 
leases 

Office 
leases 

Total 

 
 

   

Balance at December 31, 2019 $9,402 $1,736 $ – $11,138 

    Lease additions – – 332 332 

    Depletion and depreciation (1,366) (150) (145) (1,661) 

    Impairment (note 9) (3,123) (308) – (3,431) 

Balance at December 31, 2020 $4,913 $1,278 $187 $6,378 

    Lease additions – – 1,914 1,914 

    Leases acquired (note 7) 1,551 – 73 1,624 

    Depletion and depreciation (1,782) (144) (474) (2,400) 

    Impairment reversal (note 9) 2,225  –  – 2,225 

Balance at December 31, 2021 $6,907 $1,134 $1,700 $9,741 
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9.  Impairment and impairment reversal 

The Company has considered the impact of the evolving worldwide demand for energy and global 

advancement of alternative sources of energy not sourced from fossil fuels in its assessment of impairment 

and impairment reversal on its oil and gas properties, both as possible indicators of impairment and impairment 

reversal, and as part of the estimates and judgments involved in testing for impairment and impairment 

reversal.   The estimated recoverable amount of the Company’s oil and gas properties was based on proved 

and probable reserves, the life of which is generally less than 20 years. 

(a) 2021 assessment: 

At December 31, 2021 there were no indicators of impairment identified.  

At both December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, the Company recorded reversals of prior impairment 

charges. 

At December 31, 2021 there were indicators of reversal of impairment identified in the Company’s 

Cardium oil CGU, Viking oil CGU and Penny oil CGU as a result of improved forward commodity prices 

for natural gas, condensate and oil associated with the proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves 

at December 31, 2021, and a resultant increase in proved and probable reserves as estimated in the 

Company’s December 31, 2021 external independent qualified reserves evaluators report. The 

impairment reversal of $90.0 million was recorded as follows: the Cardium oil CGU reversed $14.3 

million of historical impairment charges, the Viking oil CGU reversed $52.3 million of historical 

impairment charges and the Penny oil CGU reversed $23.4 million of historical impairment charges. The 

estimated recoverable amount of these CGUs  as at December 31, 2021, net of decommissioning 

obligations, was $248.6 million for the Cardium oil CGU, $692.5 million for the Viking oil CGU and $83.4 

million for the Penny oil CGU.  The Viking oil CGU and Penny oil CGU have fully reversed all previous 

historical impairment charges, net of notional depletion.  The estimated recoverable amount of the CGUs 

was based on the net present value of before tax cash flows from proved and probable oil and natural 

gas reserves estimated by the Company’s external independent qualified reserves evaluator at 

December 31, 2021 at discount rates specific to the underlying composition of reserve categories of 

12% to 25% (level 3 inputs). The estimated recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined using 

the FVLCD methodology based on what Tamarack estimates it could receive for the assets in these 

CGUs if it disposed of them in the current environment taking into account higher commodity prices. 

The impairment reversal of $90.0 million was allocated to property, plant and equipment in the amount 

of $89.5 million and $0.5 million was allocated to the right-of-use assets. 

The result of Tamarack’s impairment reversal tests are sensitive to changes in forecasted oil and natural 

gas commodity prices, forecasted production, forecasted production costs, forecasted royalty costs, 

forecasted future development costs and discount rates. As such, any changes to these significant 

assumptions and estimates could decrease or increase the estimated recoverable amounts of the 

CGUs.  
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As at December 31, 2021, all else being equal, a 1% change in the discount rate would result in a 

change to impairment reversal of $8.5 million, a $1.00/bbl Cdn change to oil prices would result in a 

change to impairment reversal of approximately $5.5 million, and a $0.10/mmbtu Cdn change to natural 

gas prices would result in a change to impairment reversal of $5.9 million to the Cardium oil CGU.   The 

impairment reversal recorded for the Viking oil CGU and Penny oil CGU, for which all previous 

impairment, net of depletion, has been reversed,  would not change based on altering the inputs noted 

above. 
 

The following forecasted oil and natural gas commodity price assumptions were used in determining 

whether a reversal of impairment to the carrying value of the CGUs existed at December 31, 2021, as 

forecasted by the external independent qualified reserves evaluator based on an average of those used 

by three external independent qualified reserves evaluator companies: 

(1) Forecasted oil and natural gas commodity price, effective January 1, 2022. 

At June 30, 2021, there were indicators of reversal of impairment identified in the Company’s Cardium 

oil CGU and Viking oil CGU as a result of improved forward commodity prices for natural gas, 

condensate and oil associated with the proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves at June 30, 

2021. The impairment reversal of $300.0 million was recorded as follows: the Cardium oil CGU reversed 

$140.0 million of historical impairment charges and the Viking oil CGU reversed $160.0 million of 

historical impairment charges. The estimated recoverable amount of these CGUs as at June 30, 2021, 

net of decommissioning obligations, was $257.2 million for the Cardium oil CGU and $643.8 million for 

the Viking oil CGU based on the net present value of before tax cash flows from proved and probable 

oil and natural gas reserves estimated by the Company’s external independent qualified reserves 

evaluator at December 31, 2020 and updated by the Company’s internal reserves evaluator to June 30, 

2021 for production, production costs, royalty costs, future development costs and forecasted oil and 

natural gas commodity prices as at that date at discount rates specific to the underlying composition of 

reserve categories of 10% to 25% (level 3 inputs). The estimated recoverable amounts of the CGUs 

were determined using the FVLCD methodology based on what Tamarack estimates it could receive for 

the assets in these CGUs if it disposed of them in the current environment taking into account higher oil 

and natural gas commodity prices. The impairment reversal of $300.0 million was allocated to property, 

plant and equipment in the amount of $298.3 million and $1.7 million was allocated to the right-of-use 

assets. 

  

 
2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter 

Exchange rate  
(US$/Cdn$)(1) 

0.7967 0.7967 0.7967 0.7967 0.7967 0.7967 0.7967 0.7967 0.7967 

WTI  
(US$/bbl)(1)  

72.83 68.78 66.76 68.09 69.45 70.84 72.26 73.70 +2.0%/yr  

Edmonton Par 
(Cdn$/bbl)(1) 

86.82 80.73 78.01 79.57 81.16 82.78 84.44 86.13 +2.0%/yr 

AECO  
(Cdn$/MMbtu)(1)  

3.56 3.20 3.05 3.10 3.17 3.23 3.30 3.36 +2.0%/yr  
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The following forecasted oil and natural gas commodity price assumptions were used in determining 

whether a reversal of impairment to the carrying value of the CGUs existed at June 30, 2021, as 

forecasted by the external independent qualified reserves evaluator based on an average of those used 

by three external independent qualified reserves evaluator companies: 

(1) Forecasted oil and natural gas commodity price, effective July 1, 2021. 

The Company has recorded an aggregate impairment reversal of $390.0 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2021 of which $154.3 million related to the Cardium oil CGU, $212.3 million related to 

the Viking oil CGU and $23.4 million related to the Penny oil CGU.  The aggregate impairment reversal 

was allocated to property, plant and equipment in the amount of $387.8 million and $2.2 million was 

allocated to right-of-use assets. 

(b) 2020 assessment: 

The Company determined that there were no external or internal indicators of impairment or historical 

impairment reversal at December 31, 2020 for the Viking oil, Cardium oil, minor gas and Clearwater oil 

CGUs and no impairment tests were required. However, there were indicators of impairment for the 

Penny oil CGU. 

At December 31, 2020, an impairment charge of $18.0 million was recorded as a result of a decrease 

in the current quantities of recoverable proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves at the 

Company’s Penny oil CGU. The estimated recoverable amount of this CGU as at December 31, 2020, 

net of decommissioning obligations, was estimated to be $62.0 million based on the net present value 

of before tax cash flows from proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves estimated by the 

Company’s external independent qualified reserves evaluator at discount rates specific to the underlying 

composition of reserve categories of 12% to 25% (level 3 inputs). The estimated recoverable amount of 

the Penny oil CGU was determined using the FVLCD methodology based on what Tamarack could 

receive for the assets in this CGU if it disposed of them in the current environment taking into account 

lower oil and natural gas commodity prices. 

The results of Tamarack’s impairment tests are sensitive to changes in forecasted oil and natural gas 

commodity prices; forecasted production; forecasted production costs; forecasted royalty costs; 

forecasted future development costs and discount rates. As such, any changes to these significant 

assumptions and estimates could decrease or increase the estimated recoverable amounts of the CGUs 

and result in impairment charges or in the reversal of historical impairment charges.  

As at December 31, 2020, all else being equal, a 1% change in the discount rate would result in a 

change to impairment of approximately $3.2 million to the Penny oil CGU, a $1.00/bbl Cdn change to 

oil prices would result in a change to impairment of approximately $2.5 million to the Penny oil CGU. 

  

 
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter 

Exchange rate  
(US$/Cdn$)(1) 

0.8033 0.8017 0.8000 0.8000 0.8000 0.8000 0.8000 0.8000 0.8000 

WTI  
(US$/bbl)(1)  

71.33 67.20 63.95 63.23 64.50 65.79 67.10 68.44 +2.0%/yr  

Edmonton Par 
(Cdn$/bbl)(1) 

83.20 78.27 74.06 73.05 74.51 76.00 77.52 79.07 +2.0%/yr 

AECO  
(Cdn$/MMbtu)(1)  

3.46 3.13 2.72 2.71 2.76 2.82 2.88 2.94 +2.0%/yr  
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The following forecasted oil and natural gas commodity price assumptions were used in determining 

whether an impairment to the carrying value of the CGUs existed at December 31, 2020, as forecasted 

by the external independent qualified reserves evaluator based on an average of those used by three 

external independent qualified reserves evaluator companies: 

(1) Forecasted oil and natural gas commodity price, effective January 1, 2021. 

At March 31, 2020 an impairment charge of $381.0 million was recorded as a result of a decrease in 

current and forecasted oil and natural gas commodity prices. The impairment recognized relates to the 

Company’s CGUs as follows: the Viking oil CGU was impaired $235.0 million, the Cardium oil CGU was 

impaired $137.0 million, the Penny oil CGU was impaired $7.0 million and the minor gas CGU was 

impaired $2.0 million. The estimated recoverable amount of these CGUs as at March 31, 2020, net of 

decommissioning obligations, was $447.9 million for the Viking oil CGU, $137.9 million for the Cardium 

oil CGU, $81.4 million for the Penny oil CGU and ($11.1) million for the minor gas CGU based on the 

net present value of before tax cash flows from proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves 

estimated by the Company’s external independent qualified reserves evaluator at December 31, 2019 

and updated by the Company’s internal reserves evaluator to March 31, 2020 for production, production 

costs, royalty costs, future development costs and forecasted oil and natural gas commodity prices as 

at that date at discount rates specific to the underlying composition of reserve categories of 10% to 20% 

(level 3 inputs). The estimated recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined using the FVLCD 

methodology based on what Tamarack estimates it could receive for the assets in these CGUs if it 

disposed of them in the current environment taking into account lower oil and natural gas commodity 

prices. The impairment charge of $381.0 million was allocated to property, plant and equipment in the 

amount of $377.6 million and $3.4 million was allocated to the right-of-use asset. 

The results of Tamarack’s impairment tests are sensitive to changes in forecasted oil and natural gas 

commodity prices, forecasted production, forecasted production costs, forecasted royalty costs, 

forecasted future development costs and discount rates. As such, any changes to these significant 

assumptions and estimates could decrease or increase the estimated recoverable amounts of the CGUs 

and result in impairment charges or in the reversal of historical impairment charges.  

  

 
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter 

Exchange rate  
(US$/Cdn$)(1) 

0.7683 0.7650 0.7633 0.7633 0.7633 0.7633 0.7633 0.7633 0.7633 

WTI  
(US$/bbl)(1)  

47.17 50.17 53.17 54.97 56.07 57.19 58.34 59.50 +2.0%/yr  

Edmonton Par 
(Cdn$/bbl)(1) 

55.76 59.89 63.48 65.76 67.13 68.53 69.95 71.40 +2.0%/yr 

AECO  
(Cdn$/mmbtu)(1)  

2.78 2.70 2.61 2.65 2.70 2.76 2.81 2.86 +2.0%/yr  
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As at March 31, 2020, all else being equal, a 1% change in the discount rate, a $1.00/bbl Cdn change 

to oil prices and a $0.10/mmbtu Cdn change to natural gas prices would result in the following changes 

to the impairment charge recognized: 

  

Impairment expense ($ millions) 
1% change in 
discount rate 

$1.00 Cdn change 
in oil price 

$0.10/mmbtu Cdn 
change in gas price 

 
   

Viking oil CGU $15.9 $17.1 $2.9 

Cardium oil CGU 7.9 5.9 5.5 

Penny oil CGU 4.1 3.1 0.3 

Minor gas CGU 0.3 0.4 0.4 

Total $28.2 $26.5 $9.1 

 

The following forecasted oil and natural gas commodity price assumptions were used in determining 

whether an impairment or reversal of impairment to the carrying value of the CGUs existed at March 31, 

2020, as forecasted by the external independent qualified reserves evaluator based on an average of 

those used by three external independent qualified reserves evaluator companies: 

(1)  Forecasted oil and natural gas commodity price, effective April 1, 2020. 

The Company recorded an aggregate impairment charge of $399.0 million for the year ended December 

31, 2020 of which $235.0 million related to the Viking oil CGU, $137.0 million related to the Cardium oil 

CGU, $25.0 million related to the Penny oil CGU, and $2.0 million related to the minor gas CGU. The 

aggregate impairment was allocated to property, plant and equipment in the amount of $395.6 million 

and $3.4 million was allocated to right-of-use assets. 
  

 
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter 

Exchange rate  
(US$/Cdn$)(1) 

0.7067 0.7283 0.7450 0.7467 0.7483 0.7500 0.7500 0.7500 0.7500 

WTI  
(US$/bbl)(1)  

29.17 40.45 49.17 53.28 55.66 56.87 58.01 59.17 +2.0%/yr  

Edmonton Par 
(Cdn$/bbl)(1) 

29.22 46.85 59.27 65.02 68.43 69.81 71.24 72.70 +2.0%/yr 

AECO  
(Cdn$/mmbtu)(1)  

1.74 2.20 2.37 2.45 2.52 2.60 2.66 2.72 +2.0%/yr  
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10. Exploration and evaluation assets:  

 

($ thousands)     Total 
 

   
Cost:    
Balance at December 31, 2019   $25,854 

    Additions   568 

    Transfer to property, plant and equipment (note 8)  (148) 

Balance at December 31, 2020     26,274 

    Additions   3,595 

    Disposal (note 8)   (3,169) 

    Transfer to property, plant and equipment (note 8)  (532) 

Balance at December 31, 2021     $26,168 
 

   
Accumulated amortization and impairment:   
Balance at December 31, 2019   $24,217 

    Amortization     597 

Balance at December 31, 2020     24,814 

    Amortization   715 

    Disposal (note 8)   (3,169) 

Balance at December 31, 2021     $22,360 
        

      Total 
 

   
Carrying amounts:    
    At December 31, 2020   $1,460 

    At December 31, 2021   $3,808 
        

 

11. Decommissioning obligations:  

The decommissioning obligations result from net ownership interests in oil and natural gas assets including 

well sites, gathering systems and processing facilities. The Company estimates the total undiscounted and 

uninflated amount of cash flows required to settle its decommissioning obligations to be approximately $273.4 

million at December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 – $233.9 million), which is expected to be incurred between 

2022 and 2050. A risk-free rate of 1.7% (December 31, 2020 – 1.2%) and an inflation rate of 1.8% (December 

31, 2020 – 1.5%) is used to calculate the present value of the decommissioning obligations at December 31, 

2021 as presented in the table below:  

 

($ thousands) December 31, 2021   December 31, 2020 

Balance, beginning of the year $245,437  $184,846 

  Liabilities incurred 8,955  3,839 

  Liabilities acquired (note 7) 21,702  17,388 

  Change in estimates (3,687)  20,051 

  Change in discount rate on acquisition 18,305  21,960 

  Expenditures (4,466)  (3,825) 

  Site rehabilitation program grant (note 21) (5,365)  (1,395) 

  Liabilities disposed (1,304)   – 

  Accretion (note 17) 4,895  2,573 

Balance, end of the year $284,472   $245,437 
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Revisions due to the change of discount rate on acquisitions of $18.3 million results from the difference 

between the fair value discount rate on the acquisition date and the subsequent revaluation using the risk-free 

rate. 

The change in estimate for the year ended December 31, 2021 resulted from decommissioning obligations 

being revalued using a risk-free rate of 1.7% and an inflation rate of 1.8% as opposed to a risk-free rate of 

1.2% and an inflation rate of 1.5% used at December 31, 2020. 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, approximately $5.4 million (December 31, 2020 – $1.4 million) 

was granted and paid through the SRP and ASCP programs to pay service companies to complete 

abandonment and reclamation work. 

Timing of decommissioning obligation expenditures expected to be incurred are:  

($ thousands) As at December 31, 2021 

Decommissioning obligations – Less than 1 year $5,298 

Decommissioning obligations – Greater than 1 year 279,174 

Total $284,472 
      

 

12.  Personnel expenses: 

The aggregate payroll expense of employees and executive management was as follows: 

Years ended December 31, ($ thousands) 
2021 2020 

Wages and salaries                                                     $14,270        $8,495       

Government emergency wage subsidy – (1,321) 

Benefits and other personnel costs 2,221        1,748        

Stock-based compensation 9,088           5,818           

Total employee remuneration 25,579           14,740           

   

Capitalized portion of total remuneration (9,459)         (4,847)         

   

    $16,120             $9,893          

Personnel expenses directly attributed to capital activities have been capitalized and included in property, plant 

and equipment. 
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In addition to their salaries, the Company also provides cash and non-cash benefits to executive officers and 

employees. The executive officers include the President and Chief Executive Officer, the VP Finance and 

Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Operating Officer, the VP Engineering, the VP Production and Operations, 

the VP Exploration and the VP Corporate Planning and Business Development. Executive officers, employees 

and directors may also participate in the Company’s stock option and performance and restricted share unit 

program.  Key executive officers’ and directors’ compensation is comprised of the following: 

Years ended December 31, ($ thousands) 
2021 2020 

Salaries, wages and short-term benefits $5,180        $4,218        

Stock-based compensation (1)                    6,014                             4,239          

    $11,194           $8,457        

(1) Represents the amortization of stock-based compensation associated with restricted share units, performance share units and 
stock options granted to executive officers and directors as recorded in the financial statements. Stock based compensation for 
2021 also includes the settlement of preferred shares in the amount of $840. 

13. Lease liabilities:  

The Company has lease liabilities for contracts related to financing facilities, surface leases and the Company’s 

head office lease. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different 

terms and conditions. Discount rates used during the year ended December 31, 2021 were between 4.0% and 

8.8%, depending on the duration of the lease. The following table summarizes lease liabilities at December 

31, 2021:  

 

Years ended December 31, ($ thousands) 2021   2020 

Balance, beginning of the year $10,154  $12,170 

    Lease additions 1,914  332 

    Leases acquired (note 7) 1,624   – 

    Interest expense 791  840 

    Lease payments (3,951)   (3,188) 

Balance, end of the year $10,532   $10,154 

Current portion $3,600   $2,484 

Long term portion $6,932   $7,670 
            

 

Undiscounted cash outflows relating to the lease liabilities are:  

 

Years ended December 31, ($ thousands) 2021   2020 

Less than 1 year $4,099  $3,155 

Years 2 and 3 6,369  6,140 

Years 4 and 5 2,414  3,110 

Thereafter 1,745   2,309 

Total $14,627   $14,714 
            

The expense recognized relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets for the year ended 

December 31, 2021 was $0.1 million (December 31, 2020 - $0.1 million) and have been included in production 

expenses.  
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14. Supplemental cash flow information: 

Changes in non-cash working capital consists of:  

Years ended December 31, ($ thousands) 2021 2020 
 

     

Source/(use) of cash:     

    Accounts receivable $(49,123) $11,438  

    Prepaid expenses and deposits (6,564) 659  

    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 33,285 1,094  

    Working capital acquired (note 7) 10,646  –  

  $(11,756) $13,191  

     

Related to operating activities $(29,789) $6,367  

Related to financing activities $(2,105) $1,556  

Related to investing activities $20,138 $5,268  
      

 

 

The following are included in cash provided by operating activities:  

Years ended December 31, ($ thousands) 2021 2020 
 

Interest paid in cash on bank debt $18,334 $8,611  

Bank renewal fees 2,359 673  

Interest paid on lease liabilities 791 840  
      

 

 
The table below reconciles the movements of financial liabilities to cash flows arising from financing 
activities: 

($ thousands) Lease liabilities Bank debt 

   

Balance at January 1, 2020: $12,170 $192,907 

Changes from financing cash flows:   

    Payment of lease liabilities (2,348) – 

    Draw on bank debt – 16,701 

Other changes:   

    Interest expense 840 – 

    Lease additions 332 – 

    Interest paid (840) – 

    Unrealized gain on foreign exchange – 1,249 

Balance at December 31, 2020 $10,154 $210,857 

Changes from financing cash flows:   

    Payment of lease liabilities (3,160) – 

    Draw on bank debt – 265,314 

Other changes:   

    Interest expense 791 – 

    Lease additions 1,914 – 

    Lease acquired (note 7) 1,624 – 

    Interest paid (791) – 

    Unrealized loss on foreign exchange – 1,266 

Balance at December 31, 2021 $10,532 $477,437 
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15. Income taxes: 

The tax provision differs from the amount computed by applying the combined Canadian federal and provincial 

statutory income tax rates to loss before taxes as follows: 

In 2021, the blended statutory tax rate was 23.18% (December 31, 2020 – 24.00).  Effective July 1, 2020, the 

Government of Alberta accelerated the general corporate tax rate reduction to 8%. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

In calculating the deferred income tax liability in 2021, the Company included $123.0 million (December 31, 

2020 - $237.1 million) of non-capital losses available for carry forward to reduce taxable income in future years. 

These losses expire between 2029 and 2039. 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following item: 

 
  

Years ended December 31, ($ thousands) 
2021 2020 

Income (loss) before taxes $519,766 $(398,928) 

Expected tax rate 23.18% 24.00% 

Expected income tax recovery (expense) (120,482) 95,743 

Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets (7,283) (4,148) 

Stock-based compensation (1,384) (1,320) 

Change in rates and other (109) (2,731) 

Deferred income tax recovery (expense) $(129,258) $87,544 
   

Years ended December 31, ($ thousands) 2021 2020 

Deferred tax liabilities:    

    Property, plant and equipment $(308,451) $(66,163) 

   

Deferred tax assets:   

    Financial instruments and foreign exchange 3,021 2,331 

    Non-capital losses 27,526 54,439 

    Share issue costs 1,223 287 

    Lease liabilities 2,544 2,336 

    Decommissioning obligations 65,793 56,453 

Total $(208,344) $49,683 

Years ended December 31, ($ thousands) 
2021 2020 

Property, plant and equipment $48,271 $37,459 
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A continuity of the net deferred tax asset (liability) is detailed in the following tables: 

($ thousands) 
Balance 

January 1, 
2020 

Recognized 
in equity 

Recognized in 
business 

combinations 

Recognized 
in profit or 

loss 
 

Other 

Balance 
December 31, 

2020 
Property, plant and 
equipment  

$(126,622)  $           – $           – $60,459 $           – $(66,163)  

Lease liabilities 2,921 – – (585) – 2,336 

Non-capital losses 39,797 – – 14,642 – 54,439 

Decommissioning 
obligations 

44,363 – – 12,090 – 56,453 

Share issue costs 320 368 – (401) – 287 

Financial instruments and 
foreign exchange 

992 – – 1,339 – 2,331 

Total  $(38,229) $           368 $           – $87,544 $           – $49,683 

       

       

($ thousands) 
Balance 

January 1, 
2021 

Recognized 
in equity 

Recognized in 
business 

combinations 

Recognized 
in profit or 

loss 
 

Other 

Balance 
December 31, 

2021 
Property, plant and 
equipment  

$(66,163)  $           –           $(133,619) $(108,669) $           – $(308,451)  

Lease liabilities 2,336 – 374 (166) – 2,544 

Non-capital losses 54,439 – – (26,913) – 27,526 

Decommissioning 
obligations 

56,453 – 1,397 7,943 – 65,793 

Share issue costs 287 869 – 67 – 1,223 

Financial instruments and 
foreign exchange 

2,331 – 2,210 (1,520) – 3,021 

Total  $49,683 $           869 $(129,638) $(129,258) $           – $(208,344) 

 

16. Bank debt: 

Tamarack currently has available a Sustainability Linked Lending revolving credit facility in the amount of $550 

million and an operating facility of $50 million (collectively, the “SLL Facility”) with a syndicate of lenders.  

The Company’s existing credit facility was amended to include sustainability-linked incentive pricing terms in 

the recently completed SLL Facility Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (“ARCA”).  Additionally, the 

ARCA eliminated the term credit facility and the Consolidated Net Debt to Cash Flow Ratio financial covenant 

and added a Consolidated Senior Debt-to-Consolidated EBITDA ratio interest rate determination.  

The total interest rate on the SLL Facility is determined through a pricing grid that categorizes based on both 

a total amount drawn, and a Consolidated Senior Debt-to-Consolidated EBITDA Ratio as defined in the SLL 

Facility ARCA. The interest rate will vary depending on: the lending vehicle employed; the total loan value 

drawn; and the Company’s Consolidated Senior Debt-to-Consolidated EBITDA ratio.  The ARCA defines: (i) 

Consolidated Senior Debt to Consolidated EBITDA Ratio as the ratio of Consolidated Senior Debt at the end 

of the Fiscal Quarter to Consolidated EBITDA for the Consolidated EBITDA period;  (ii) Consolidated Senior 

Debt as Consolidated Debt; and (iii) Consolidated EBITDA as determined in accordance with IFRS as Net 

Income plus interest expense, plus the provision for income taxes, plus or minus all non-cash items, plus one-

time transaction costs and fees relating to acquisitions, dispositions, equity offerings and other similar 

transactions, plus or minus losses and or gains from asset sales, plus or minus losses or earnings attributable 

to extraordinary and non-recurring items and less any cash payments related to prior periods included or 

deducted in determining Net Income. The Consolidated EBITDA period as at December 31, 2021 is the most 

recent quarter annualized. 
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Interest on bankers’ acceptances (“BA”) and LIBOR (or LIBOR Benchmark Replacement) based loans 

(“LIBOR”) will vary based on a BA/LIBOR pricing grid from a low of the banks’ posted rates plus 2.75% to a 

high of the banks’ posted rates plus 4.75%. Interest on prime lending varies based on a prime rate pricing 

grid from a low of the banks’ prime rates plus 1.75% to a high of the banks’ prime rates plus 3.75%. The 

standby fee for the SLL Facility will vary as per a pricing grid from a low of 0.69% to a high of 1.19% on the 

undrawn portion of the SLL Facility. The lending vehicles that Tamarack employs will vary from time to time 

based on capital needs and current market rates.  

The LIBOR benchmark transition begins on December 31, 2021 with certain tenors of the U.S. dollar LIBOR 

benchmark no longer published as of that date.  Certain other tenors will continue to be published through 

mid-2023.  As per the ARCA the LIBOR benchmark will be replaced by the secured overnight financing rate 

(“SOFR”) as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.  We do not expect this change to have a 

material impact to Tamarack under the SLL Facility as U.S. dollar borrowings under the SLL facility can also 

bear interest at the banks’ U.S. prime rates. 

The SLL Facility incorporates sustainability-linked incentive pricing terms.  The SLL Facility incorporates 

three of Tamarack’s long-term goals as key performance indicators (“KPIs”) and has structured them into 

sustainability performance targets (“SPTs”), that will decrease Tamarack’s cost of borrowing by up to five 

basis points if the SPTs are achieved or increase Tamarack’s cost of borrowing by up to five basis points in 

the event SPTs are missed. The SPTs include:  

• Greenhouse Gas Emissions Intensity: 40% reduction in Scope 1 and 2 emissions by 2025 over the 

2020 baseline, with a significant decrease in 2021 and more ratable 5% decreases through 2022 to 

2025. This SPT exceeds the previous set target due to 2021 acquisitions and positive progress in 

emissions reductions to date. 

• Decommissioning Management: committed annual capital investment in abandonment, remediation 

and reclamation activities at 150% of the Alberta Energy Regulator inventory reduction voluntary 

closure program targets. This target is equivalent to ~4.33% of inactive liabilities in 2021 with a 5% 

annual escalation.  

• Indigenous Workforce Participation: target workforce representation of 6% or greater by 2025 with 

annual milestones and minimum of two additions each year. 

As at December 31, 2021, the SLL Facility was secured by a $1.2 billion supplemental debenture with a floating 

charge over all assets. As the available lending limits of the SLL Facility are based on the lenders’ interpretation 

of the Company’s reserves and future commodity prices, there can be no assurance as to the amount of 

available facilities that will be determined at each scheduled review.  

A total of $477.4 million was drawn as of December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 – $210.9 million). The 

interest rate applicable to the drawn amounts as of this date was 3.37%. The SLL Facility will be subject to its 

next extension by May 31, 2022, and if not extended by that date, will cease to revolve and all outstanding 

balances will become repayable one year from that date.  

The Company manages its SLL Facility using a combination of prime rate loans, BA notes and US dollar 

denominated LIBOR loans. During the quarter ended December 31, 2021, concurrent with the drawdown of 

US dollar LIBOR loans, the Company entered into cross-currency swaps (“CCS”) to fix the foreign exchange 

on US dollar LIBOR loan amounts for purposes of interest and principal repayments. At December 31, 2021, 

the Company had drawn US$235.0 million, fixed at notional amounts of $297.5 million through CCS maturing 

across the month of January 2022 (December 31, 2020 – the Company had drawn US$111.0 million, fixed at 

notional amounts of $142.8 million through various CCS). 
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17. Finance expenses: 

 

Years ended December 31, ($ thousands) 2021 2020 
 

     

Interest on bank debt $20,693 $9,284  

Interest expense on lease liabilities 791 840  

Unrealized loss on foreign exchange 1,266 1,249  

Unrealized gain on cross-currency swap (1,305) (1,311)  

Accretion of decommissioning obligations 4,895 2,573  

  $26,340 $12,635  
      

 

18. Shareholders’ equity: 

a) Share capital: 

At December 31, 2021 and 2020 the Company was authorized to issue an unlimited number of common 

shares (“Common Shares”) and preferred shares without nominal or par value.  

    2021   2020 

($ thousands) Number Amount Number Amount 

Balance, January 1 262,776,395 $876,124 222,793,117 $832,799 

Issue of common shares - cash 33,333,300 75,000 40,925,000 47,064 

Issue of common shares - acquisitions 110,230,769 290,427  –  – 

Issue of common shares - cash on stock options 481,667 1,623  –  – 

Issue of common shares - RSU and PSU exercise 4,047,343  – 3,363,378  – 

Issue on settlement of preferred shares 307,025 1,104  –  – 

Purchase of common shares - cancellation  –  – (664,100) (2,551) 

Purchase of common shares - RSU and PSU exercise (4,238,400)  – (3,641,000)  – 

Transfer on stock option exercise  – 1,023  –  – 

Share issue costs, net of tax (2021 - $869; 2020 - 
$368) 

 – (2,909)  – (1,188) 

Balance, December 31 406,938,099 $1,242,392 262,776,395 $876,124 
          

No preferred shares have been issued. 

b) Normal course issuer bid: 

The Company announced on November 1, 2021 that the Toronto Stock Exchange had accepted the 

Company’s intention to recommence the NCIB that was previously suspended on April 7, 2020. 

Pursuant to the NCIB, the Company is permitted to purchase up to 20.4 million Common Shares over a 

period of twelve months commencing on November 3, 2021.  During the year ended December 31, 

2021, the Company did not purchase and cancel any Common shares. 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company purchased and cancelled 0.7 million Common 

Shares at an average price of $1.94 per Common Share, for a total repurchase cost of $1.3 million. The 

Company suspended the NCIB as at April 7, 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
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c) Treasury shares: 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company spent $13.0 million to purchase 4.2 million 

Common Shares to be used to settle stock options ( “Stock Options”), restricted share units (“RSUs”) 

and performance share units (“PSUs”) on the date of exercise. As at December 31, 2021, 937,799 

Common Shares remain classified as treasury shares to be used for future settlements of Stock Options, 

RSUs and PSUs. 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company spent $3.9 million to purchase 3.6 million 

Common Shares to be used to settle restricted share units (“RSUs”) on the date of exercise. As at 

December 31, 2020, 746,742 Common Shares remain classified as treasury shares to be used for future 

settlements. 

19. Net income (loss) per share: 

The following table summarizes the net income (loss) and weighted average shares used in calculating net 

income (loss) per share: 

($ thousands, except per share amounts) 2021 2020 
 

    
 

Net income (loss) $390,508 $(311,384)  

    
 

Weighted average shares - basic 353,642 222,781  

Weighted average shares - diluted 360,779 222,781  

       

Net income (loss) per share-basic $ 1.10 $(1.40)  

Net income (loss) per share-diluted $ 1.08 $(1.40)  
      

 

Per share amounts have been calculated using the weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding. 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, 10.6 million Common Shares issuable upon the exercise and/or 

settlement of Stock Options, RSUs and PSUs were included in the diluted weighted average number of 

Common Shares outstanding, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2020, 11.5 million Common 

Shares issuable upon the exercise and/or settlement of Stock Options, RSUs, PSUs and TAC Preferred 

Shares were excluded from the diluted weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding as they 

were anti-dilutive due to the net loss.  
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20. Share-based payments: 

The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense relating to Stock Options, RSUs and 

PSUs:  

Years ended December 31, ($ thousands) 2021 2020 
 

Non-cash stock- based compensation     

    Stock Options $595 $285  

    RSUs 3,512 3,525  

    PSUs 4,611 2,587  

Non-cash stock-based compensation: $8,718 $6,397  

Preferred share settlement 840  –  

Total capitalized costs (3,588) (897)  

Total expensed non-cash stock-based compensation 5,970 5,500  

      
 

(a) Preferred share plan: 

At December 31, 2021, there are no (December 31, 2020 – 740,307) preferred shares of Tamarack 

Acquisition Corp. (the “TAC Preferred Shares”) issued and outstanding. The Company settled the TAC 

Preferred Shares by issuing 307,025 Common Shares and a payment of $0.1 million during the fourth 

quarter of 2021 in connection with the amalgamation of Tamarack Acquisition Corp. into Tamarack 

Valley Energy Ltd. on January 1, 2022, resulting in $0.8 million of additional compensation expense as 

the amount settled was in excess of the fair value of the preferred shares. 

(b) Options: 

Pursuant to the Company’s stock option plan (the “Stock Option Plan”) and the Company’s performance 

and restricted share unit plan (the “PRSU Plan”), the Company may grant up to an aggregate of 28.5 

million Stock Options, RSUs and PSUs to officers, employees, directors and consultants of the 

Company or its subsidiaries, as applicable. As at December 31, 2021, there was an aggregate of 11.7 

million Stock Options, RSUs and PSUs issued and outstanding. 

Stock Options issued under the Stock Option Plan do not have an exercise price of less than the market 

price of the Common Shares at the time of grant, do not exceed a five-year term and vest one-third on 

each of the first, second and third anniversaries from the date of grant. There were 0.9 million Stock 

Options granted during the year ended December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 – 0.6 million). 
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The fair value of each Stock Option granted during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was 

estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The weighted average fair 

value and weighted average assumptions used to fair value the options are as follows: 

 2021 2020 

Risk free rate (%)  0.85 0.71 

Expected volatility (%) 61 51 

Expected life (years) 5 5 

Forfeiture rate (%) – – 

Dividend ($ per share) – – 

Fair value at grant date ($ per option) 1.21 0.49 

The number and weighted average exercise prices of the Stock Options are as follows: 

 
Number of Stock 

Options (thousands) 

Weighted average 

exercise price 

Outstanding, January 1, 2020 2,193 $3.01 

Granted 559 1.13 

Forfeited/expired (848) 2.88 

Outstanding, December 31, 2020 1,904 $2.51 

Granted 868 2.33 

Exercised (482) 3.37 

Forfeited/expired (148) 2.85 

Outstanding, December 31, 2021 2,142 $2.22 

The range of exercise prices of the Stock Options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2021 

is as follows: 

 Stock Options outstanding Stock Options exercisable 

Range of exercise price 

Number 

outstanding 

(thousands) 

Weighted 

average 

exercise 

price 

Weighted 

average 

remaining 

contractual 

life (years) 

Number 

exercisable 

(thousands) 

Weighted 

average 

exercise 

price 

$    0.64 – 2.50 1,203 $1.75  3.8 186 $1.13 

$    2.51 – 2.81 659 $2.60  2.5 386 $2.60 

$    2.82 – 3.44 280 $3.37  0.1 280 $3.37 

$    0.64 – 3.44 2,142 $2.22 2.9 852 $2.53  

(c) RSUs: 

The PRSU Plan allows the Board of Directors to grant RSUs to officers, employees, consultants and 

non-employee directors of the Company or its subsidiaries. Each RSU entitles the holder to an award 

value to be paid as to one-third on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the date of grant. 

There were 2.2 million RSUs granted during the year ended December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 

– 2.0 million). 
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For the purpose of calculating stock-based compensation, the fair value of each RSU is determined at 

the grant date using the closing price of the Common Shares. On the date of exercise, the Company 

has the option of settling the RSU value in cash or in Common Shares of the Company. 

The following table summarizes information about the RSUs: 
 

 
Number of RSUs 

(thousands) 

Outstanding, January 1, 2020 6,987 

Granted 1,986 

Exercised (3,363) 

Forfeited (245) 

Outstanding, December 31, 2020 5,365 

Granted 2,186 

Exercised (2,724) 

Forfeited (123) 

Outstanding, December 31, 2021 4,704 

Exercisable, December 31, 2021 794 

 

(d) PSUs: 

The PRSU Plan allows the Board of Directors to grant PSU awards to officers, employees and 

consultants of the Company or its subsidiaries. Each PSU entitles the holder to an award value on the 

third anniversary of the date of grant multiplied by a payout multiplier ranging from 0 to 2.0 times. The 

payout multiplier for performance-based awards will be determined by the Board of Directors based on 

an assessment of the Company’s achievement of predefined corporate performance measures in 

respect of the applicable period. There were 2.9 million PSUs awarded during the year ended December 

31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 – 1.7 million). 

For the purpose of calculating stock-based compensation, the fair value of each award is determined at 

the grant date using the closing price of the Common Shares. On the date of exercise, the Company 

has the option of settling the PSU value in cash or in Common Shares of the Company. 

The following table summarizes information about the PSU awards: 

 
Number of PSU awards 

(thousands) 

Outstanding, January 1, 2020 2,157 

Awarded 1,657 

Forfeited (250) 

Outstanding, December 31, 2020 3,564 

Awarded 2,918 

Exercised (1,323) 

) Forfeited (285) 

Outstanding, December 31, 2021 4,874 

Earned, December 31, 2021 1,593 

Exercisable, December 31, 2021 – 
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21. Government assistance: 

As at December 31, 2021 the Company has recorded $5.2 million of combined ERF and MTIP funding, of 

which $1.1 million is repayable under the terms of the ERF agreement, related to the Company’s construction 

of a methane conservation program in the Nipisi field of Alberta.  The ERF agreement includes scheduled 

repayments for the repayable funding on March 31, 2025, March 31, 2026 and March 31, 2027 (see note 22).  

The Company has recorded $5.4 million of combined SRP and ASCP support payments received as a 

reduction to decommissioning obligations and recorded other income from the site rehabilitation program grant 

on the consolidated statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 

31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 - $1.4 million).  The Company has not received any CEWS payments and has 

not recognized any reduction to general and administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 

(December 31, 2020 - $1.3 million).   

22. Commitments: 

The following table summarizes the Company’s commitments as at December 31, 2021: 

($ thousands) 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026+ 

Bank debt(1)  – 477,437 – – – 

Lease(2) 328 347 347 261 – 

Government loan(3)  –  –  – 471 629 

Take or pay commitments(4) 4,023 3,894 – – – 

Processing commitments(5) 4,578 4,689 4,769 4,088 21,464 

Gas transportation(6) 4,876 3,590 313 11  – 

Capital commitments(7) 42,971 57,843 – – – 

Total 56,776 547,800 5,429 4,831 22,093 

(1) If not extended by May 31, 2022, the SLL Facility will cease to revolve and all outstanding balances will become repayable May 
31, 2023. 

(2) Relates to the variable operating costs, which are a non-lease component of the Company’s head office sublease and sublease 
expansion. The Tamarack head office sublease and sublease expansion expire on September 30, 2025. 

(3) Relates to the scheduled payments on the repayable government loan funding receivable from the government of Canada under 
the terms of the ERF agreement signed by the Company related to the Nipisi gas conservation program. 

(4) Pipeline commitments to deliver a minimum of 636 m3/d of crude oil/condensate and 455 m3/d of crude oil subject to a take-or-
pay provision of $9.00/m3 and $9.70/m3, respectively, escalating approximately 2% per annum. The terms started on January 1, 
2019 and last for 60 months. 

(5) Processing commitments to guarantee firm capacity in various facilities.  
(6) Gas transportation costs on long term firm contracts which are in various locations at variable rates.  
(7) Initial commitment of $200.0 million of capital to further develop the GORR Nipisi/Clearwater and Grande Prairie lands prior to 

December 31, 2023 of which $100.8 million is remaining to be incurred. 
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23. Contingency: 

During 2019, the Company was served with a Statement of Claim from two joint interest owners that hold 

minority interests in a Unit, which is majority owned and operated by the Company. The plaintiffs are seeking 

judgment in the amount of $56.0 million for unlawful conversion of their minority Unit interests (such amount 

based upon the alleged value of their minority Unit interests) or alternatively, judgment in the amount of $1.65 

million, representing the amounts allegedly owed by the Company plus punitive damages, interest and other 

costs. The minority Unit owners have also alleged the Company has breached its fiduciary duties owing to the 

minority Unit owners and that without the approval of the minority Unit owners, the Company has conducted 

operations within the Unit area and outside of the Unit area without the approval of the minority Unit owners.  

The Company has filed a Statement of Defence denying all material allegations of the minority Unit 

owners. The Company believes the claims are without merit and the amounts are unsubstantiated. Therefore, 

no provision for any amount has been recorded in these condensed consolidated interim financial statements.   

24. Subsequent events: 

a) Declaration of dividend: 

The Company’s Board of Directors declared  monthly cash dividends of $0.0083 per share on January 

13, 2022 and February 14, 2022. On February 15, 2022 the Company paid its inaugural monthly cash 

dividend to shareholders of record at the close of business on January 31, 2022, The Company’s 

dividend declared on February 14, 2022 is payable on March 15, 2022 to shareholders of record at the 

close of business on February 28, 2022.  These monthly cash dividends are designated as  “eligible 

dividends” for Canadian income tax purposes.  

b) Issuance of senior unsecured sustainability-linked notes: 

On February 10, 2022 the Company issued $200 million aggregate principal amount of 7.25% senior 

unsecured sustainability-linked notes due May 10, 2027 (the “Notes”).  The notes were offered through 

a private placement underwriting agreement entered into on February 2, 2022.  The Notes are issued 

at par under a trust indenture and are general unsecured obligations of Tamarack ranking pari passu 

with all of the Company’s existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness.  The Notes are being 

issued in accordance with the Company’s Sustainability-Linked Bond Framework which sets out certain 

sustainability performance targets on the Notes (“NSPTs”) including: 

o Greenhouse Gas Emissions Intensity: 39% reduction in Scope 1 and 2 emissions by 2025 over 

the 2020 baseline. 

o Indigenous Workforce Participation: target workforce representation of 6% or greater by 2025. 

The Company notes that failure to meet the NSPTs will result in an increase in the interest rate payable 

of 75 basis points for the Greenhouse Gas Emissions Intensity reduction target, and 25 basis points for 

the Indigenous Workforce Participation target from and including May 10, 2026. 

c) Acquisition of Crestwynd Exploration Ltd. 

On February 15, 2022 the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of 

Crestwynd Exploration Ltd. (“Crestwynd’) for total consideration of approximately $222.0 million. The 

assets acquired from Crestwynd included certain oil and natural gas properties in the Southern 

Clearwater area.  The acquisition was completed for total cash consideration of approximately $92.6 

million and the issuance of approximately 26.3 million common shares of the Company at the date of 

closing share price of $4.92 per common share.  Assets acquired in this transaction will be included in 

the Clearwater oil CGU. 
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